

NATIONAL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS SCHOOL OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS AND PHYSICAL SCIENCES

MULTILOOP FEYNMAN INTEGRALS FOR PRECISION CALCULATIONS IN QUANTUM CHROMODYNAMICS

DOCTORAL THESIS

NIKOLAOS I. SYRRAKOS BSc in Physics, NKUA

SUPERVISOR: K. PAPADOPOULOS Researcher A' NCSR «Demokritos»

SUPERVISOR:

N. TRACAS Professor Emeritus NTUA

ATHENS, March 2022



NATIONAL TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY OF ATHENS SCHOOL OF APPLIED MATHEMATICS AND PHYSICAL SCIENCES

MULTILOOP FEYNMAN INTEGRALS FOR PRECISION CALCULATIONS IN QUANTUM CHROMODYNAMICS

DOCTORAL THESIS

NIKOLAOS I. SYRRAKOS

BSc in Physics, NKUA

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

- K. PAPADOPOULOS, Researcher A' NCSR «Demokritos» (Supervisor)
- 2. N. TRACAS, Professor Emeritus NTUA (Supervisor)
- 3. K. PHILIPPIDES, Professor UOWM

EXAMINATION COMMITTEE

- K. PAPADOPOULOS, Researcher A' NCSR «Demokritos» (Supervisor)
- 2. G. KOYTSOUMBAS, Professor NTUA
- 3. K. PHILIPPIDES, Professor UOWM
- 4. A. KEHAGIAS, Professor NTUA
- 5. J. HENN, Professor Max Planck Institute for Physics
- 6. H. ITA, Professor University of Freiburg
- 7. P. MASTROLIA, Professor University of Padova

ATHENS, March 2022

Περίληψη

Στην παρούσα διατριβή παρουσιάζουμε τον αναλυτικό υπολογισμό ολκληρωμάτων Feynman πολλαπλών βρόχων, τα οποία συνεισφέρουν σε διάφορες $2 \rightarrow 2$ και $2 \rightarrow 3$ σωματιδιακές σκεδάσεις στα πλαίσια της Κβαντικής Χρωμοδυναμικής.

Στο πρώτο μέρος παρουσιάζουμε μια επισκόπηση των μεθόδων που χρησιμοποιούνται επί του παρόντος για τον αναλυτικό υπολογισμό ολοκληρωμάτων βρόχων καθώς και την επεξεργασία των ειδικών συναρτήσεων που εμφανίζονται στις λύσεις τους. Χρησιμοποιώντας Ολοκλήρωση-Κατά-Παράγοντες, μπορούμε να εκφράσουμε τα ολκληρώματα Feynman πολλαπλών βρόχων σε μια πεπερασμένη βάση ολοκληρωμάτων, τα οποία αποκαλούνται ολοκληρώματα βάσης. Στη συνέχεια διαμορφώνουμε ένα πλαίσιο για τον αναλυτικό υπολογισμό των ολοκληρωμάτων βάσης, το οποίο συνδυάζει την μέθοδο των Απλοποιημένων Διαφορικών Εξισώσεων με τη χρήση συγκεκριμένων ολοκληρωμάτων βάσης τα οποία ικανοποιούν κανονικές διαφορικές εξισώσεις. Για τον υπολογισμό των συνοριακών τιμών χρησιμοποιούμε την μέθοδο της επέκτασης-κατά-περιοχές.

Στο δεύτερο μέρος παρουσιάζουμε αποτελέσματα για συγκεκριμένα ολοκληρώματα βάσης ενός, δύο και τριών βρόχων. Αρχικά μελετούμε επίπεδα ολοκληρώματα βάσης τριών βρόχων που σχετίζονται με σκεδάσεις $2 \rightarrow 2$ όπου ένα εξωτερικό σωματίδιο φέρει μάζα. Τα αποτελέσματα αυτά συνεισφέρουν σε διορθώσεις τρίτης τάξης στα πλάτη σκέδασης για την διάσπαση ενός διανυσματικού μποζονίου σε τρία αδρονικά jet ή στην παραγωγή ενός μποζονίου Higgs με την διάσπαση $gg \rightarrow H + jet$. Στη συνέχεια παρουσιάζουμε αποτελέσματα σε επίπεδο ενός και δύο βρόχων για τη σκέδαση πέντε σωματιδίων όπου ένα εξωτερικό σωματίδια φέρει μάζα. Τα αποτελέσματα αυτά συνεισφέρουν στον υπολογισμό διορθώσεων δεύτερης τάξης για διαδικασίες όπως η παραγωγή W + 2 jets στον LHC. Τέλος, μελετούμε διαφορα ολοκληρώματα ενός βρόχου για σκέδαση πέντε σωματιδίων, τα οποία περιλαμβάνουν άμαζους διαδότες και έως τρία έμαζα εξωτερικά σωματίδια, καθώς και έναν έμαζο διαδότη και έως δύο έμαζα εξωτερικά σωματίδια.

Abstract

In this thesis we present analytic results for the calculation of multiloop Feynman integrals contributing to virtual corrections of various $2 \rightarrow 2$ and $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes in Quantum Chromodynamics.

The first part consists of an overview of the current methods and tools for the analytic computation of loop integrals and the manipulation of the special functions that appear in their results. Using Integration-By-Parts identities, one can reduce all multiloop Feynman integrals to a so-called finite basis of master integrals. We construct a computational framework for the analytic calculation of these master integrals, based on the Simplified Differential Equations approach, in conjunction with the ideas of working with a specific basis of master integrals that satisfies so-called canonical differential equations. The method of expansion-by-regions is employed for the determination of the necessary boundary terms.

In the second part we present results for specific one-, two- and three-loop master integrals. We first consider planar three-loop master integrals relevant to $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering with one external leg off-shell. These results contribute to the scattering amplitudes for a vector boson decaying to 3-jets or $gg \rightarrow H + jet$ in gluon fusion at Next-to-Next-to-Leading-Order (N3LO). Furthermore we present one- and two-loop results for five-point scattering with on off-shell leg that are relevant to NNLO corrections to scattering processes such as W + 2 jets production at the LHC. Finally we study several one-loop five-point master integrals involving massless propagators and up to three off-shell legs and one massive propagator with up to two off-shell legs.

Contents

Pr	Prolegomenon			
Ι	Theoretical overview	7		
1 Precision calculations in Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD) 1.1 Elements of Quantum Field Theory 1.2 The QCD Lagrangian and Feynman rules 1.3 Perturbative QCD		8 8 9 11		
2	Master integrals 2.1 Integral families 2.2 Integration-by-parts identities 2.3 Parametric representations 2.3.1 Feynman parameter representation 2.3.2 Baikov representation	13 13 14 15 15 16		
3	Analytical calculation of master integrals 3.1 Differential equations for master integrals 3.2 Special functions 3.2.1 Definitions 3.2.2 Basic properties 3.2.3 The shuffle algebra 3.3 Simplified differential equations approach 3.4 Expansion by regions 3.5 Computational framework 3.5.1 Simplified differential equations in canonical form 3.5.3 Scale reduction	20 20 22 23 23 24 26 27 27 27 29		
4	A pedagogical example: two-loop planar master integrals 4.1 Canonical basis and DE 4.2 Boundary terms and solution 4.3 From massive to massless 4.4 Comparison with the standard approach	31 35 38 40		
II	Results	41		
5	Planar three-loop master integrals for the ladder-box topology 5.1 Introduction	$42 \\ 42$		

	5.2	General set up				
		5.2.1 Integral families				
		5.2.2 Scattering kinematics				
	5.3	Canonical differential equations				
		5.3.1 Boundary terms 45				
	5.4	Massless three-loop ladder-box 47				
	0.1	5.4.1 The $x \to 1$ limit 47				
		5.4.2 From massive to massless 48				
		5.1.2 Prominassive to massless three-loop ladder-box 49				
	55	Bogulta 50				
	0.0	$551 \qquad \text{Analytic continuation} \qquad 50$				
		5.5.2 Validation 51				
		$5.5.2 \text{valuation} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $				
6	Pen	tagon integrals to arbitrary order in the dimensional regulator 53				
	6.1	Introduction				
	6.2	Construction of a pure basis 54				
	63	Regults 56				
	6.4	Maglog pontagon family 58				
	0.4 6 5	Numerical checks				
	0.0	Numerical checks				
	0.0	Conclusions				
7	Two	-loop planar Penta-Box master integrals with one massive leg 60				
1	71	Introduction 60				
	7.1	Integral families and kinematics 61				
	7.2	Canonical basis and Differential Equations 62				
	7.0	Boundary conditions and analytic expressions				
	7.4	Numerical Results and Validation 66				
	7.0 7.6	Conclusions and outlook				
	1.0					
8	Two-loop non-planar Hexa-Box master integrals with one massive leg 70					
	8.1	Introduction				
	8.2	Hexabox integral families				
	0	8.2.1 Pure bases and simplified canonical differential equations 72				
	83	Boundary terms				
	8.4	Integral representation 77				
	85	Conclusions 70				
	0.0					
9	Mu	ltiscale pentagon integrals involving internal masses 81				
	9.1	Introduction				
	9.2	Notation and kinematics 83				
	9. <u>2</u>	Differential equations and pure solutions 84				
	5.0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.31 \text{Families } C \in C \mid H \\ \end{array} $				
		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				
		9.5.2 The alphabet in \mathcal{L}				
		9.5.5 Families D, F				
	0.4	9.5.4 On the choice of integral families				
	9.4	Validation				
	9.5	Explicit results at weight three				
		9.5.1 Top sector of family C				
		9.5.2 Top sector of family H				
	9.6	Conclusions				

Epilogue	97
Acknowledgements	98
Bibliography	99

Prolegomenon

What is the world made of? This question has puzzled the mind of humans since the days of ancient Greek philosophers. As centuries went on, the answer to this question was refined several times, as our species reached a deeper understanding of Nature.

Our current knowledge of Nature at its most fundamental level is encoded in the mathematical structure of the Standard Model (SM) of Particle Physics. One part of this theory comprises our best understanding of electromagnetic interactions at the quantum level, described by Quantum Electrodynamics (QED), which can be unified with the description of the weak interactions into the electroweak theory. The second part of the SM provides a theoretical description for the strong interactions, given by Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD). The theories of electroweak interactions and QCD are formulated in the mathematical language of Quantum Field Theory (QFT), a framework which has allowed us to produce the most precise description of a physical phenomenon, the magnetic moment of the electron [1]–[3].

The discovery of the Higgs boson at the LHC [4], [5] solidified the mathematical consistency of the SM of Particle Physics as our best fundamental description of Nature. And yet there are still open questions that make us think that the SM is not the final answer to the initial question about the nature of the world. The discovery of neutrino masses, the postulation by astronomers and cosmologists of the existence of a new kind of matter, called *Dark Matter* in lieu of a more accurate name that specifies its constituents, are only some of the many indications that there might be physics beyond the SM.

However, experimental data coming from powerful colliders, such as the LHC, have so far shed no light in these open questions. In the absence of any clear signals for physics beyond the SM, a detailed study of the properties of the Higgs boson, along with a scrutinization of key SM processes have spearheaded the endeavour to advance our understanding of Particle Physics [6].

From a theory perspective, precision studies in collider physics means using current methods and tools, as well as developing new ones, in order to provide predictions for the outcome of particle collisions that take place in high energy accelerator experiments. This thesis is devoted to a very specific part of this endeavour, more specifically to the study and computation of the mathematical objects that we will later identify as *Feynman integrals*.

More specifically, in the first part of this thesis we will give an overview of the theoretical methods, tools and ideas that allow us to produce precise theoretical predictions for scattering processes studied at the LHC. In the second part we will present results stemming from original research concerning the so-called virtual corrections at Next-to-Next-to Leading Order (NNLO) and N3LO for various $2 \rightarrow 2$ and $2 \rightarrow 3$ processes.

Although the level of mathematical sophistication of our answer to the question about the structure of our physical world has increased over the years, physics is not mathematics. The ultimate goal of a physicist is to explain the world¹ and all calculations presented in this thesis are made with a mind to contribute to this noble endeavour.

¹ To Explain the World, the Discovery of Modern Science (2015), Steven Weinberg, Harper/HarperCollins Publishers.

Part I

Theoretical overview

Chapter 1

Precision calculations in Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD)

1.1 Elements of Quantum Field Theory

Over the course of the twentieth century, collider physics emerged as a powerful approach for the discovery of particles that exist in nature and the study of their properties and interactions. Particle colliders provide a controlled environment for the study of fundamental interactions, since they begin with initial states of fixed momenta and end up with final states with fixed momenta as well. The measurement of the mapping from initial state momenta to final state momenta is then compared to predictions coming from theoretical models formulated within the framework of Quantum Field Theoy (QFT)¹.

QFT is the result of combining Quantum Mechanics with Special Relativity. Each QFT is usually characterised by a Lagrangian density \mathcal{L} , which is a polynomial of the fundamental quantum fields $\phi_i(x)$ and their derivatives. One of the main reasons for using Lagrangian densities, is that they are manifestly Lorentz invariant. The dynamics of a QFT is determined by the principle of least action, with the action being the integral of the Lagrangian density over the four-dimensional space-time

$$S = \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \ \mathcal{L}[\phi_i(x)]. \tag{1.1}$$

In Quantum Mechanics, the experimental measurable quantities that one can predict are differential probabilities, given by the modulus squared of inner products of states in a Hilbert space. Since QFT is by construction based on Quantum Mechanics, the experimental quantities we can predict are of the form

$$|\langle f|\mathcal{S}|i\rangle|^2. \tag{1.2}$$

The inner product $\langle f | \mathcal{S} | i \rangle$ is known as the Scattering or S-matrix and contains all the information about how the initial and final states evolve with time. S-matrix elements are the main objects of interest in collider physics and QFT provides us with the necessary tools to compute them.

In the absence of any interactions, i.e. when considering a free theory, the S-matrix is simply the identity matrix 1. When interactions are present we have

$$\mathcal{S} = \mathbb{1} + i\mathcal{T} \tag{1.3}$$

with \mathcal{T} known as the *transfer matrix*, encoding all deviations from the free theory. The transfer matrix is defined as

$$\langle f | \mathcal{T} | i \rangle = (2\pi)^4 \delta^4 (\Sigma p) \langle f | \mathcal{M} | i \rangle$$
(1.4)

¹There is a plethora of QFT textbooks. We refer the interested reader to [7]–[10].

where $\langle f | \mathcal{M} | i \rangle$ is what we usually mean by *matrix elements*, and $\Sigma p = \Sigma p_i^{\mu} - \Sigma p_f^{\mu}$. At the end of the day one finds that the S-matrix elements are related to the total cross-section of the scattering process as

$$\sigma \propto \int d\Pi_{LIPS} |\mathcal{M}_{fi}|^2 \tag{1.5}$$

where $d\Pi_{LIPS}$ is the Lorentz-invariant phase space and $|\mathcal{M}_{fi}|^2 = |\langle f| \mathcal{M} |i\rangle|^2$. \mathcal{M}_{fi} is also referred to as scattering amplitude.

The complexity of the scattering amplitudes is such that their exact analytic calculation is an insurmountable task for most theories. The only viable approach is through perturbation theory, where the scattering amplitudes are written as an expansion in Feynman diagrams. Given the Lagrangian density of a theory, one can obtain in a systematic way a set of mathematical rules, known as Feynman rules, which *translate* each diagram into a mathematical formula. As one considers scattering processes of higher multiplicity, i.e. involving the interaction of many particles, and/or higher orders in the perturbative expansion, the corresponding Feynman diagrams become significantly more involved.

In what follows we will focus on a specific QFT, the one that describes the strong interactions. Its name is Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD).

1.2 The QCD Lagrangian and Feynman rules

The fundamental principle of QCD is that hadronic matter is made of quarks². Two of the most known hadrons are the proton and neutron. The dynamics of the strong interaction that is responsible for binding the protons and neutrons that form the nucleus of atoms is encoded in the mathematical structure of the QCD Lagrangian density. The strong force is mediated through the interaction of quarks and gluons, the latter being the bosonic force carriers of the strong force. Quarks are spin-1/2 particles and through experiments we know that they exist in at least six different kinds, the so-called flavours, namely: up (u), down (d), strange (s), charm (c), bottom (b) and top (t).

The QCD Lagrangian density can be written as a sum of three terms

$$\mathcal{L}_{QCD} = \mathcal{L}_{classic} + \mathcal{L}_{gauge-fix} + \mathcal{L}_{ghost}.$$
 (1.6)

The first term encodes the dynamics of quarks and reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{classic} = \sum_{f} \bar{\psi}_{f,i} \left(i \mathcal{D}_{ij} - m_f \delta_{ij} \right) \psi_{f,j} - \frac{1}{4} F^a_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu,a}$$
(1.7)

where f is the flavour index, i, j are the colour indices in the fundamental representation and a, b are the ones in the adjoint representation. The quark fields are represented as $\psi_{f,i}$ and the covariant derivative is given by

$$D^{\mu}_{ij} = \partial^{\mu}_{ij} \delta_{ij} - ig_s A^{ij}_a t^a_{ij}.$$

$$\tag{1.8}$$

The gluons are represented as A_a^{ij} and the matrices t_{ij}^a are the generators of the fundamental representation of SU(N), with N = 3 the number of colours. The generators t_{ij}^a fulfil the algebra

$$[t^a, t^b] = i f^{abc} t^c \tag{1.9}$$

²Here we provide a schematic overview of QCD. We refer the interested reader to [11], [12] for a thorough discussion of QCD in the context of collider physics.

where f^{abc} are the structure constants. The coupling strength of quarks to gluons is represented by the coupling constant g_s . The final term in (1.7) contains the gluonic field tensor

$$F^{a}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A^{a}_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A^{a}_{\mu} + g_{s}f_{abc}A^{b}_{\mu}A^{c}_{\nu}.$$
 (1.10)

The last two terms in (1.6) are required in order to be able to perform perturbation theory. The gauge fixing term reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{gauge-fix} = \frac{1}{2\xi} \left(\partial_{\mu} A^{\mu}_{a} \right)^{2} \tag{1.11}$$

and is needed in order to define the propagator for the gluon field. The parameter ξ is arbitrary and is needed to specify the gauge in a covariant way. The so-called Feynman gauge $\xi = 1$ is a typical choice and the one that we will use in this thesis. Physical results are of course independent of the specific value of ξ . In a non-Abelian theory such as QCD this gauge-fixing term must be supplemented by a ghost Lagrangian density which is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{ghost} = \left(\partial_{\mu}\chi_{a}^{*}\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\delta_{ab} - g_{s}f_{abc}A_{c}^{\mu}\right)\chi_{b}.$$
(1.12)

The ghost fields χ_a are scalar fields which obey fermionic anticommutation relations. The ghost fields cancel unphysical degrees of freedom which would otherwise propagate in covariant gauges.

Eqs. (1.7), (1.11), (1.12) are sufficient to derive the Feynman rules of QCD. In the following we will use straight lines for quarks, curly lines for gluons and dashed lines for ghosts. Taking all momenta to be incoming for the vertices and using the Feynman slash-notation, i.e. $\not = p^{\mu}\gamma_{\mu}$, with γ_{μ} being the Dirac gamma matrices satisfying the anticommutation relations $\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2g^{\mu\nu}$, we have





In addition to these rules, one needs to introduce symmetry factors to avoid overcounting diagrams, as well as properly treat loop diagrams using the following rules:

- 1. Each internal loop momentum k must be integrated over, with the integral measure being $\int d^d k / (2\pi)^d$, where d is the number of space-time dimensions.
- 2. Every fermionic loop comes with a factor of (-1).

As can be seen, every vertex comes with its own power of the quark-gluon coupling g_s . This allows for each Feynman diagram constructed using these rules to be classified in terms of the total number of powers of the coupling constant. As this number increases, diagrams containing one or more closed loops can be drawn, which can be *translated* to the so-called *Feynman integrals*, which are the main object of interest in this thesis. A problematic feature of these integrals is that they often exhibit UV and IR divergences in d = 4 space-time dimensions. The proper way to regulate these divergences is through *dimensional regularisation* [13]–[15], working in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions, where poles in the dimensional regulator ϵ represent these UV and IR divergences.

1.3 Perturbative QCD

As we mentioned earlier, in most QFT's the only viable method of calculating S-matrix elements is through perturbation theory. Having the Feynman rules as a starting point, one can translate diagramatic expansion in the perturbative series into specific mathematical objects. This approach yields a power tool for the production of precise phenomenological predictions, if the coupling constant of the theory under consideration is small enough at the energy level that is being studied.

In the case of QCD, the property of *asymptotic freedom* [16]–[20] states that the strong coupling constant

$$a_s = \frac{g_s^2}{4\pi} \tag{1.13}$$

where g_s is the quark-gluon coupling, decreases with the increase of energy. This means that quarks interact weakly at high energies, which allows us to use perturbative methods in QCD for the study of hadrons at high energy colliders, such as the LHC.

Comparing QCD perturbative calculations with experimental data is a non-trivial task, however the *factorisation theorem* [21] permits us to separate it into two stages:

• The hard scattering, described by perturbative QCD.

• The *hadronisation*, which requires different methods that go beyond the scope of this thesis.

At the level of the cross-section for the collision of two initial hadrons h_1 , h_2 resulting in the production of some final state X, we have

$$d\sigma_{h_1h_2 \to X} = \sum_{a,b=q,\bar{q},g} \int_{x_{1,\min}}^{1} dx_1 \int_{x_{2,\min}}^{1} dx_2 \ \mathcal{F}_{a/h_1}\left(x_1,\mu^2\right) \mathcal{F}_{b/h_2}\left(x_2,\mu^2\right) \hat{\sigma}_{ab \to X}\left(\mu^2\right)$$
(1.14)

where $\mathcal{F}_{a/h_1}(x_1, \mu^2)$ and $\mathcal{F}_{b/h_2}(x_2, \mu^2)$ are the Parton Distribution Functions, $\hat{\sigma}_{ab\to X}$ is the hard scattering cross-section, and μ^2 is the factorization scale. The total cross-section for the production of the final state X in perturbative QCD, $\hat{\sigma}(X) = \hat{\sigma}_{h_1h_2\to X}$ can be expanded in powers of a_s . Normalising to the number of powers of a_s of the born cross-section, we can write

$$\hat{\sigma}(X) = \hat{\sigma}(X)_{LO} + \left(\frac{a_s}{2\pi}\right)\hat{\sigma}(X)_{NLO} + \left(\frac{a_s}{2\pi}\right)^2\hat{\sigma}(X)_{NNLO} + \left(\frac{a_s}{2\pi}\right)^3\hat{\sigma}(X)_{NNNLO} + \dots \quad (1.15)$$

where LO stands for Leading order, NLO stands for Next-to-Leading order, NNLO stands for Next-to-Next-to-Leading order, etc.

Calculation of corrections up to NLO have reached a high level of maturity and have been automated in public tools [22], [23]. Since most of the calculations presented in this thesis concern NNLO corrections we will briefly discuss the various contributions that they receive. More specifically we have:

- 1. Virtual corrections, which include 2-loop Feynman diagrams.
- 2. *Mixed real-virtual corrections*, which include 1-loop Feynman diagrams with an extra particle which can become unresolved.
- 3. *Double-real corrections*, which include tree-level Feynman diagrams with two extra particles which can become unresolved.

Each of these contributions is individually divergent, with the divergences cancelling in the sum (after renormalization for the UV and IR divergences) leaving behind a finite result for the cross-section.

Chapter 2

Master integrals

The material presented in this chapter is based on reviews such as [6], [24], [25].

2.1 Integral families

The modern approach of thinking about the calculation of Feynman integrals (FI) which are required in the computation of a scattering amplitude, is through the notion of an *integral family*.

If we consider a scattering process involving N external particles in d space-time dimensions, then, assuming momentum conservation, only E = min(N - 1, d) external particles will be linearly independent. We can associate to this process the following integral with L loops in d dimensions with propagator powers ν_i

$$G(\nu_1, \dots, \nu_n) = \int \prod_{l=1}^{L} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_l}{i\pi^{d/2}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{D_j^{\nu_j}(\{k\}, \{p\}, m_j^2)}$$
(2.1)

where the propagators $D_j(\{k\}, \{p\}, m_j^2)$ depend on the loop momenta k_l , the linearly independent momenta $\{p_1, \ldots, p_E\}$ and, when present, on the propagator masses m_j^2 . We work on the framework of dimensional regularisation with $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$, to regulate both ultraviolet and infrared divergences. This implies that the singularities in four dimensions manifest in the form of $1/\epsilon$ -terms to some power.

For various values of propagator powers ν_j , we see that (2.1) defines a set of integrals. We define as an *integral family* the set of integrals $G(\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_n)$ which contains all integrals with propagator configurations such that any scalar product of a loop momentum with another loop momentum or with an external momentum can be expressed as a linear combination of inverse propagators contained in the same family. A scalar integral of an integral family with no loop-momentum dependence in the numerator corresponds to $\nu_j \geq 0$ for all j. In general, the integrals of an integral family are linearly dependent and form a vector space. Therefore one can find a basis of integrals in terms of which all integrals of the integral family can be expressed. This process is known as a *reduction to master integrals*. Finding a convenient basis of master integrals is of great importance for their efficient calculation.

For an N-point integral family with L loops, the number n of genuinely different scalar products of the type $k_i \cdot k_j$ and $k_i \cdot p_j$ is given by

$$n = \frac{L(L+1)}{2} + L \cdot E$$
 (2.2)

The first term comes from contracting the loop momenta with themselves, and the second one comes from contracting the loop momenta with the external momenta. A useful way of organising the integrals of a family is through the use of integral sectors. A sector is defined as a set of t propagators of an integral family. The number of different t-propagator sectors is $\binom{n}{t}$ and therefor in principle $\sum_{t=0}^{n} \binom{n}{t} = 2^{n}$ sectors are contained in an integral family, however many of them will be zero or related by symmetries.

To every t-propagator sector with propagator denominators D_{j_1}, \ldots, D_{j_t} we can define a set of integrals with different propagator powers by

$$I(t,r,s) = \int \prod_{l=1}^{L} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{d}k_{l}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{D_{j_{t+1}}^{S_{1}} \dots D_{j_{n}}^{S_{n-t}}}{D_{j_{1}}^{r_{1}} \dots D_{j_{t}}^{r_{t}}}$$
(2.3)

with integer exponents $r_i \ge 1$ and $s_i \ge 0$. This allows us to characterise an integral of the family by then numbers t, r, s and the indices $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\} = \{r_1, \ldots, r_t, -s_1, \ldots, -s_{n-t}\}$, where $r = \sum_{i=1}^{t} r_i$ and $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n-t} s_i$. Positive ν_i denote powers of *regular* propagators, i.e. propagators in the denominator, negative ν_i denote powers of inverse propagators, i.e. they form non-trivial numerators, and $v\nu_i = 0$ means the absence of a propagator. The numbers t, r, s can be calculated from the vector $\vec{\nu}$, so they are redundant once $\vec{\nu}$ is given.

For a t-propagator sector of an n-propagator integral family, the number of integrals that can be built for certain values of r and s is given by

$$N(n,t,r,s) = \binom{r-1}{t-1} \binom{s+n-t-1}{n-t-1}$$
(2.4)

The two binomial factors count all possible ways to arrange the exponents of the propagators in the denominator and numerator respectively. The integral with r = t and s = 0 of some sector is called the *corner* integral of this sector.

From (2.2) we can see that all topologies with a number of propagators $n_p > n$ are reducible, i.e. scalar products in the numerator can be expressed through linear combinations of propagators of the same integral. For L = 1 one can show that the only irreducible numerators are of the type $k_i \cdot n$, where n_j denotes directions transverse to the hyperplane spanned by the physical external momenta. These terms however vanish after integration over the loop momenta (in integer dimensions). Starting from two loops, genuine irreducible numerators can occur, the so-called *irreducible scalar products* or isp's.

2.2 Integration-by-parts identities

It can be shown that for dimensionaly regulated FI, the integral over a total derivative is zero [26]. If I is the integrand of an integral of the form (2.1), taking derivatives as follows

$$\prod_{l=1}^{L} \mathrm{d}^{d} k_{l} \frac{\partial}{\partial k_{i}^{\mu}} \left[u^{\mu} I(\vec{\nu}) \right] = 0$$
(2.5)

leads to identities between different integrals, the so-called *integration-by-parts* (IBP) identities. The term u^{μ} can be a loop- or external momentum which can be chosen conveniently, for example such that propagators with powers $\nu_i > 1$ (known as *propagators with dots*) do not occur. If there are L loop momenta and E independent external momenta, one can therefore build L(L + E) equations from one integral.

The system of IBP identities is in general over-constrained, such that most of the integrals can be expressed as linear combinations of a small subset of integrals, the so-called master integrals (MI). Another set of identities that also provide relations among integrals are the Lorentz-invariance identities of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{E} \left(p_i^{\nu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i\,\mu}} - p_i^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i\,\nu}} \right) G(\vec{\nu}) = 0.$$
(2.6)

Thees relations are redundant, but can help convergence in solving the linear system.

The choice of MI is not unique. A convenient choice of the basis can make a huge difference in the calculation of integrals of a certain complexity. Further it is important to take symmetries into account as well as shifts of the loop momenta that do not change the kinematic variables.

In complicated cases, an order relation among the integrals has to be introduced to be able to solve the system for a set of MI. For example, an integral T_1 is considered to be smaller than an integral T_2 , if T_1 can be obtained from T_2 by omitting some of the propagators. Within the same topology, the integrals can be ordered according to the powers of their propagators.

The first systematic approach of IBP reduction has been formulated by Laporta [27] and is known as *Laporta's algorithm*. Several packages exist that automate *Laporta's algorithm*, such as FIRE [28], KIRA [29], AZURITE [30], REDUZE [31], just to mention some of the currently most used publicly available tools, as well as several private codes.

2.3 Parametric representations

The are several representations of Feynman integrals. Other than the one in momentum space (2.1), the most widely used are the *Feynman parameter representation* and the *Baikov representation*. The main advantage of these parametric representations over the one in momentum space is that the integrations involve only scalar objects in Minkowski space.

2.3.1 Feynman parameter representation

Starting from (2.1) one can use Schwinger's trick

$$\frac{1}{D_j^{\nu_j}} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\nu_j)} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\alpha_j \ \alpha_j^{\nu_j - 1} \mathrm{e}^{-\alpha D_j}$$
(2.7)

for $D_i > 0$, $\operatorname{Re}(\nu_i) > 0$, to prove that

$$\prod_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{D_{j}^{\nu_{j}}} = \Gamma(\nu) \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left[\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}x_{j} \, \frac{x_{j}^{\nu_{j}-1}}{\Gamma(\nu_{j})} \right] \, \delta\left(1 - \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{j}\right) \frac{1}{\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{j} D_{j}\right)^{\nu}} \tag{2.8}$$

with $\nu = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \nu_j$ and x_i are the so-called *Feynman parameters*. Furthermore $\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j D_j$ is a quadratic form in the loop momenta k_l ,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j D_j = \sum_{j,l=1}^{L} k_j \cdot k_l M_{jl} - 2 \sum_{j=1}^{L} k_j \cdot Q_j + J + i\delta$$
(2.9)

where $k_j \cdot k_l$ denotes the scalar product of two *d*-dimensional Lorentz vectors. We can perform a shift in the loop momenta $k_j = l_j + M_{ij}^{-1}Q_l$ and after defining

$$\mathcal{U} = \det(M) \quad , \quad \mathcal{F} = \det(M) \left[\sum_{i,j=1}^{L} Q_i M_{ij}^{-1} Q_j - J - i\delta \right]$$
(2.10)

we can arrive at

$$G(\nu_1, \dots, \nu_n) = \Gamma\left(\nu - \frac{Ld}{2}\right) \prod_{j=1}^n \left[\int_0^\infty dx_j \, \frac{x_j^{\nu_j - 1}}{\Gamma(\nu_j)}\right] \delta\left(1 - \sum_{j=1}^n x_j\right) \frac{\mathcal{U}^{\nu - (L+1)d/2}}{\mathcal{F}^{\nu - Ld/2}}.$$
 (2.11)

The polynomials \mathcal{U} , \mathcal{F} are known as *first and second Symanzik polynomials* and also admit a graph-theoretic interpretation. The Cheng - Wu theorem [32] states that the same formula (2.11) holds even when the delta function

$$\delta\left(1-\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j\right) \tag{2.12}$$

includes only a subset of $x_j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

2.3.2 Baikov representation

The essence of the Baikov representation of Feynman integrals is that we change the integration variables from the loop momenta to the propagators.

Every inverse Feynman propagator D_a in (2.1) can be written as follows

$$D_a = P_a^2 - M_a^2, \quad a = 1, \dots, n$$
(2.13)

with P_a being a linear combination of loop and external momenta and M_a the internal masses.

Defining $q_i = k_i$, i = 1, ..., L as the loop momenta, $q_{L+i} = p_i$, i = 1, ..., E as the independent external momenta and M = L + E, $s_{ij} = q_i \cdot q_j^{-1}$, allows us to write the propagators D_a in the form

$$D_{a} = \sum_{i=1}^{L} \sum_{j=i}^{M} A_{a}^{ij} s_{ij} + f_{a}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{L} \sum_{j=i}^{L} A_{a}^{ij} k_{i} \cdot k_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{L} \sum_{j=L+1}^{M} A_{a}^{ij} k_{i} \cdot p_{j-L} + f_{a}$$
(2.14)

where f_a is a function depending on external kinematics and internal masses, A_a^{ij} is a matrix loosely associated with the topology of the graph with elements taken from the set $\{-2, -1, 0, 1, 2\}$ and $a = 1, \ldots, n$. We may view A_a^{ij} as an $n \times n$ matrix [33]. This allows us to solve (2.14) for s_{ij}

$$s_{ij} = \sum_{a=1}^{n} A^a_{ij} \left(D_a - f_a \right)$$
(2.15)

with $A_{ij}^a = (A_a^{ij})^{-1}$.

Now that we have set the stage, we will try at first to change the integration variables of (2.1) from the loop momenta k_i^{μ} to the scalar products s_{ij} . In order to do so, we start from k_1^{μ} and write it in the form

$$k_1^{\mu} = k_{1\parallel}^{\mu} + k_{1\perp}^{\mu} \tag{2.16}$$

where $k_{1\parallel}^{\mu}$ is the projection of k_{1}^{μ} on the hyper-plane spanned by the (M-1) momenta $\{k_{2}^{\mu}, \ldots, k_{L}^{\mu}, p_{1}, \ldots, p_{E}^{\mu}\}$, and $k_{1\perp}^{\mu}$ is the transverse component to the above mentioned hyperplane. We apply this procedure to all loop momenta. For k_{2}^{μ} for example we write

$$k_2^{\mu} = k_{2\parallel}^{\mu} + k_{2\perp}^{\mu} \tag{2.17}$$

with $k_{2\parallel}^{\mu}$, as in the case of $k_{1\parallel}^{\mu}$, being the projection of k_{2}^{μ} on the hyper-plane spanned by $\{k_{3}^{\mu}, \ldots, k_{L}^{\mu}, p_{1}, \ldots, p_{E}^{\mu}\}$ (M-2 components). This procedure allows us to write the integration measure as follows,

$$d^{d}k_{1}\dots d^{d}k_{L} = d^{M-1}k_{1\parallel} d^{d-M+1}k_{1\perp}\dots d^{M-L}k_{L\parallel} d^{d-M+L}k_{L\perp}$$
(2.18)

¹This definition of s_{ij} differs from the rest of the thesis. In later chapters we will use the notation $s_{ij} = (p_i + p_j)^2$, with p_i being the external momenta.

As a first step, we will make the following change of variables starting from k_1^{μ} ,

$$d^{M-1}k_{1\parallel} \to ds_{12} \, ds_{13} \dots ds_{1M} \tag{2.19}$$

Under such a change of integration variables, the measure of integration transforms as follows,

$$d^{M-1}k_{1\parallel} = \det\left(\frac{\partial k_{1\parallel}^{\mu}}{\partial s_{1j}}\right) ds_{12} ds_{13} \dots ds_{1M}$$

$$(2.20)$$

To proceed we make the following definitions

$$\zeta_j = k_l \cdot q_j, \ l = 1, 2, \dots, \ j = l + 1, \dots, M \text{ and since } k_l^{\mu} = k_{l\parallel}^{\mu} + k_{l\perp}^{\mu}$$
 (2.21)

$$k_l \cdot q_j = k_{l\parallel} \cdot q_j + k_{l\perp} \cdot q_j = k_{l\parallel} \cdot q_j = \zeta_j \tag{2.22}$$

From $\zeta_j = k_l \cdot q_j$ we have for k_1^{μ}

$$\zeta_j = k_1 \cdot q_j = s_{1j} = k_1 \, || \, \cdot q_j \tag{2.23}$$

We may also write $k_{l\,\parallel}^{\mu} = a_i q_i^{\mu}$ so we have

$$k_{l\parallel} \cdot q_j = a_i q_i \cdot q_j = a_i s_{ij} = \zeta_j \tag{2.24}$$

therefore

$$a_i = \zeta_j s_{ij}^{-1} \tag{2.25}$$

Finally we can write $k^{\mu}_{1\,\parallel}$ as

$$k_{1\parallel}^{\mu} = \sum_{i} a_{i} q_{i}^{\mu} = \sum_{i,j} \zeta_{j} s_{ij}^{-1} q_{i}^{\mu} = s_{1j} s_{ij}^{-1} q_{i}^{\mu}, \quad i, j = 2, \dots, M$$
(2.26)

Following these manipulations, the Jacobian can take the form

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial k_{1\parallel}^{\mu}}{\partial s_{1j}}\right) = \det\left(s_{ij}^{-1}q_{i}^{\mu}\right) = \det(s_{ij})^{-1}\det\left(q_{i}^{\mu}\right)$$
(2.27)

To continue notice that by definition, the Gram determinant is $|\mathbb{G}(q_1, \ldots, q_n)| = \det(q_i \cdot q_j)$, therefore for $i, j = 2, \ldots, M$

$$\det(s_{ij}) = \det(q_i \cdot q_j) = |\mathbb{G}(q_2, \dots, q_M)|$$
(2.28)

and we can also have

$$\left[\det\left(q_{i}^{\mu}\right)\right]^{2} = \det\left(q_{i}^{\mu}\right)\det\left(q_{i\,\mu}\right) = \det\left(q_{i}^{\mu}q_{i\,\mu}\right) = |\mathbb{G}|$$

$$(2.29)$$

which leads to

$$\det(q_i^{\mu}) = |\mathbb{G}(q_2, \dots, q_M)|^{1/2}$$
(2.30)

Using (2.30), the Jacobian (2.27) can take the form

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial k_{1\parallel}^{\mu}}{\partial s_{1j}}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\mathbb{G}(q_2,\ldots,q_M)|}}$$
(2.31)

Applying the above procedure to the rest of the $k_{i\,\parallel}$ yields

$$\mathbf{d}^{M-1}k_{1\parallel} = \frac{\mathbf{d}s_{12}, \mathbf{d}s_{13}, \dots, \mathbf{d}s_{1M}}{|\mathbb{G}(k_2, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|^{1/2}}$$

$$d^{M-2}k_{2\parallel} = \frac{ds_{23}, ds_{24}, \dots, ds_{2M}}{|\mathbb{G}(k_3, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|^{1/2}}$$
(2.32)

$$d^{M-L}k_{L\parallel} = \frac{ds_{LL+1}, \dots, ds_{LM}}{|\mathbb{G}(p_1, \dots, p_E)|^{1/2}}$$
(2.33)

For $k_{i\perp}$ we change into spherical coordinates and integrate over the angular part

÷

$$d^{n}k_{i\perp} = \frac{1}{2}\Omega_{n} k_{i\perp}^{n-2} dk_{i\perp}^{2}, \quad \Omega_{n} = \frac{2\pi^{n/2}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2})}$$
(2.34)

which allows us to write s_{ii} as follows

$$s_{ii} = k_i^2 = k_{i\parallel}^2 + k_{i\perp}^2 \to \mathrm{d}k_{i\perp}^2 = \mathrm{d}s_{ii}$$
 (2.35)

This holds because $k_{l\parallel}^{\mu} = s_{lj} s_{ij}^{-1} q_i^{\mu}$ and therefore

$$k_{l\parallel}^{2} = s_{lj} s_{ij}^{-1} q_{i}^{\mu} s_{lm} s_{nm}^{-1} q_{n,\mu}$$

= $s_{lj} s_{ij}^{-1} s_{lm} s_{nm}^{-1} s_{in} = s_{lj} s_{ij}^{-1} s_{lm} s_{nm}^{-1} \delta_{im}$
= $s_{lj} s_{ij}^{-1} s_{li}$ (2.36)

Then we can write $k_{1\perp}$ as follows

$$k_{1\perp} = \sqrt{s_{11} - k_{1\parallel}^2} = \sqrt{s_{11} - s_{1i}s_{ij}^{-1}s_{1j}}, \quad i, j = 2, \dots, M$$
(2.37)

Using the definition for the determinant of block matrices, we can write for the ratio of the following Gram determinants

$$\frac{|\mathbb{G}(k_1, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|}{|\mathbb{G}(k_2, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|} = \frac{\det\begin{pmatrix} s_{11} & s_{1j} \\ s_{1j} & s_{ij} \end{pmatrix}}{\det(s_{ij})}$$
$$= \frac{\det(s_{ij}) \det(s_{11} - s_{1i}s_{ij}^{-1}s_{1j})}{\det(s_{ij})}$$
$$= s_{11} - s_{1i}s_{ij}^{-1}s_{1j} \qquad (2.38)$$

For the last step we used the fact that the determinant of a number is equal to the number itself. Putting everything together leads to

$$k_{1\perp} = \sqrt{\frac{|\mathbb{G}(k_1, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|}{|\mathbb{G}(k_2, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|}}$$
(2.39)

(]] (] 1)

This allows us to write the integral measure $d^n k_{1\perp}$ as follows

$$d^{d-M+1}k_{1\perp} = \frac{1}{2}\Omega_{d-M+1} \left(\frac{|\mathbb{G}(k_1, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|}{|\mathbb{G}(k_2, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)|} \right)^{\frac{(d-M+1)}{2}} ds_{11}$$
(2.40)

Applying the above procedure to the rest of $k_{i\perp}$ and replacing the resulting $d^n k_{i\perp}$ and $d^n k_{i\parallel}$ all Gram determinants except $|\mathbb{G}(k_1, \ldots, k_L, p_1, \ldots, p_E)|$ and $|\mathbb{G}(p_1, \ldots, p_E)|$ cancel, yielding

$$G(\nu_1, \dots, \nu_n) = \frac{\pi^{-\frac{L(L-1)}{4} - \frac{LE}{2}}}{\prod_{i=1}^{L} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-M+i}{2}\right)} \left[|\mathbb{G}(p_1, \dots, p_E)| \right]^{\frac{-d+E+1}{2}}$$

$$\times \int \prod_{i=1}^{L} \prod_{j=1}^{M} \mathrm{d}s_{ij} \frac{\left[|\mathbb{G}(k_1, \dots, k_L, p_1, \dots, p_E)| \right]^{\frac{d-M-1}{2}}}{D_1^{\nu_1} \dots D_n^{\nu_n}}$$
(2.41)

Now change integration variables from s_{ij} to $x_a = D_a$ (baikov variables). Because of (2.15), the Jacobian of this transformation will be det (A^a_{ij}) , which leads to the Baikov representation of Feynman Integrals:

$$G(\nu_1, \dots, \nu_n) = C_n^L \left[|\mathbb{G}(p_1, \dots, p_E)| \right]^{\frac{-d+E+1}{2}} \times \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x_1 \dots \mathrm{d}x_n}{x_1^{a_1} \dots x_n^{\nu_n}} \left[\mathcal{P}_n^L(x_1 - f_1, \dots, x_n - f_n) \right]^{\frac{d-M-1}{2}}$$
(2.42)

with

$$C_{n}^{L} = \frac{\pi^{-\frac{L(L-1)}{4} - \frac{LE}{2}}}{\prod_{i=1}^{L} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-M+i}{2}\right)} \det\left(A_{ij}^{a}\right)$$
(2.43)

and

$$\mathcal{P}_{n}^{L}(x_{1} - f_{1}, \dots, x_{n} - f_{n}) = |\mathbb{G}(k_{1}, \dots, k_{L}, p_{1}, \dots, p_{E})|$$
(2.44)

is the Baikov polynomial. Notice that in the rhs of (2.44) we impose (2.15) and we take $s_{ij} = s_{ji}$. The integration region is defined so that

$$\mathcal{P}_{n}^{L}(x_{1} - f_{1}, \dots, x_{n} - f_{n}) \ge 0$$
 (2.45)

which practically means that the Baikov polynomial vanishes at the boundaries.

Chapter 3

Analytical calculation of master integrals

In principle one can use the parametric representation of a MI and proceed to perform all the necessary integrations analytically. However, as the number of loops and kinematic scales of the MI increases, so does their mathematical complexity. In the last decade the established method to obtain analytical results for MI is the method of *Differential Equations* (DE) [34]–[37]. In this chapter we will give an introduction to this method, focusing on a variant called *Simplified Differential Equations approach* (SDE) [38]. We will also build a computational framework that will allow us to obtain in a systematic way analytical results for the integral families that will be considered in the second part of this thesis. Dedicated reviews on the method of differential equations can be found in [39], [40].

3.1 Differential equations for master integrals

The basic idea of the method of DE is to have a basis of MI, obtained after IBP reduction of a given family of FI, and then taking derivatives of each MI with respect to kinematic invariants and/or masses. The result of the differentiation is given in terms of FI of the same integral family. Then one applies IBP reduction again, thus relating the derivatives of MI to MI of the same integral family. This procedure leads to a system of linear differential equations for the MI which can be solved when appropriate boundary terms are provided.

More specifically, consider an integral family $F(\vec{\nu})$ and its basis of MI, which we will denote as $\mathbf{G}(\vec{\nu})$. The dependence on the kinematics is given by invariants formed by external momenta such as p_i^2 , $(p_i + p_j)^2 = s_{ij}$, and masses. To obtain DE with respect to these invariants, one can use the following formulas [41],

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial (p_i \cdot p_j)} \mathbf{G}(\vec{\nu}) = \sum \left[\mathbb{G}^{-1} \right]_{kj} p_k \cdot \partial_{p_i} \mathbf{G}(\vec{\nu})$$
(3.1)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial (p_i^2)} \mathbf{G}(\vec{\nu}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum \left[\mathbb{G}^{-1} \right]_{ki} p_k \cdot \partial_{p_i} \mathbf{G}(\vec{\nu})$$
(3.2)

where $\mathbb{G} = \{p_i \cdot p_j\}$ is a Gram matrix. After IBP reduction the right-hand side is expressed in terms of MI. The resulting system of DE can be written in the following form,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s_{ij}} \mathbf{G} = \mathbf{A} \Big(\epsilon, \{ s_{ij} \} \Big) \mathbf{G}$$
(3.3)

In general, the matrix \mathbf{A} can be very complicated. In 2013 a remarkable observation was made [42] that has since revolutionised the field of multiloop calculations. The main idea is that one can look for a set of MI that can be expressed in terms of functions that exhibit certain special properties upon differentiation.

In order to properly discuss these function we must introduce the concept of the *degree of* transcendentality $\mathcal{T}(f)$ of a function f [42]. $\mathcal{T}(f)$ is defined as the number of iterated integrals needed to define the function f, e.g. $\mathcal{T}(\log) = 1, \mathcal{T}(Li_n) = n$, where Li_n is the classical polylogarithm, defined as

$$Li_{n}(x) = \int_{0}^{x} \frac{Li_{n-1}(t)}{t} \,\mathrm{d}t$$
(3.4)

Further properties of transcendental functions are

$$\mathcal{T}(f_1 \cdot f_2) = \mathcal{T}(f_1) + \mathcal{T}(f_2) \tag{3.5}$$

$$\mathcal{T}(\zeta(n)) = \mathcal{T}(\pi^n) = n \tag{3.6}$$

$$\mathcal{T}(r) = 0, \text{ for rational } r$$
 (3.7)

The MI which will be of interest to us will be expressed in terms of uniformly transcendental (UT) functions. A function f which is expressed as a sum of terms is called UT when all summands have the same degree of transcendentality. Finally, we will call a function *pure*, if its degree of transcendentality is lowered by taking a derivative, i.e. $\mathcal{T}(df) = \mathcal{T}(f) - 1$. This last property implies that the coefficient of a pure function cannot be anything more than a rational number, otherwise upon differentiation it would contribute additional terms which would have greater degree of transcendentality than the remaining terms.

MI whose leading singularity is constant tend to be pure and UT [43]. Later we will have more to say about how to go looking for such special MI, but for now let us assume that we have such a basis. Their DE will be of *dlog* form, meaning that the integrand will be written as a logarithmic differential form. What this practically means is that if we start with a basis **G** of MI and based in them, start looking for a *good* basis of MI, **g**, we are essentially looking for a transformation matrix **T**, which will take us from basis **G** to basis **g**.

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G} \tag{3.8}$$

Assuming now that basis **G** satisfies the DE (3.3), the new basis **g** will satisfy the DE

$$d\mathbf{g} = \epsilon \sum_{a} \mathbf{B}_{a} d\log \left(W_{a}(s_{ij}) \right) \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \tilde{\mathbf{B}}$$
(3.9)

This is the celebrated *dlog* form of the DE. The functions W_a are called *letters* and they form the *alphabet* associated with the DE. The DE in (3.9) is also known as a *canonical* DE and the basis **g** that satisfies it is known as a *canonical or pure basis* of MI.

The matrices \mathbf{A} , \mathbf{B} in (3.3) and (3.9) respectively, are connected through the transformation matrix \mathbf{T} from (3.8) in the following way,

$$\partial_{s_{ij}} \mathbf{g} = \partial_{s_{ij}} (\mathbf{T}\mathbf{G}) = \partial_{s_{ij}} (\mathbf{T})\mathbf{G} + \mathbf{T}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{G}$$

= $\partial_{s_{ij}} (\mathbf{T})\mathbf{T}^{-1}\mathbf{g} + \mathbf{T}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{T}^{-1}\mathbf{g}$
= $[\partial_{s_{ij}} (\mathbf{T})\mathbf{T}^{-1} + \mathbf{T}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{T}^{-1}]\mathbf{g}$
= $\tilde{\mathbf{B}}\mathbf{g}$ (3.10)

Notice the difference in the structure of \mathbf{A} , \mathbf{B} when comparing (3.3) and (3.9). First of all, the ϵ -dependence is fully factorised in the canonical DE. Next, all kinematic dependence is included in the functions W_a , the letters of the alphabet, leaving the matrices \mathbf{B}_a , known as *residue matrices*. to consist solely of rational numbers.

In this canonical form, the system of DE can be iterated order by order in ϵ , with suitably chosen boundary conditions. If this a canonical DE can be reached using only rational transformations, then the letters are of the form $W_a = \chi - \chi_a$, where χ can be any of the kinematic variables and χ_a are the locations of the singularities in the kinematic invariants. In general the letters can also be algebraic functions of the kinematic invariants, e.g. they can include square roots. This complicates significantly their analytic integration, although several methods have been developed to deal with this issue. The mathematical structure of the set of letters, i.e. the alphabet, characterises the function class the solution can belong to. If the alphabet can be written in terms of rational functions, one can write the solution of the canonical DE in terms of a special class of functions known as *Multiple or Goncharov polylogarithms* (GPLs) [44]–[47]. These functions will play a major role in the results presented in the second part of this thesis, therefore the following section is devoted to their introduction and review of several of their important properties.

3.2 Special functions

GPLs appear in the results of many calculations in perturbative Quantum Field Theory. More specifically, they have been known to form part of the space of functions that arise in the solution of several FI. In this section we will show that GPLs are generalisations of the logarithm and the classical polylogarithm (3.4) and we will review several of their properties which will be of use in the calculations presented in the the second part of this thesis.

3.2.1 Definitions

Like classical polylogarithms, GPLs can be defined recursively for $n \ge 0$ via the iterated integral

$$\mathcal{G}(a_1,\ldots,a_n;z) = \int_0^z \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t-a_1} \mathcal{G}(a_2,\ldots,a_n;z)$$
(3.11)

with $\mathcal{G}(z) = \mathcal{G}(z) = 1$, $a_i \in \mathbb{C}$ are constants and z is a complex variable. In the special case where all a_i 's are zero, we define

$$\mathcal{G}(\vec{0}_n; z) = \frac{1}{n!} \log^n(z) \tag{3.12}$$

The vector $\vec{a}_n = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ is called the vector of singularities of the GPL and the number of elements n is called the weight of the GPL. Working in dimensional regularisation, we will need to obtain results in terms of GPLs up to weight 2l for an l-loop amplitude. In general, it is not known if GPLs are transcendental, but we will assume that they are.

The definitions (3.11) and (3.12) show that GPLs contain the ordinary logarithm and the classical polylogarithm as special cases,

$$\mathcal{G}(\vec{a}_n; z) = \frac{1}{n!} \log^n \left(1 - \frac{z}{a} \right)$$
(3.13)

$$\mathcal{G}(\vec{0}_{n-1}, 1; z) = -Li_n(z) \tag{3.14}$$

GPLs are part of the more general family of iterated integrals. The notation used in the mathematics literature is slightly different than the one used by physicists. In mathematics an iterated integral is defined as,

$$\mathcal{I}(a_0; a_1, \dots, a_n; a_{n+1}) = \int_{a_0}^{a_{n+1}} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t - a_n} \mathcal{I}(a_0; a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}; t)$$
(3.15)

and $\mathcal{I}(a_0;;a_1) = 1$. The functions defined in (3.11) and those of (3.15) are related by

$$\mathcal{G}(a_n, \dots, a_1; a_{n+1}) = \mathcal{I}(0; a_1, \dots, a_n; a_{n+1})$$
(3.16)

Notice however the reversal of the arguments in the vector of singularities on the GPL.

3.2.2 Basic properties

From the integral representation (3.11) of GPLs, we can see that $\mathcal{G}(a_1, \ldots, a_n; z)$ is divergent whenever $z = a_1$. Similarly $\mathcal{G}(a_1, \ldots, a_n; z)$ is analytic at z = 0 whenever $a_n \neq 0$.

If we consider the a_i 's to be constant, then the GPLs have branch cuts in the complex z plane at most extending from $z = a_i$ to $z = \infty$. If the a_i 's are allowed to vary, the branch cut structure becomes much more complicated. Some specific examples are the following:

- 1. $\mathcal{G}(\vec{a}_n; z) = \frac{1}{n!} \log^n \left(1 \frac{z}{a}\right)$ has a simple branch cut in the complex z plane, extending from z = a to $z = \infty$.
- 2. $\mathcal{G}(0,1;z) = -Li_2(z)$ has a branch cut extending in the complex z plane from z = 1 to $z = \infty$. The branch cut starting at z = 0 is absent in this case.

If the rightmost index a_n of \vec{a} is non-zero, then the function $\mathcal{G}(\vec{a}; z)$ is invariant under a rescaling of all its arguments, i.e. for any $k \in \mathbb{C}^*$ we have

$$\mathcal{G}(k\vec{a};kz) = \mathcal{G}(\vec{a};z), \quad a_n \neq 0 \tag{3.17}$$

GPLs also satisfy the Hölder convolution, i.e. whenever $a_1 \neq 1$ and $a_n \neq 0$, we have, $\forall p \in \mathbb{C}^*$

$$\mathcal{G}(a_1, \dots, a_n; 1) = \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \mathcal{G}(1 - a_k, \dots, 1 - a_1; 1 - 1/p) \\ \times \mathcal{G}(a_{k+1}, \dots, a_n; 1/p)$$
(3.18)

In the limiting case where $p \to \infty$, this identity becomes

$$\mathcal{G}(a_1, \dots, a_n; 1) = (-1)^n \mathcal{G}(1 - a_n, \dots, 1 - a_1; 1)$$
(3.19)

Relations of the above kind are called functional equations.

3.2.3 The shuffle algebra

An important property of all iterated integrals thus of GPLs too, is that the product of two GPLs defined with the same integration limits can be written as a linear combination of GPLs. We may generalise this and see that the product of GPLs with weights n_1 and n_2 can always be written as a sum of GPLs with weight $n_1 + n_2$,

$$\mathcal{G}(a_1, \dots, a_{n_1}; z) \mathcal{G}(a_{n_1+1}, \dots, a_{n_1+n_2}; z) = \sum_{\sigma \in \sum (n_1, n_2)} \mathcal{G}(a_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, a_{\sigma(n_1+n_2)}; z)$$
(3.20)

where $\sum (n_1, n_2)$ denotes the set of all shuffles of $n_1 + n_2$ elements. This property turns the set of all GPLs into a *shuffle algebra*, i.e. a vector space equipped with the shuffle multiplication. The shuffle product preserves the weight of the GPLs and in this case the algebra is graded.

If $a_n = 0$ in $\mathcal{G}(a_1, \ldots, a_n; z)$ we may use the shuffle algebra to rewrite $\mathcal{G}(a_1, \ldots, a_n; z)$ in terms of functions whose rightmost index of the vector of singularities is non-zero. E.g., for $a \neq 0$

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{G}(a,0,0;z) &= \mathcal{G}(a;z)\mathcal{G}(0,0;z) - \mathcal{G}(0,a,0;z) - \mathcal{G}(0,0,a;z) \\
&= \mathcal{G}(0,0;z)\mathcal{G}(a;z) - \mathcal{G}(0,0,a;z) - \left[\mathcal{G}(0,a;z)\mathcal{G}(0;z) - 2\mathcal{G}(0,0,a;z)\right] \\
&= \mathcal{G}(0,0;z)\mathcal{G}(a;z) + \mathcal{G}(0,0,a;z) - \mathcal{G}(0,a;z)\mathcal{G}(0;z)
\end{aligned}$$
(3.21)

3.3 Simplified differential equations approach

In this section we will introduce a variant of the DE method, known as the *Simplified Differential Equations approach* (SDE). The SDE approach [38] is an attempt to simplify and systemize, as much as possible, the derivation of the appropriate system of DE satisfied by the MI.

Any l-loop integral can be written in the following form

$$G_{a_1,\dots,a_n}(\{p_j\},\epsilon) = \int \left(\prod_{r=1}^l \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_r}{i\pi^{d/2}}\right) \frac{1}{D_1^{a_1}\dots D_n^{a_n}}, \quad D_i = (c_{ij}k_j + d_{ij}p_j)^2, \quad d = 4 - 2\epsilon \quad (3.22)$$

with matrices $\{c_{ij}\}\$ and $\{d_{ij}\}\$ determined by the topology and the momentum flow of the graph, and the denominators are defined in such a way that all scalar product invariants can be written as a linear combination of them. The exponents a_i are integers and may be negative in order to accommodate irreducible numerators. Through the use of (IBP) identities, any integral of the above form can be written as a linear combination of a finite subset of MI, with coefficients depending on the independent scalar products, $s_{ij} = p_i \cdot p_j$, and space-time dimension d.

In the SDE approach the external incoming momenta are parametrized linearly in terms of x as $p_i(x) = p_i + (1-x)q_i$, where the q_i 's are a linear combination of the momenta $\{p_i\}$ such that $\sum_i q_i = 0$. If $p_i^2 = 0$, the parameter x captures the off-shell-ness of the external leg. The FI are now dependent on x through the external momenta:

$$G_{a_1,\dots,a_n}(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon;x) = \int \left(\prod_{r=1}^l \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_r}{i\pi^{d/2}}\right) \frac{1}{D_1^{a_1}\dots D_n^{a_n}}, \quad D_i = (c_{ij}k_j + d_{ij}p_j(x))^2$$
(3.23)

By introducing the dimensionless parameter x, the array of MI, $\mathbf{G}(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x)$, which now depends on x, satisfies

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\mathbf{G}(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon;x) = \mathbf{M}(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon;x)\mathbf{G}(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon;x)$$
(3.24)

a system of differential equations in one independent variable, where **M** is a matrix whose elements are rational functions of the kinematics $\{s_{ij} \equiv p_i \cdot p_j\}$, of x and of ϵ . The expected benefit of this approach is that the integration of the DE naturally captures the expressibility of MI in terms of GPLs and more importantly make the problem *independent of the number of kinematic scales* (independent invariants) involved. Note that as $x \to 1$, the original configuration of the loop integrals (3.22) is reproduced, which corresponds to a simpler one with one scale less.

The form (3.24) is such that MI with m denominators only depend on MI with at most m denominators. This structure of the DE makes it possible to first solve the MI with $m_0 + 1$ denominators, then those with $m_0 + 2$ denominators and so forth. In other words, in practice the DE may be solved in a *bottom* - up approach.

Let's consider the DE for a single MI. Assume that all MI with $m' \leq m$ denominators are known and already expressed in the desired form, the meaning of which will become clear below. The DE of MI with m + 1 denominators can be written schematically in the form:

$$\partial_x G_{m+1} = H(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x) G_{m+1} + \sum_{m' \ge m_0}^m R(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x) G_{m'}$$
(3.25)

i.e. the sum of a homogeneous and an inhomogeneous term. The functions H and R are rational functions of their arguments. Equation (3.25) can be solved with the variation of constants method by introducing the integrating factor $S(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x)$, which satisfies the differential equation $\partial_x S = -SH$ (dropping the arguments of the functions for brevity):

$$\partial_x \left(SG_{m+1} \right) = S \sum_{m' \ge m_0}^m R(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x) G_{m'}$$
(3.26)

Equation (3.26) could now be straightforwardly expanded in ϵ and integrated, provided that the right-hand side is free of singularities at $x \to 0$. If any such singularities are present, we need to determine the re summed part of the solution in this limit.

The right-hand side of (3.26) can be rewritten schematically as a sum of a singular and a regular term at x = 0:

$$S\sum_{m'\geq m_0}^m R(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon;x)G_{m'} = \sum_i x^{-1+\beta_i\epsilon} \tilde{I}_{sin}^{(i)}(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon) + \tilde{I}_{reg}(\{s_{ij}\},\epsilon,x)$$
(3.27)

with β_i being typically rational numbers. The singular term is integrated exactly and the solution of (3.26) becomes:

$$SG_{m+1} = C(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon) + \sum_{i} \frac{x^{\beta_i \epsilon}}{\beta_i \epsilon} \tilde{I}_{sin}^{(i)}(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon) + \int_0^x \mathrm{d}x' \tilde{I}_{reg}(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon, x')$$
(3.28)

where the first term $C(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon)$ is a constant in x but may be dependent on the kinematical invariants. The rightmost term in (3.28) is safely expanded in ϵ and expressed in terms of GPLs. To this end, the integrating factors S in (3.26) should be rational functions of x in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$. This is a sufficient condition for the chosen x-parametrization to result in a differential equation solvable in terms of GPLs.

An important feature of the SDE approach is that in many cases the *boundary terms* are naturally captured by the integrated singularities in the DE (3.28) themselves at x = 0, which is precisely the lower integration boundary of the GPLs. Simply put the integrated singular terms in (3.28) correctly describe the behaviour of SG_{m+1} as $x \to 0$ and thus the constant $C(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon)$ vanishes. Due to this fact, the SDE approach is well suited for directly and efficiently expressing the MI in terms of GPLs without the need for an independent evaluation of the MI at the boundary x = 0.

For the original MI G_{m+1} , the resummed part is defined as follows:

$$G_{m+1,res} = \frac{1}{S} \sum_{i} \frac{x^{\beta_i \epsilon}}{\beta_i \epsilon} \tilde{I}_{sin}^{(i)}(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon)$$
(3.29)

The integrand of the remaining integral in (3.28) is regular at the boundary x = 0. After expanding in ϵ and performing partial fraction decomposition in x, the integral is directly expressible in term of GPLs. Note that the integration boundary in (3.28) was chosen to be x = 0 precisely in order to directly express the integrals in terms of GPLs. If another boundary point $x = x_0$ is chosen, the integrals in (3.28) result in slightly more complicated expressions made of differences of GPLs. The SDE approach therefore directly expresses the MI in terms of a well defined functional basis of GPLs, *independently of the number of kinematic scales involved*.

When the DE are coupled, the homogeneous factor \mathbf{H} is a *matrix* and \mathbf{G}_{m+1} is a *vector* in (3.25). For all cases considered so far, proceeding in the same way as in the uncoupled case, the diagonal elements are used to determine the integrating factor matrix, namely the diagonal matrix \mathbf{S}_D satisfying $\partial_x \mathbf{S}_D = -\mathbf{S}_D \mathbf{H}_D$, where \mathbf{H}_D is the diagonal part of \mathbf{H} . The homogeneous matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{H}} \equiv \mathbf{S}_D (\mathbf{H} - \mathbf{H}_D) \mathbf{S}_D^{-1}$ of the reduced system of DE is then *strictly*

The homogeneous matrix $\mathbf{H} \equiv \mathbf{S}_D(\mathbf{H} - \mathbf{H}_D)\mathbf{S}_D^{-1}$ of the reduced system of DE is then *strictly* triangular matrix at order ϵ^0 and the system becomes effectively uncoupled, and may be easily integrated order by order in ϵ . Furthermore, singularities at x = 0 in the inhomogeneous terms

are integrated to determine the re-summed part of the solutions in exactly the same way as in the uncoupled DE case.

In order to illustrate the above procedure for couples DE, let us consider the following example. Let us assume that we have a system of two coupled DE for the vector $\mathbf{G}_{m+i} = (G_{m+1}, G_{m+2})$,

$$\partial_x \mathbf{G}_{m+i} = \mathbf{H}(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x) \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \sum_{m' \ge m_0}^m R(\{s_{ij}\}, \epsilon; x) G_{m'}$$

with the matrix \mathbf{H} being $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{H}_D + \mathbf{H}_{ND}$, where \mathbf{H}_D and \mathbf{H}_{ND} are its diagonal and non-diagonal parts respectively. The integrating factor \mathbf{S}_D is defined through \mathbf{H}_D as follows

$$\partial_x \mathbf{S}_D = -\mathbf{S}_D \mathbf{H}_D$$

Introducing \mathbf{S}_D in the DE results to

$$\partial_{x} (\mathbf{S}_{D} \mathbf{G}_{m+i}) = \partial_{x} (\mathbf{S}_{D}) \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \mathbf{S}_{D} (\partial_{x} \mathbf{G}_{m+i})$$

$$= -\mathbf{S}_{D} \mathbf{H}_{D} \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \mathbf{S}_{D} (\mathbf{H} \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \sum_{m' \ge m_{0}}^{m} R \ G_{m'})$$

$$= -\mathbf{S}_{D} \mathbf{H}_{D} \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \mathbf{S}_{D} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \mathbf{S}_{D} \sum_{m' \ge m_{0}}^{m} R \ G_{m'}$$

$$= \mathbf{S}_{D} (\mathbf{H} - \mathbf{H}_{D}) \mathbf{G}_{m+i} + \mathbf{S}_{D} \sum_{m' \ge m_{0}}^{m} R \ G_{m'}$$

$$= \left[\mathbf{S}_{D} (\mathbf{H} - \mathbf{H}_{D}) \mathbf{S}_{D}^{-1} \right] (\mathbf{S}_{D} \mathbf{G}_{m+i}) + \mathbf{S}_{D} \sum_{m' \ge m_{0}}^{m} R \ G_{m'}$$

$$= \tilde{\mathbf{H}} (\mathbf{S}_{D} \mathbf{G}_{m+i}) + \mathbf{S}_{D} \sum_{m' \ge m_{0}}^{m} R \ G_{m'}$$

as expected from the above discussion.

3.4 Expansion by regions

The main method for obtaining boundary terms for the solution of DE that we will use is that of expansion by regions [48]–[51]. Here we give a brief description of the method, which can be used in its own right to compute Feynman integrals.

FI can be considered as functions depending on kinematic invariants and masses. If these variables differ in scale, then one can expand a FI in rations of large and small parameters. As a result, the integral is written as a series of simpler quantities than the original integral itself and it can be substituted by a sufficiently large number of terms of such an expansion. This is the essence of the method known as expansion by regions.

In the momentum representation of loop integrals the main steps of this method are:

- 1. Divide the space of the loop momenta into various regions and, in every region, expand the integrand in a Taylor series with respect to the parameters that are considered small there.
- 2. Integrate the integrand, expanded in the appropriate way in every region, over the whole integration domain of the loop momenta.

3. Set to zero any scaleless integral.

A geometric approach of this method was first introduced in [52]. In general it is more convenient to reveal all relevant regions and construct an algorithmic approach when one applies expansion by regions to the Feynman parameter representation (2.11) of a FI. Public implementations are available in [51], [53].

3.5 Computational framework

So far we have introduced the method of DE for the analytic computation of MI. In addition we saw that by using a pure basis of MI we can obtain a canonical DE whose form allows for a straightforward solution in terms of GPLs, a special class of iterated integrals, in the case where the alphabet of the canonical DE can be written in terms of rational functions of the kinematic invariants. We have also introduced the SDE approach which greatly simplifies the derivation of the DE satisfied by the chosen basis of MI. Also we saw that the method of expansion by regions can be utilised to provide boundary terms for the SDE approach in a straightforward manner.

In this section we will combine all the ideas and methods mentioned above and formulate a framework which will allow us to solve several multiscale-multiloop integral families, the results of which are presented in the second part of this thesis.

3.5.1 Simplified differential equations in canonical form

We will start with the assumption that we already have obtained a pure basis of MI. Then we proceed by introducing an x-parametrization and using the SDE approach we derive a canonical DE with respect to x. In the case where all letters of the alphabet are rational in x the canonical DE will be of the form

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{i=1}^{l_{max}} \frac{\mathbf{M}_i}{x - l_i} \right) \mathbf{g}$$
(3.30)

where **g** is the pure basis, \mathbf{M}_i are the residue matrices corresponding to each letter l_i and l_{max} is the length of the alphabet. Notice here that we follow a definition for the letters which is different than the standard notation. As we saw previously, the d log form of a system of canonical DE is given as

$$d\mathbf{g} = \epsilon \sum_{a} \mathbf{B}_{a} d\log \left(W_{a}(s_{ij}) \right) \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \tilde{\mathbf{B}} \mathbf{g}$$

where the letters $W_a(s_{ij})$ are rational or algebraic functions of the independent kinematic variables. The standard d log form is equivalent to (3.30) for $W_a = x - l_a$. The kinematic dependence is entirely contained within the letters l_i , leaving the residue matrices \mathbf{M}_i to be solely constructed by rational numbers.

3.5.2 Boundary terms

In order to solve (3.30) we need to provide boundary terms. As discussed earlier, in the SDE approach we choose as boundary terms the asymptotic behaviour of the MI as $x \to 0$ in order to obtain a straightforward representation of the solution in terms of GPLs. Since we are using a pure basis of MI, we need to obtain the $x \to 0$ limit of each basis element.

To do so, we first exploit the canonical DE, which in the limit $x \to 0$ takes the form

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \frac{1}{x} \mathbf{M}_1 \, \mathbf{g}_0 + \mathcal{O}(x^0) \tag{3.31}$$

where \mathbf{M}_1 is the residue matrix for the letter $l_1 = 0$. The solution of (3.31) is of the form

$$\mathbf{g}_0 = \mathbf{S} \, \mathrm{e}^{\epsilon \mathbf{D} \log(x)} \, \mathbf{S}^{-1} \, \mathbf{b} \tag{3.32}$$

where the matrices \mathbf{S} , \mathbf{D} are obtained through the Jordan decomposition of \mathbf{M}_1 ,

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = \mathbf{S}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{S}^{-1} \tag{3.33}$$

and $\mathbf{b} = \sum_{i=0}^{k} \epsilon^{i} b_{0}^{(i)}$ are the boundary constants we need to compute. With this information at hand, we define the *resummation* matrix **R** as follows

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{S} e^{\epsilon \mathbf{D} \log(x)} \mathbf{S}^{-1}.$$
(3.34)

The naming *resummation* matrix for **R** comes from the fact that when acting on **b**, it should correctly describe the $\log(x)$ dependence of each basis element.

On the other hand, through IBP reduction, the elements of the canonical basis can be related to a set of FI \mathbf{G} ,

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G}.\tag{3.35}$$

Furthermore using the expansion by regions method as implemented in the **asy** code which is shipped along with **FIESTA4**, we can obtain information for the asymptotic behaviour of the Feynman integrals in terms of which we express the pure basis of Master integrals (3.35) in the limit $x \to 0$,

$$G_i \mathop{=}\limits_{x \to 0} \sum_j x^{b_j + a_j \epsilon} G_i^{(b_j + a_j \epsilon)}$$
(3.36)

where a_j and b_j are integers and G_i are the individual members of the basis **G** of Feynman integrals in (3.35). Combining equations (3.32) and (3.35) yields

$$\mathbf{Rb} = \lim_{x \to 0} \mathbf{TG} \Big|_{\mathcal{O}\left(x^{0+a_j\epsilon}\right)}$$
(3.37)

where the right-hand side implies that, apart from the terms $x^{a_i\epsilon}$ coming from (3.36), we expand around x = 0, keeping only terms of order x^0 . Equation (3.37) allows us to determine all boundary constants **b**.

More specifically, in the case where **D** in (3.33) is non-diagonal, we will get logarithmic terms in x on the left-hand side of (3.37), in the form $x^{a_j\epsilon} \log(x)$. Since no such terms appear on the right-hand side of (3.37), a set of linear relations between elements of the array **b** are obtained by setting the coefficient of $x^{a_j\epsilon} \log(x)$ terms to zero. Furthermore, powers of $x^{a_j\epsilon}$ that appear only on the left-hand side can also yield linear relations among elements of **b**, by setting their coefficients to zero. We shall call these two sets of relations *pure*, since they are linear relations among elements of **b** with rational numbers as coefficients. These pure relations account for the determination of a significant part of the two components of the boundary array. Finally for the undetermined elements of **b**, several regions usually need to be calculated coming from (3.36), although as we will see later, in certain cases the pure relations can be enough to determine all boundary constants. The $b_0^{(i)}$ terms, with *i* indicating the corresponding weight, consist of Zeta functions $\zeta(i)$, logarithms and GPLs of weight *i* which have as arguments rational functions of the underline kinematic variables but not of *x*.

The above described method is general and straightforward to apply in all cases where a pure basis is obtained. In practice however, one usually exploits known results for integral sectors which have already been computed before and are available in the literature. The solution of (3.30) after determining all boundary terms can be written up to weight four in the following compact form,

$$\mathbf{g} = \epsilon^0 \mathbf{b}_0^{(0)} + \epsilon \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_a \mathbf{M}_a \mathbf{b}_0^{(0)} + \mathbf{b}_0^{(1)}\right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{2} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{3} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{4} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abcd} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{M}_{d} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right)$$

$$+ \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(4)} \right)$$

$$(3.38)$$

were $\mathcal{G}_{ab...} := \mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \ldots; x)$ represent the GPLs. Our results are presented in such a way that each coefficient of ϵ^k has transcendental weight k. If we assign weight -1 to ϵ , then (3.38) has uniform weight zero. Extending this solution to higher weights is trivial, assuming one has obtained the relevant boundary terms up to the desired weight.

3.5.3 Scale reduction

As it was noted previously, the introduction of the x-parameterisation effectively captures the off-shellness of one external particle. By taking the limit $x \to 1$ we can obtain the solution to a family of FI with one scale less.

Assuming that we have an integral family with m external massive particles whose solution we have expressed in the form of (3.38), we can obtain the solution for a family with m-1external masses through the $x \to 1$ limit of the former.

Firstly, we will exploit the shuffle properties of GPLs to write solution (3.38) as an expansion in terms of $\log(1-x)$ as follows

$$\mathbf{g} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \epsilon^n \sum_{i=0}^n \frac{1}{i!} \mathbf{c}_i^{(n)} \log^i (1-x)$$
(3.39)

with all $\mathbf{c}_i^{(n)}$ being finite in the limit $x \to 1$. The next step is to define the regular part of (3.39) at x = 1

$$\mathbf{g}_{reg} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \epsilon^n \mathbf{c}_0^{(n)} \tag{3.40}$$

and after setting x = 1 explicitly in (3.40) we may define the truncated part of (3.39),

$$\mathbf{g}_{trunc} = \mathbf{g}_{reg}(x=1) \tag{3.41}$$

Having done that, we utilise the residue matrix that corresponds to the letter {1}, \mathbf{M}_2 , and define the *resummation matrix* $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ as follows

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = \tilde{\mathbf{S}} e^{\epsilon \tilde{\mathbf{D}} \log(1-x)} \tilde{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}$$
(3.42)

were $\tilde{\mathbf{S}}, \tilde{\mathbf{D}}$ are constructed through the Jordan decomposition of \mathbf{M}_2 , i.e. $\mathbf{M}_2 = \tilde{\mathbf{S}}\tilde{\mathbf{D}}\tilde{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}$. The resummation matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ has terms of $(1 - x)^{a_i \epsilon}$, with a_i being the eigenvalues of \mathbf{M}_2 . After setting all terms $(1 - x)^{a_i \epsilon}$ equal to zero, we define the purely numerical matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$. Obtaining the $x \to 1$ limit of (3.38) amounts to acting with $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ on (3.41)

$$\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \mathbf{R}_0 \mathbf{g}_{trunc} \tag{3.43}$$

Up to now we have calculated the $x \to 1$ limit of the basis of MI **g** which fully characterises the integral family with m external massive legs. This special limit however should give us the solution for the integral family with m - 1 external masses. In general when considering an integral family with m-1 scales we anticipate that it will have fewer MI than the one with m scales. Therefore, if the integral family with m external masses, denoted as \mathbf{g}_m , has N_m MI, then \mathbf{g}_{m-1} is expected to have N_{m-1} MI, with $N_m > N_{m-1}$.

In order to determine which of the N_m integrals are the MI for the \mathbf{g}_{m-1} family, i.e. which of the N_m are linearly independent in the $x \to 1$ limit, there are two ways to proceed:

- 1. Use IBP identities for the \mathbf{g}_{m-1} integral family.
- 2. Consider the properties of $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ and study its action on the \mathbf{g}_m basis at its $x \to 1$ limit.

Whereas an IBP reduction is a more straightforward path, it is interesting to study the \mathbf{R}_0 matrix in more detail. It turns out that $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ is an *idempotent* matrix. Idempotent matrices have the following properties, all of which are satisfied by $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$:

- 1. $X = X^2$
- 2. singular except the identity matrix **I**
- 3. eigenvalues of $\mathbf{X} = 0, 1$
- 4. $\operatorname{Trace}(\mathbf{X}) = \operatorname{Rank}(\mathbf{X})$
- 5. I X also idempotent

Since $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0 = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0^2$, acting with $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ on $\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1}$ yields

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}^{2}\mathbf{g}_{trunc}$$

$$= \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}\mathbf{g}_{trunc}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}_{x \to 1}$$
(3.44)

This relation, solved as an equation for each row, produces relations that allow us to determine linearly independent basis elements for the \mathbf{g}_{m-1} family. It should be noted that the outcome of this method is influenced by the x-parametrization that one uses regarding the number of linearly independent integrals that one finds. So far we have used two different parametrizations in all published results, with one x and with two x's¹. Our results so far indicate that the choice of two x's is the most optimal for the application of this method, since after defining the resummation matrix and obtaining its purely numerical form, (3.44) yields a number of linearly independent basis elements exactly equal to the number of MI of the problem with one scale less, i.e. we do not need to perform an IBP reduction to determine the new basis elements. This can also be seen by computing the rank of the numerical resummation matrix. Exploiting this fact drastically simplifies the process of extracting a canonical basis for the problem with one scale less, however it is still yet not clear why the two parametrizations yield so different results.

¹By one and two x's we mean that in the first case, only one external momentum is parametrized as xp_i , whereas in the latter case we have two external momenta parametrized as xp_i .

Chapter 4

A pedagogical example: two-loop planar master integrals

In order to showcase the applicability of the computational framework developed in chapter 4 and clarify all arguments made there, we revisit the calculation of the planar family of two-loop MI with one off-shell leg. This integral family was solved two decades ago [54] and it was among the first results which exemplified the power of the DE method for multiloop calculations.

4.1 Canonical basis and DE

Our first task is to define the integral family which we will study. For the doublebox with one massive leg we will use the following configuration:

$$G_{a_1,\dots,a_9} = e^{2\gamma_E\epsilon} \int \frac{d^d k_1}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^d k_2}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_1^{2a_1}(k_1+q_1)^{2a_2}(k_1+q_{12})^{2a_3}(k_1+q_{123})^{2a_4}}}{1} \\ \times \frac{1}{k_2^{2a_5}(k_2-q_1)^{2a_6}(k_2-q_{12})^{2a_7}(k_2-q_{123})^{2a_8}(k_1+k_2)^{2a_9}}}$$
(4.1)

with the kinematics being

$$S \equiv q_{12}^2, \quad T \equiv q_{23}^2, \quad m^2 \equiv q_2^2$$
 (4.2)

We use the abbreviations $q_{ij} = q_i + q_j$ and $q_{ijk} = q_i + q_j + q_k$ and similarly for p later. The top-sector diagram is shown in figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: The doublebox graph with one massive leg. All momenta are taken to be incoming. The double line represents the massive particle.

We choose the following *x*-parametrisation for this family:

$$q_{1} = xp_{1}, \quad q_{2} = p_{12} - xp_{1}, \quad q_{3} = p_{3}, \quad q_{4} = -p_{123}, \quad p_{i}^{2} = 0, \qquad \sum_{i} p_{i} = 0,$$

$$s_{12} \equiv p_{12}^{2} = 2p_{1}p_{2}, \quad s_{23} \equiv p_{23}^{2} = 2p_{2}p_{3}, \quad S = s_{12}, \quad T = s_{23}x, \quad m^{2} = s_{12}(1 - x)$$
(4.3)

With this x-parametrisation the doublebox graph is depicted in figure 4.2 and (4.1) becomes

$$G_{a_1,\dots,a_9} = e^{2\gamma_E \epsilon} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_1}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_2}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_1^{2a_1} (k_1 + xp_1)^{2a_2} (k_1 + p_{12})^{2a_3} (k_1 + p_{123})^{2a_4}} \times \frac{1}{k_2^{2a_5} (k_2 - xp_1)^{2a_6} (k_2 - p_{12})^{2a_7} (k_2 - p_{123})^{2a_8} (k_1 + k_2)^{2a_9}}$$
(4.4)



Figure 4.2: The doublebox graph with one massive leg in the SDE parametrisation.

Now that we have defined our integral family we use IBP identities, implemented in automated tools like KIRA and FIRE, to identify a pre-canonical basis G of MI. Doing so yields 18 linearly independent MI for this family:

$$\mathbf{G}_{1} = \left\{ G_{0,0,1,0,1,0,0,0,1}, G_{0,1,0,0,0,0,1,0,1}, G_{0,1,0,0,0,0,0,1,1}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,0,1}, G_{1,0,1,0,0,0,0,1,1}, \\ G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1}, G_{0,1,0,0,1,0,1,0,1}, G_{1,0,1,0,1,0,0,0}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,0}, G_{1,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1}, \\ G_{1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1,1}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,1,0,1}, G_{0,1,0,0,1,0,1,1,1}, \\ G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,1,1,-1,1,0,1,1,1} \right\}$$

$$(4.5)$$

The next step is to identify a canonical basis by studying the leading singularity of the precanonical MI. This task can be performed by studying the maximal cuts of these integrals in their Baikov representation. Looking for integrals with constant leading singularity yields the following basis:

$$g_1 = -s_{12}\epsilon^2 G_{0,0,2,0,1,0,0,0,2} \tag{4.6}$$

$$g_2 = -s_{12}(x-1)\epsilon^2 G_{0,1,0,0,0,2,0,2} \tag{4.7}$$

$$g_3 = -s_{23}x\epsilon^2 G_{0,1,0,0,0,0,0,2,2} \tag{4.8}$$

$$g_4 = -s_{12}x\epsilon^3 G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,0,2} \tag{4.9}$$

$$g_5 = -s_{12}\epsilon^3 G_{1,0,1,0,0,0,0,1,2} \tag{4.10}$$

$$g_6 = \epsilon^3 (-s_{12}(x-1) - s_{23}x) G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}$$
(4.11)

$$g_7 = -s_{12}x\epsilon^3 G_{0,1,0,0,1,0,1,0,2} \tag{4.12}$$

$$g_8 = s_{12}^2 \epsilon^2 G_{2,0,1,0,2,0,1,0,0} \tag{4.13}$$

$$g_9 = s_{12}^2 (x-1) \epsilon^2 G_{0,2,1,0,2,0,1,0,0} \tag{4.14}$$

$$g_{10} = s_{12}s_{23}x\epsilon^{3}G_{1,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}$$

$$(4.15)$$

$$g_{11} = x\epsilon^4 (-s_{12} - s_{23})G_{1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1,1}$$
(4.16)

$$g_{12} = s_{12}s_{23}x\epsilon^3 G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2} \tag{4.17}$$

$$g_{13} = \epsilon^4 (-s_{12} - s_{23}x) G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}$$

$$q_{14} = -s_{12} \epsilon^4 G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}$$

$$(4.18)$$

$$(4.19)$$

$$g_{14} = -s_{12}x\epsilon \ G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,1,0,1} \tag{4.19}$$

$$g_{15} = s_{12}s_{23}x\epsilon^{6}G_{0,1,0,0,1,0,1,1,2}$$

$$(4.20)$$

$$g_{16} = s_{12}\epsilon^*(s_{12}(x-1) + s_{23}x)G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}$$

$$(4.21)$$

$$g_{17} = -s_{12}^2 s_{23} x \epsilon^4 G_{1,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}$$
(4.22)

$$g_{18} = s_{12}^2 x \epsilon^4 G_{1,1,1,-1,1,0,1,1,1} \tag{4.23}$$

which is expressed in terms of a different set of FI than the pre-canonical ones in (4.5), namely:

$$\mathbf{G}_{2} = \{G_{0,0,2,0,1,0,0,0,2}, G_{0,1,0,0,0,0,2,0,2}, G_{0,1,0,0,0,0,0,2,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,0,2}, G_{1,0,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1,1}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,1,0,1}, G_{0,1,0,0,0,1,0,1,1,2}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,1,1,-1,1,0,1,1,1}\}$$

$$(4.24)$$

The two sets of integrals are connected of course through IBP identities.

The ultimate test that a basis of MI is indeed canonical is if it satisfies a canonical DE. We proceed therefore by differentiating (4.6) with respect to x, which yields,

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{a=1}^4 \frac{\mathbf{M}_a}{(x - l_a)} \right) \mathbf{g} \tag{4.25}$$

with **g** being the array of the 18 canonical basis elements in (4.6), \mathbf{M}_a are the purely numerical residue matrices and $x - l_a$ the letters of the *alphabet*, with $l_a = \{0, 1, s_{12}/(s_{12} + s_{23}), -s_{23}/s_{12}\}$.
4.2 Boundary terms and solution

In order to find boundary terms for solving (4.25) we proceed by computing the *resummation* matrix **R**, as discussed in (3.31)-(3.34). The non-zero parts of the matrix read,

$$\begin{split} R_{1,1} &= 1, R_{2,2} = 1, R_{3,3} = x^{-2\epsilon}, R_{4,4} = x^{-\epsilon}, R_{5,5} = 1, R_{6,3} = \frac{1}{4} - \frac{x^{-2\epsilon}}{4}, R_{6,6} = 1, R_{7,7} = x^{-\epsilon}, \\ R_{8,8} &= 1, R_{9,9} = 1, R_{10,3} = \frac{3}{4} \left(x^{-2\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{10,10} = 1, R_{11,11} = 1, R_{12,1} = -\frac{3}{4} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), \\ R_{12,3} &= -\frac{3}{4} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{12,4} = -3x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{13,1} = -\frac{1}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} + 2x^{2\epsilon} - 3 \right), \\ R_{12,12} &= \frac{1}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(3x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{12,13} = -3x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{13,11} = -\frac{1}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} + 2x^{2\epsilon} - 3 \right), \\ R_{13,3} &= \frac{1}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{12,13} = -3x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{13,6} = \frac{1}{2} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 3 \right) x^{-2\epsilon} + 1, \\ R_{13,12} &= \frac{1}{4} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{13,13} = -\frac{1}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{13,6} = \frac{1}{2} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 3 \right) x^{-2\epsilon} + 1, \\ R_{13,12} &= \frac{1}{4} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), R_{13,13} = -\frac{1}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 3 \right), R_{14,14} = x^{2\epsilon}, R_{15,3} = -\frac{3}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right), \\ R_{15,15} &= x^{-\epsilon}, R_{16,1} = \frac{1}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(\left(-6x^{\epsilon} + 5x^{3\epsilon} - 2 \right) x^{\epsilon} + 3 \right), R_{16,2} = -\frac{3}{4} \left(x^{2\epsilon} - 1 \right), \\ R_{16,3} &= \frac{1}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} \left(6x^{\epsilon} - 5x^{3\epsilon} + 2 \right) - 3 \right), R_{16,4} = \frac{3}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(-2x^{\epsilon} + x^{4\epsilon} + 1 \right), \\ R_{16,6} &= 3 - \frac{1}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(-2x^{\epsilon} + 5x^{4\epsilon} + 3 \right), R_{16,7} = x^{-\epsilon} - x^{2\epsilon}, R_{16,9} = 1 - x^{2\epsilon}, \\ R_{16,12} &= -\frac{1}{4} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(-2x^{\epsilon} + x^{4\epsilon} + 1 \right), R_{16,13} = -\frac{1}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(2x^{\epsilon} + x^{4\epsilon} - 3 \right), R_{16,15} = \frac{1}{3} x^{-\epsilon} \left(x^{3\epsilon} - 1 \right), \\ R_{16,16} &= x^{2\epsilon}, R_{17,1} = -\frac{3}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right)^{2}, R_{17,3} = \frac{9}{8} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right)^{2}, R_{17,4} = -\frac{3}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right)^{2}, \\ R_{17,6} &= \frac{3}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right)^{2}, R_{17,12} = \frac{1}{4} \left(x^{-2\epsilon} - 6x^{-\epsilon} + 5 \right), R_{17,13} = -\frac{3}{2} x^{-2\epsilon} \left(x^{\epsilon} - 1 \right)^{2}, \\ R_{17,15} &= 2x^{-\epsilon} - 2, R_{17,17} = 1, R_{18,4} = 2 - 2x^{-\epsilon}, R_{18,7} = x^{-\epsilon} - 1, R_{18,14} = x^{2\epsilon} - 1, R_{18,18} = 1 \\ \\ (4.30) \end{aligned}$$

Having the **R** matrix at hand, we can construct the left-hand side of (3.37). From the definition of the canonical basis we can extract the **T** matrix and using expansion-by-regions construct the right-hand side of (3.37). As discussed there, this equation yields two sets of relations. The so-called pure relations are,

$$b_{4} = 0, b_{7} = 0, b_{10} = \frac{3b_{3}}{4}, b_{11} = 0, b_{13} = -\frac{b_{1}}{4} - \frac{b_{3}}{4} + b_{6} + \frac{b_{12}}{2}, b_{14} = 0, b_{15} = \frac{3b_{3}}{2},$$

$$b_{16} = -\frac{3b_{1}}{4} + \frac{3b_{2}}{4} + 3b_{6} + b_{9} + \frac{b_{12}}{2}, b_{17} = \frac{3b_{3}}{2} - \frac{b_{12}}{2}, b_{18} = 0$$
(4.31)

These results leave the following boundary terms undetermined,

 $\{b_1, b_2, b_3, b_5, b_6, b_8, b_9, b_{12}\}$ (4.32)

However most of them involve integrals which are already computed using other methods, e.g. direct integration in the Feynman parameter representation, and are readily available in the literature, namely

$$b_1 = -\frac{e^{2\gamma\epsilon}(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)(-s_{12})^{-2\epsilon}\Gamma(1 - \epsilon)^3\Gamma(2\epsilon + 1)}{\Gamma(3 - 3\epsilon)}$$
(4.33)

$$b_2 = -\frac{s_{12}e^{2\gamma\epsilon}(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)(-s_{12})^{-2\epsilon - 1}\Gamma(1 - \epsilon)^3\Gamma(2\epsilon + 1)}{\Gamma(3 - 3\epsilon)}$$
(4.34)

$$b_{3} = -\frac{e^{2\gamma\epsilon}(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)(-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon}\Gamma(1 - \epsilon)^{3}\Gamma(2\epsilon + 1)}{\Gamma(3 - 3\epsilon)}$$
(4.35)

$$b_5 = -\frac{e^{2\gamma\epsilon}(3\epsilon-1)(-s_{12})^{-2\epsilon}\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)\Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2\Gamma(\epsilon+1)\Gamma(2\epsilon+1)}{4\Gamma(2-3\epsilon)}$$
(4.36)

$$b_8 = \frac{s_{12}^2 e^{2\gamma\epsilon} (-s_{12})^{-2(\epsilon+1)} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^4 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)^2}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)^2}$$
(4.37)

$$b_9 = -\frac{s_{12}^2 e^{2\gamma\epsilon} (-s_{12})^{-2(\epsilon+1)} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^4 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)^2}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)^2}$$
(4.38)

This leaves only two boundary terms undetermined, b_6 and b_{12} . From the second set of relations produced by (3.37) we have

$$b_{6} = s_{12}\epsilon^{3}G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{0} + \frac{1}{4}A(3)s_{23}\epsilon^{2}$$

$$b_{12} = -\frac{1}{2}s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^{3}G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon-1} - 3s_{12}\epsilon^{4}G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}^{-2\epsilon} - 3s_{12}\epsilon^{3}G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon}$$

$$(4.39)$$

$$b_{12} = -\frac{1}{2} s_{12} s_{23} \epsilon^3 G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon} - 3 s_{12} \epsilon^4 G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}^{-2\epsilon} - 3 s_{12} \epsilon^3 G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon} - \frac{3}{4} A(3) s_{23} \epsilon^2$$

$$(4.40)$$

where A(3) is given by

$$A(3) = \frac{e^{2\gamma\epsilon}(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)(-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon}\Gamma(1 - \epsilon)^{3}\Gamma(2\epsilon + 1)}{s_{23}\epsilon^{2}\Gamma(3 - 3\epsilon)}$$
(4.41)

This means that we have to compute the following four regions

$$\left\{G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{0}, G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}^{-2\epsilon}, G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon-1}\right\}$$
(4.42)

These are easily computed in the Feynman parameter representation and their result reads

$$G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{0} = \frac{\pi^2 e^{2\gamma\epsilon} \left(-s_{12}\right)^{-2\epsilon} \csc(\pi\epsilon) \csc(2\pi\epsilon) \Gamma(-\epsilon)}{2s_{12}\Gamma(1-3\epsilon)}$$
(4.43)

$$G_{0,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon} = \frac{e^{2\gamma\epsilon} (-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon} \Gamma(-\epsilon)^3 \Gamma(2\epsilon)}{6s_{12} \Gamma(-3\epsilon)}$$

$$G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,1}^{-2\epsilon} = \frac{e^{2\gamma\epsilon} (-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon} \Gamma(-\epsilon)^3 \Gamma(2\epsilon+1) {}_3F_2(1,1,1-\epsilon;2-2\epsilon,2\epsilon+1;1)}{4s_{12}(2\epsilon-1) \Gamma(1-3\epsilon)}$$

$$- \frac{\pi^2 e^{2\gamma\epsilon} \epsilon {}_2F_1(1-3\epsilon,1-2\epsilon;2-4\epsilon;1) (-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon} \csc^2(2\pi\epsilon) \Gamma(-\epsilon)^2}{s_{12} \Gamma(2-4\epsilon)}$$

$$(4.44)$$

$$(4.44)$$

$$(4.44)$$

$$G_{0,1,1,0,1,0,0,1,2}^{-2\epsilon-1} = \frac{3\pi^{5/2} 2^{2\epsilon} e^{2\gamma\epsilon} (-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon} \csc(\pi\epsilon) \csc(2\pi\epsilon) \Gamma(-\epsilon) {}_{3}F_{2}(1,-2\epsilon,-\epsilon;1-2\epsilon,\epsilon+1;1)}{s_{12} s_{23} \Gamma(1-3\epsilon) \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}-\epsilon\right) \Gamma(\epsilon+1)} + \frac{2\pi^{2} e^{2\gamma\epsilon} (-s_{23})^{-2\epsilon} \csc(\pi\epsilon) \csc(2\pi\epsilon) \Gamma(2\epsilon)}{s_{12} s_{23}}$$
(4.46)

We now have determined all necessary boundary terms. A nice by-product in this case is that all boundary terms are in closed form in ϵ . This allows us to obtain their expansion in ϵ up to any desired order. The hyper-geometric functions present in the boundary terms can be expanded to any order in ϵ using the HypExp [55], [56] package.

In general, for more complicated integral families obtaining all boundary terms in closed form is a non-trivial task due to the large number and complexity of the regions that are required to be computed. In those cases we will use results which are already available in the literature.

For the problem at hand, we can readily obtain an expansion in ϵ up to order $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$, which allows us to obtain solutions of (4.25) up to weight four. The full result of basis element g_{17} which involves the top-sector scalar integral reads,¹

$$\begin{split} g_{17} &= -1 + \epsilon \left(2\mathcal{G}_{l_1} - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_2} + 2L_2 \right) \\ &+ \epsilon^2 \left(-4\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_1} + \mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2} + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_1} + \mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_1} - \mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_2} - 4L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_1} + 3L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_2} + L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3} \right. \\ &+ L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_2} - L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_3} - 2L_2^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{12} \right) \\ &+ \epsilon^3 \left(8\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_1,l_1} - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_1,l_2} + \mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2,l_1} - 4\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2,l_2} - 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3,l_1} + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3,l_2} - 6\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_1,l_1} \right. \\ &+ 2\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_1,l_2} - 3\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2,l_1} + 4\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2,l_2} + 5\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3,l_1} - 5\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3,l_2} - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_1,l_1} + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_2,l_1} \right. \\ &- 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_3,l_1} + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_3,l_2} + 8L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_1} + L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2} - 3L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3} - 6L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_1} - 3L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2} \right. \\ &+ 5L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3} - 2L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_1} + 2L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_2} - 2L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_3} - 3L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2} + 3L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3} + 3L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2} \right. \\ &- 5L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3} - 2L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_1} + 2L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_2} - 2L_2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_3} - 3L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2} + 3L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3} + 3L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2} \right. \\ &- 5L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3} + 2L_1\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_3} - \frac{1}{6}\pi^2\mathcal{G}_{l_1} - \frac{1}{6}\pi^2\mathcal{G}_{l_2} + \frac{1}{3}\pi^2\mathcal{G}_{l_3} + 4L_2^2\mathcal{G}_{l_1} - 3L_2^2\mathcal{G}_{l_2} \\ &- L_2^2\mathcal{G}_{l_3} - L_1^2\mathcal{G}_{l_2} + L_1^2\mathcal{G}_{l_3} + \frac{4L_2^3}{3} - \frac{\pi^2L_2}{6} + \frac{43\zeta(3)}{6} \right) \\ &+ \epsilon^4 \left(-\frac{2L_2^4}{3} - \frac{8}{3}\mathcal{G}_{l_1}L_3^2 + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3}L_2^2 + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_2}L_2^2 - \mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2}L_2^2 + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3}L_2^2 \\ &+ 6\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_1}L_2^2 + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2}L_2^2 - 5\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_3}L_2^2 + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_1}L_2^2 - \mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2}L_2^2 + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_3,l_3}L_2^2 + \frac{1}{6}\pi^2\mathcal{L}_2^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{3}\pi^2\mathcal{G}_{l_1}L_2 - \frac{1}{2}\pi^2\mathcal{G}_{l_2}L_2 + \frac{1}{6}\pi^2\mathcal{G}_{l_3}L_2 - 16\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_1,l_1}L_2 - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_1,l_2}L_2 - 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3,l_3}L_2 \\ &- 2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2,l_1}L_2 - \mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2,l_2}L_2 + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2,l_3}L_2 + 6\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3,l_1}L_2 + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3,l_2}L_2 - 3\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_3,l_3}L_2 \\ &- 2\mathcal{G}_{l_1,l_2,l_1}L_2 - \mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_1,l_3}L_2 + 6\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2,l_1}L_2 + 3\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2,l_2}L_2 - 5\mathcal{G}_{l_2,l_2,l$$

¹We use the abbreviations $L_1 = \log(-s_{12}), \ L_2 = \log(-s_{23}), \ \mathcal{G}_{l_a, l_b, \dots} := \mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \dots; x).$

$$\begin{split} &+ \mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{3},l_{2}}L_{2} - \mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{3},l_{3}}L_{2} + 4\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{1},l_{1}}L_{2} + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{1},l_{2}}L_{2} - 4\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{1},l_{3}}L_{2} - 4\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{3}}L_{2} \\ &- 2\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{2}}L_{2} + 2\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{3}}L_{2} + 4\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{3},l_{1}}L_{2} - 4\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{3},l_{2}}L_{2} + 4\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{3},l_{3}}L_{2} - \frac{43\zeta(3)L_{2}}{3} \\ &+ \frac{2}{3}L_{1}^{3}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2}} + \frac{5}{6}\pi^{2}L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2}} - \frac{2}{3}L_{1}^{3}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3}} - \frac{5}{6}\pi^{2}L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3}} + \frac{1}{3}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{1}} + 3L_{1}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{2}} - \frac{1}{3}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2}} \\ &- 3L_{1}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3}} + \frac{1}{2}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3}} - \frac{1}{2}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{1}} - 3L_{1}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{2}} + 5L_{1}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{3}} + \frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{3}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{1}} - \frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2}} - 2L_{1}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{3}} - \frac{2}{3}\pi^{2}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{3}} + 6L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{1},l_{2}} - 6L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{1},l_{3}} + 9L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2}} \\ &- 3L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{3}} - 9L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3},l_{2}} + 3L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3},l_{3}} - 4L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{1},l_{2}} + 2L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{1},l_{3}} - 11L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{2},l_{2}} \\ &- 2L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{3}} + 9L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{2},l_{3},l_{3}} - 16\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{1},l_{1},l_{3}} - 2L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{1},l_{2}} + 4L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{1},l_{3}} + 2L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{2}} \\ &- 2L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{3}} - 4L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{3},l_{3}} - 16\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{1},l_{1},l_{1}} - \mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2},l_{1}} + 10\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2},l_{2}} \\ &- 3\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3},l_{2},l_{3}} + 6\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3},l_{1},l_{3}} - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{1},l_{2}} - \mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{1},l_{1}} + 10\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2},l_{1}} + 1\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2},l_{2}} \\ &- 2L_{1}\mathcal{G}_{l_{3},l_{2},l_{2},l_{3}} + 6\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{3},l_{1},l_{1}} - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{1},l_{1}} - 2\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2},l_{1}} + 1\mathcal{G}_{l_{1},l_{2},l_{2},l_{1}} \\ &- 3\mathcal{G$$

4.3 From massive to massless

Taking the $x \to 1$ limit in the case of the doublebox family with one massive leg is the only way to get a solution for the fully massless doublebox family using the computational framework that we have developed so far. This serves not only as way of obtaining a solution for a separate integral family but also as a non-trivial cross-check of our full solution, in case the massless family is known. For the case at hand, the massless doublebox has also been solved a long time ago, and a canonical basis was presented for it in [42].

To get the $x \to 1$ limit, we follow at first the steps outlined in eqs. (3.39)-(3.42) in order to compute the truncated part of our solution at x = 1 and the numerical *resummation* matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$.

Then, according to (3.43), the $x \to 1$ limit for the doublebox family with one massive leg is the result of $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ acting on the truncated part of the solution \mathbf{g} at x = 1. As we have already discussed, this special limit allows us to obtain the massless doublebox family. In order to get the canonical basis for the massless family from the massive one, we exploit the fact that $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ is an idempotent matrix, and through (3.44) we obtain the following relations

$$\tilde{g}_2 = 0 \tag{4.49}$$

$$\tilde{g}_4 = -\frac{\tilde{g}_1}{2} \tag{4.50}$$

$$\tilde{g}_6 = -\frac{g_3}{2} \tag{4.51}$$

$$\tilde{g}_9 = 0 \tag{4.52}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{12} = \frac{3}{2} \left(\tilde{g}_1 + \tilde{g}_3 - 4 \tilde{g}_{13} \right) \tag{4.53}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{14} = \frac{1}{4} \left(-\tilde{g}_1 - 4\tilde{g}_7 \right) \tag{4.54}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{16} = \frac{1}{4} \left(3\tilde{g}_1 + 3\tilde{g}_3 - 12\tilde{g}_{13} - 4\tilde{g}_{15} \right)$$
(4.55)

where we denote as \tilde{g}_i the $x \to 1$ limit of the *i*-th basis element. This operation leaves 11 integrals that can form the basis of the massless doublebox, namely

$$\{\tilde{g}_1, \tilde{g}_3, \tilde{g}_5, \tilde{g}_7, \tilde{g}_8, \tilde{g}_{10}, \tilde{g}_{11}, \tilde{g}_{13}, \tilde{g}_{15}, \tilde{g}_{17}, \tilde{g}_{18}\}$$
(4.56)

However as is it known, or as one can easily find out using KIRA[29] or FIRE[28], the massless doublebox family has 8 MI. In this particular case, the resulting formulas are compact enough and one can easily see that the following identities hold

$$\tilde{g}_7 = \tilde{g}_5 \tag{4.57}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{13} = \tilde{g}_{11}$$
 (4.58)

$$\tilde{g}_{15} = \tilde{g}_{10}$$
 (4.59)

This leaves exactly 8 linearly independent MI that form the basis for the massless doublebox, namely

$$s_{12} \left(-\epsilon^2\right) G_{0,0,2,0,1,0,0,0,2}$$

$$(4.60)$$

$$s_{23} \left(-\epsilon^2\right) G_{0,1,0,0,0,0,0,2,2} \tag{4.61}$$

$$s_{12}\left(-\epsilon^{3}\right)G_{1,0,1,0,0,0,1,2}$$

$$(4.62)$$

$$s_{12}^2 \epsilon^2 G_{2,0,1,0,2,0,1,0,0} \tag{4.63}$$

$$s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^3 G_{1,1,1,0,0,0,0,1,2} \tag{4.64}$$

$$(-s_{12} - s_{23}) \epsilon^4 G_{1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1,1}$$

$$(4.65)$$

$$s_{12}^2 s_{23} (-\epsilon^4) G_{1,1,0,0,0,0,1,1,1}$$

$$(4.66)$$

$$f_{12}s_{23}(-\epsilon^{4})G_{1,1,1,0,1,0,1,1,1}$$
(4.66)

$$s_{12}^2 \epsilon^4 G_{1,1,1,-1,1,0,1,1,1} \tag{4.67}$$

Relations (4.49) and (4.57) can also be verified using IBP identities.

All the results presented here have been cross-checked against results available in the literature and against numerical results obtained by pySecDec[57] and FIESTA[58].

4.4 Comparison with the standard approach

It is interesting to compare the solution presented here with the one obtained using the standard DE method, i.e. by differentiating with respect to all kinematic invariants. A canonical basis of MI for the doublebox with one off-shell leg was first presented in [59]. There, an alphabet of six letters was found, involving two variables constructed out of ratios of kinematic variables. In our analysis we obtained an alphabet with four letters. This *reduction* in the number of letters has been observed to all cases where the SDE approach has been applied so far, however the origin of this behaviour has yet to be determined.

Part II Results

Chapter 5

Planar three-loop master integrals for the ladder-box topology

In this chapter we revisit the calculation of the so-called three-loop ladder-box topology with one off-shell leg, whose MI contribute to scattering amplitudes concerning for example a vector boson decaying to 3-jets or $gg \rightarrow H + jet$ in gluon fusion at N3LO. This chapter presents original research done in collaboration with D. D. Canko and is based mainly on [60], as well as on [61] for the section regarding the analytic continuation of our results.

5.1 Introduction

It has been twenty years since the calculation of the two-loop FI for $2 \rightarrow 2$ processes involving massless propagators and one off-shell external particle [54], [62] which established the method of DE as a powerful technique for the analytic computation of multiloop FI. These studies developed an approach which in essence is still used today, i.e. using Integration-By-Parts (IBP) identities [26], [27] to identify a minimal set of FI, known as *master integrals* (MI), deriving DE for these integrals by differentiating with respect to kinematic invariants and, if present, internal masses, and then using IBP identities again to recast the derivatives of the MI in terms of MI of equal or lower number of propagators.

A few years ago, a first step was taken towards the extension of these results at the threeloop level, with the calculation of the so-called planar ladder-box topology involving massless propagators and one off-shell leg [59]. This calculation was made possible through the adoption of the by now established method of canonical DE [42]. In [42] an observation was made that one can choose a *good* basis of MI, such that the DE that they satisfy have only logarithmic singularities and the dimensional regulator ϵ is fully factorised. The conjecture made in [42] was that FI with constant leading singularities [43] are good candidates for the construction of such a basis, which is known as a *pure basis* of MI.

In [59] a basis of 85 MI was obtained and a canonical DE was derived based on Magnus series expansions [63]. In this chapter, we will re-calculate the three-loop ladder-box topology using a variant of the standard DE method, known as the Simplified Differential Equations (SDE) approach [38]. Our results are given in terms of real-valued GPLs of up to weight six for Euclidean and physical regions of phase-space. We also present the solution of the massless ladder-box family as a special limit of the ladder-box family with one massive leg.

5.2 General set up

5.2.1 Integral families

We begin this section by defining the integral family that will be treated in this chapter. For the sake of brevity we will call F1 the ladder-box topology 5.1.



Figure 5.1: The F1 top-sector diagram. The double line represents the massive particle and all external momenta are taken to be incoming.

The corresponding FI are defined through¹

$$G_{a_{1}\cdots a_{15}}^{F1} := \int \left(\prod_{l=1}^{3} e^{\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \frac{d^{d}k_{l}}{i\pi^{d/2}}\right) \frac{(k_{1}+q_{123})^{-2a_{11}}(k_{2}+q_{123})^{-2a_{12}}}{(k_{1}+q_{12})^{2a_{1}}(k_{2}+q_{12})^{2a_{2}}(k_{3}+q_{12})^{2a_{3}}(k_{1}-k_{2})^{2a_{4}}} \times \frac{(k_{2}+q_{1})^{-2a_{13}}(k_{3}+q_{1})^{-2a_{14}}(k_{1}-k_{3})^{-2a_{15}}}{(k_{2}-k_{3})^{2a_{5}}(k_{3}+q_{123})^{2a_{6}}k_{1}^{2a_{7}}k_{2}^{2a_{8}}k_{3}^{2a_{9}}(k_{1}+q_{1})^{2a_{10}}}$$
(5.1)

with a_i being integers and $a_i \leq 0$ for i = 11, ..., 15. The external momenta of the considered families obey the following kinematics: $\sum_{i=1}^{4} q_i = 0$, $q_2^2 = m^2$, $q_i^2 = 0$ for i = 1, 3, 4 and $S_{12} = (q_1 + q_2)^2$, $S_{23} = (q_2 + q_3)^2$, $S_{13} = m^2 - S_{12} - S_{23}$.

In this chapter we employ the SDE approach [38] for the analytic computation of family F1. To do so we parametrise the external momenta by introducing a dimensionless parameter x in the following manner

$$q_1 = xp_1, \quad q_2 = p_1 + p_2 - xp_1, \quad q_3 = p_3, \quad q_4 = p_4$$
 (5.2)

where the new momenta p_i are all massless. This parametrisation produces the following mapping for the kinematic invariants between the two momentum configurations

$$S_{12} = s_{12}, \quad S_{23} = s_{23}x, \quad m^2 = s_{12}(1-x)$$
 (5.3)

with $s_{12} = (p_1 + p_2)^2$, $s_{23} = (p_2 + p_3)^2$.

5.2.2 Scattering kinematics

When considering the analytic solution of multiloop FI in dimensional regularisation, one usually solves these integrals in the Euclidean region, where all FI are free of branch cuts, and then analytically continues the results to the physical regions of phase-space. This is the approach that we will follow as well.

At first, by studying the second Symanzik polynomial [64] for the top-sector integral² of family F1 in its Feynman parameter representation, we can identify the Euclidean region in terms of the kinematic variables S_{12} , S_{23} , m^2 such that

$$S_{12} < 0, \quad S_{23} < 0, \quad m^2 < 0.$$
 (5.4)

¹Where we use the abbreviation $q_{12} = q_1 + q_2$ and $q_{123} = q_1 + q_2 + q_3$.

²By top-sector we mean the integrals with $a_i = 1$ for i = 1, ..., 10 and $a_i = 0$ for i = 11, ..., 15 in (5.1).

For scattering kinematics we have three physical regions when considering $2 \rightarrow 2$ processes with one massive particle. For convenience we will denote them as the s, t and u channels appropriately:

s-channel: $m^2 > 0$, $S_{12} \ge m^2$, $S_{23} \le 0$, $S_{13} \le 0$ (5.5)

t-channel:
$$m^2 > 0$$
, $S_{12} \le 0$, $S_{23} \ge m^2$, $S_{13} \le 0$ (5.6)

u-channel:
$$m^2 > 0$$
, $S_{12} \le 0$, $S_{23} \le 0$, $S_{13} \ge m^2$. (5.7)

Since we will use the SDE approach for the solution of (5.1), we would like to have the corresponding limits for each region of phase-space expressed in terms of the x, s_{12} , s_{23} variables. The mapping of (5.3) allows us to do so, although for reasons that will become clear at a later stage, we define the ratio $y = \frac{s_{23}}{s_{12}}$ and use the variables x, y, s_{12} . Our approach therefore will be to compute all MI in terms of real-valued GPLs in the Euclidean region

$$0 < x < 1, \quad s_{12} < 0, \quad 0 < y < 1 \tag{5.8}$$

and then, using tools such as HyperInt[65] and PolyLogTools[66], analytically continue our solutions in the physical regions

s-channel:
$$0 < x < 1$$
, $s_{12} > 0$, $-1 \le y \le 0$ (5.9)

t-channel:
$$1 < x$$
, $s_{12} < 0$, $y \le -1$ (5.10)

u-channel:
$$1 < x$$
, $s_{12} < 0$, $y \ge 0$. (5.11)

Performing the reduction to MI using modern IBP tools such as FIRE6 [28] and KIRA2 [29], we found for this family a set of 83 MI in contrast with [59], where a set of 85 MI was presented. The two extra MI contained in the set of 85 MI were found to be equal from IBP relations with two other integrals of the same set, namely $\mathcal{T}_7 = \mathcal{T}_8$ and $\mathcal{T}_{45} = \mathcal{T}_{46}$ of [59]. These relations can also be verified by checking the solutions for the corresponding basis elements, as presented in [59].

5.3 Canonical differential equations

Having a canonical basis for the studied family [59] we obtained a DE with respect to x which is of canonical form

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{i=1}^4 \frac{\mathbf{M}_i}{x - l_i} \right) \mathbf{g}$$
(5.12)

where **g** is the pure basis and \mathbf{M}_i are the residue matrices corresponding to each letter l_i . All kinematic dependence is included in the letters l_i , leaving the matrices \mathbf{M}_i to consist solely of rational numbers. We have found an alphabet consisting of the four following letters

$$l_1 = 0, \ l_2 = 1, \ l_3 = \frac{1}{1+y}, \ l_4 = -\frac{1}{y}.$$
 (5.13)

The simplicity of the alphabet (5.13) in x allows for a straightforward solution of (5.12) in terms of GPLs. The solution can be written in the following compact form up to weight six:

$$\mathbf{g} = \epsilon^{0} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \epsilon \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right) + \epsilon^{2} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{ij} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{j} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} \right) + \dots$$

$$+ \epsilon^{6} \left(\mathbf{b}_{0}^{(6)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ijklmn} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{j} \mathbf{M}_{k} \mathbf{M}_{l} \mathbf{M}_{m} \mathbf{M}_{n} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ijklm} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{j} \mathbf{M}_{k} \mathbf{M}_{l} \mathbf{M}_{m} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right)$$

$$+ \sum \mathcal{G}_{ijkl} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{j} \mathbf{M}_{k} \mathbf{M}_{l} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ijk} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{j} \mathbf{M}_{k} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ij} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{j} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(4)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{i} \mathbf{M}_{i} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(5)} \right)$$

$$(5.14)$$

were $\mathcal{G}_{ab...} := \mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \ldots; x)$ represent the GPLs. The $\mathbf{b}_0^{(i)}$ terms represent the boundary terms that need to be determined, with *i* indicating the corresponding weight, and consist of Zeta functions $\zeta(i)$ and logarithms {log($-s_{12}$), log(y)} of weight *i*. Our results are presented in such a way that each coefficient of ϵ^i has transcendental weight *i*. If we assign weight -1 to ϵ , then (5.14) has uniform weight zero.

5.3.1 Boundary terms

In general we need to calculate the $x \to 0$ limit of each pure basis element. Our first step is to exploit the canonical SDE at the limit $x \to 0$ and define through it the resummation matrix

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{S} \mathrm{e}^{\epsilon \mathbf{D} \log(x)} \mathbf{S}^{-1} \tag{5.15}$$

where the matrices **S**, **D** are obtained through the Jordan decomposition³ of the residue matrix for the letter $l_1 = 0$, \mathbf{M}_1 ,

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = \mathbf{S}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{S}^{-1}.\tag{5.16}$$

On the other hand, through IBP reduction, the elements of the pure basis can be related to a set of FI G,

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G}.\tag{5.17}$$

Furthermore using the expansion by regions method [51] as implemented in the **asy** code which is shipped along with FIESTA4 [58], we can obtain information for the asymptotic behaviour of the FI in terms of which we express the pure basis of MI (5.17) in the limit $x \to 0$,

$$G_i \mathop{=}\limits_{x \to 0} \sum_j x^{b_j + a_j \epsilon} G_i^{(b_j + a_j \epsilon)}$$
(5.18)

where a_j and b_j are integers and G_i are the individual members of the basis **G** of FI in (5.17). This analysis allows us to construct the following relation

$$\mathbf{Rb} = \lim_{x \to 0} \mathbf{TG} \Big|_{\mathcal{O}\left(x^{0+a_j\epsilon}\right)}$$
(5.19)

where the right-hand side implies that, apart from the terms $x^{a_i\epsilon}$ coming from (5.18), we expand around x = 0, keeping only terms of order x^0 . Equation (5.19) allows us in principle to determine all boundary constants $\mathbf{b} = \sum_{i=0}^{6} \epsilon^i \mathbf{b}_0^{(i)}$.

More specifically, equation (5.19) produces two kinds of relations. The first one, called *pure* relations in [60], is in the form of linear relations with numerical rational coefficients between boundary terms **b** and the second one is in the form of linear relations that contain boundary terms **b** and region-integrals $G_i^{(b_j+a_j\epsilon)}$ in the Feynman parameter representation.

The *pure relations* usually determine the boundary terms for the top-sector basis elements, which are the most non-trivial to compute since they involve the most complicated regionintegrals. For the case of family F1 these *pure relations* for the three top-sector basis elements are

$$b_{81} = -\frac{b_1}{18} - \frac{7b_2}{18} - \frac{2b_7}{3} + \frac{b_{12}}{2} + \frac{b_{13}}{12} + \frac{2b_{16}}{3} + 2b_{32} - b_{39} + b_{41}$$
(5.20)

$$b_{82} = 0$$
 (5.21)

$$b_{83} = 0. (5.22)$$

³For an earlier use of the Jordan decomposition method see [67], [68].

Similar relations are obtained for 59 basis elements in total, leaving the following basis elements undetermined,

 $\{b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4, b_5, b_6, b_7, b_8, b_9, b_{12}, b_{13}, b_{16}, b_{17}, b_{18}, b_{19}, b_{20}, b_{27}, b_{29}, b_{32}, b_{39}, b_{41}, b_{44}, b_{51}, b_{56}\}.$ (5.23)

Out of those boundary terms, 11 of them are known from the massless solution,

$$\{b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4, b_5, b_6, b_7, b_{17}, b_{18}, b_{19}, b_{44}\}$$
(5.24)

leaving the following 13 genuinely unknown boundary terms to be determined,

$$\{b_8, b_9, b_{12}, b_{13}, b_{16}, b_{20}, b_{27}, b_{29}, b_{32}, b_{39}, b_{41}, b_{51}, b_{56}\}$$

$$(5.25)$$

The second kind of relations allow us to compute the above from expressions such as

$$b_{41} = G_{41}^{-3\epsilon} s_{12} \epsilon^5 + b_2 / 9 - b_{13} / 12 - 2b_{16} / 3.$$
(5.26)

Thus the problem of computing the remaining boundary terms is reduced to the calculation of the following 13 region-integrals

$$\{G_8^{\text{hard}}, G_9^{\text{hard}}, G_{12}^{\text{hard}}, G_{13}^{\text{hard}}, G_{16}^{\text{hard}}, G_{20}^{\text{hard}}, G_{27}^{\text{hard}}, G_{29}^{\text{hard}}, G_{51}^{\text{hard}}, G_{56}^{\text{hard}}\},$$
(5.27)

$$\begin{cases} {\rm nard} & G_{16}^{\rm nard}, G_{20}^{\rm nard}, G_{27}^{\rm nard}, G_{29}^{\rm nard}, G_{51}^{\rm nard}, G_{56}^{\rm nard} \end{cases}, \qquad (5.27) \\ & \{ G_{32}^{-3\epsilon}, G_{39}^{-3\epsilon}, G_{41}^{-3\epsilon} \}. \end{cases}$$

where with "hard" we denote the contribution from the x^0 region.

From the set of the asymptotic limits the calculation of the hard limits was performed in momentum space with the use of the method of expansion-by-regions and IBP reduction. The SDE parametrization of the propagators makes it significantly easier in this case. In fact, the hard asymptotic limits are equal to some of the known MI and thus plugging them back into the relations between boundaries and asymptotic limits we found some extra relations between boundaries.

Regarding the $x^{-3\epsilon}$ limits, we employed a strategy depending on the Feynman - parameter representation of the integrals under consideration, as well as a technique of integrating out bubble subintegrals inspired by [69]. For the case in point, the three integrals whose regions we want to compute, contain bubble subintegrals, i.e. each one can be written as a two-loop integral with a bubble insertion. As explained in [69], one can always integrate out bubble subintegrals and obtain a lower loop integral with some powers shifted by ϵ . More specifically we have

$$\int \frac{d^d k}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{(k^2)^{a_1} ((k+p)^2)^{a_2}} = \frac{\Gamma(a-d/2)\Gamma(d/2-a_1)\Gamma(d/2-a_2)}{\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2)\Gamma(d-a)} (p^2)^{d/2-a}$$
(5.29)

where $a = a_1 + a_2$. For the cases that we are interested in, $a_1 = 2$ and $a_2 = 1$, and according to [69], after integrating out the bubble subintegral we arrive at a two-loop integral with one index shifted from 1 to $1 + \epsilon$.

In the following, we explain in detail the computation of the required region for G_{32} . The remaining regions can be computed in a similar manner. G_{32} can be written as

$$G_{32} = \int \frac{d^d k_1 d^d k_2 d^d k_3}{(i\pi^{d/2})^3} \frac{e^{3\varepsilon\gamma_E}}{k_2^2 (k_1 - k_2)^2 (k_2 - k_3)^2 (k_1 + p_{12})^2 (k_1 + xp_1)^2 (k_3 + p_{123})^4}.$$
 (5.30)

The bubble subintegral is

$$\int \frac{d^d k_3}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{(k_2 - k_3)^2 (k_3 + p_{123})^4}.$$
(5.31)

By making the shift $k_3 \to k - p_{123}$ we may write it as in (5.29). What is left is a two-loop integral with five propagators. The departure from the usual case is the fact that one propagator is raised to the power of $1+\epsilon$. If one tries to find the regions contributing to the $x \to 0$ limit of this integral we see that there are two regions, namely $(x^0, x^{-3\epsilon})$ as for the full three-loop integral. We are interested in the $x^{-3\epsilon}$ region, which now is significantly less complicated than the one resulting from the full three-loop integral analysis. After performing the necessary integrations, we may assemble the final result by multiplying the result of the bubble integration, namely (5.29) for $a_1 = 2$ and $a_2 = 1$, with the result of the two-loop region and expand up to the desired power in the dimensional regulator.

The above steps allow us to fix all remaining boundary terms in a purely analytical way. Interestingly, we find that a general ansatz for all boundary terms can be constructed,

$$\begin{split} b_{i} &= c(i,0) + \epsilon \log(y)c(i,1) + \epsilon^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2}\log^{2}(y)c(i,2,2) + \frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}c(i,2,1)\right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{3} \left(\frac{1}{6}\log^{3}(y)c(i,3,2) + \frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}\log(y)c(i,3,1) + \zeta(3)c(i,3,3)\right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{4} \left(\zeta(3)\log(y)c(i,4,4) + \frac{1}{24}\log^{4}(y)c(i,4,3) + \frac{1}{12}\pi^{2}\log^{2}(y)c(i,4,2) + \frac{1}{90}\pi^{4}c(i,4,1)\right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{5} \left(\frac{1}{2}\zeta(3)\log^{2}(y)c(i,5,5) + \frac{1}{120}\log^{5}(y)c(i,5,3) + \frac{1}{36}\pi^{2}\log^{3}(y)c(i,5,2) \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{90}\pi^{4}\log(y)c(i,5,1) + \zeta(5)c(i,5,6) + \frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}\zeta(3)c(i,5,4)\right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{6} \left(\frac{1}{6}\zeta(3)\log^{3}(y)c(i,6,6) + \log(y) \left(\frac{1}{6}\pi^{2}\zeta(3)c(i,6,5) + \zeta(5)c(i,6,8)\right) + \frac{1}{720}\log^{6}(y)c(i,6,4) \\ &+ \frac{1}{144}\pi^{2}\log^{4}(y)c(i,6,3) + \frac{1}{180}\pi^{4}\log^{2}(y)c(i,6,2) + \zeta(3)^{2}c(i,6,7) + \frac{1}{945}\pi^{6}c(i,6,1)\right) \end{split}$$

where we have multiplied by $(-s_{12})^{(3\epsilon)}$ and expanded up to ϵ^6 to make the ansatz more compact.

5.4 Massless three-loop ladder-box

It is interesting to see how we can extract the pure basis and solution for the massless three-loop ladder-box using our results from the massive one. An important feature of the SDE approach is that by correctly taking the $x \to 1$ limit [60], [70] of the solution of a specific integral family with n scales, one can arrive at the solution of the corresponding family with n-1 scales. In this particular case, taking the $x \to 1$ limit of the one-mass ladder-box will yield the solution for the massless one.

5.4.1 The $x \to 1$ limit

Taking the $x \to 1$ limit of the one-mass three-loop ladder-box amounts to performing the following manipulations. First, we rewrite our solution as an expansion in $\log(1-x)$ in the following form [60]

$$\mathbf{g} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \epsilon^n \sum_{i=0}^n \frac{1}{i!} \mathbf{c}_i^{(n)} \log^i (1-x)$$
(5.33)

where all coefficients $\mathbf{c}_i^{(n)}$ are finite in the limit $x \to 1$. This can be straightforwardly achieved, starting from the original solution (5.14) and transporting all letters l = 1 of GPLs to the right, according to their known shuffle properties. Having done that, we may define the regular part

of **g** at x = 1 as

$$\mathbf{g}_{reg} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \epsilon^n \mathbf{c}_0^{(n)} \tag{5.34}$$

and through \mathbf{g}_{reg} , the truncated part of \mathbf{g} as

$$\mathbf{g}_{trunc} = \mathbf{g}_{reg}(x=1). \tag{5.35}$$

If we return to the canonical DE (5.12) and single out the part singular at x = 1, then the full solution of the problem can be written schematically as follows

$$\mathbf{g} = e^{\epsilon \mathbf{M}_1 \log(1-x)} \mathbf{g}_{reg}.$$
 (5.36)

Because M_1 is by definition a square matrix, we can always find its Jordan matrix decomposition

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = \mathbf{S}_1 \mathbf{D}_1 \mathbf{S}_1^{-1}. \tag{5.37}$$

We may then define the resummation matrix \mathbf{R} as follows

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = e^{\epsilon \mathbf{M}_1 \log(1-x)} = \mathbf{S}_1 e^{\epsilon \mathbf{D}_1 \log(1-x)} \mathbf{S}_1^{-1}.$$
(5.38)

It is clear from (5.36) that when (5.38) acts on (5.34) we get the full solution of the problem. The resummation matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ has terms $(1-x)^{a_i\epsilon}$, with a_i the eigenvalues of \mathbf{M}_1 . Setting these terms equal to zero results in a purely numerical matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}} \to \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0.$$
 (5.39)

Now, finding the $x \to 1$ limit of the original solution (5.14) amounts to \mathbf{R}_0 acting on \mathbf{g}_{trunc} .

$$\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0 \mathbf{g}_{trunc}.$$
 (5.40)

5.4.2 From massive to massless

Remember that our goal is to find a pure basis for the massless three-loop ladder-box. From the massive one, the result of

$$\lim_{x \to 1} \mathbf{g}(x)$$

is an array of 83 pure basis elements. If we look at this result from the perspective of the massless three-loop ladder-box, some of these basis elements will be the 26 basis elements for the massless three-loop ladder-box and the rest will be reducible to the 26 massless basis elements or zero. We may distinguish them using IBP relations but first we may exploit an interesting feature of the $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ matrix in order to simplify the procedure.

It turns out that $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ is an *idempotent* matrix. Idempotent matrices have the following properties, all of which are satisfied by $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$:

1.
$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{X}^2$$

- 2. singular except the identity matrix I
- 3. eigenvalues of $\mathbf{X} = 0, 1$
- 4. $\operatorname{Trace}(\mathbf{X}) = \operatorname{Rank}(\mathbf{X})$
- 5. I X also idempotent

Since $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0 = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0^2$, if we act with $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ on $\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1}$ yields

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}^{2}\mathbf{g}_{trunc}$$

$$= \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}\mathbf{g}_{trunc}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}_{x \to 1}.$$
(5.41)

This relation, solved as an equation for each row, will yield the relations between the reducible pure basis elements and the massless basis elements as well as those who are equal to zero. We found 36 relations, which is expected since the rank of the purely numerical resummation matrix is 36, e.g.⁴

$$\tilde{g}_{24} = 0, \tag{5.42}$$

$$\tilde{g}_{49} = \frac{1}{2} (2\tilde{g}_{35} - \tilde{g}_{33}),$$

$$\tilde{g}_{80} = \frac{1}{36} (4\tilde{g}_1 - 6\tilde{g}_4 - 48\tilde{g}_5 + 192\tilde{g}_{10} + 128\tilde{g}_{14} - 72\tilde{g}_{15} - 96\tilde{g}_{22} - 12\tilde{g}_{33} - 192\tilde{g}_{36} + 3\tilde{g}_{40} - 12\tilde{g}_{42} - 9\tilde{g}_{43} - 8\tilde{g}_{48} - 24\tilde{g}_{53} - 12\tilde{g}_{55} + 36\tilde{g}_{72} - 6\tilde{g}_{75} - 108\tilde{g}_{76} - 12\tilde{g}_{77}).$$

$$(5.43)$$

The resulting relations can be verified in two ways.

- 1. Using IBP relations.
- 2. Using the analytic expressions for the $x \to 1$ limit.

These 36 relations leave 47 basis elements as potential candidates for the 26 basis elements of the massless three-loop ladder-box, namely

 $\{ \tilde{g}_{1}, \tilde{g}_{2}, \tilde{g}_{4}, \tilde{g}_{5}, \tilde{g}_{6}, \tilde{g}_{7}, \tilde{g}_{10}, \tilde{g}_{14}, \tilde{g}_{15}, \tilde{g}_{17}, \tilde{g}_{18}, \tilde{g}_{19}, \tilde{g}_{22}, \tilde{g}_{30}, \tilde{g}_{31}, \tilde{g}_{33}, \tilde{g}_{35}, \tilde{g}_{36}, \tilde{g}_{37}, \tilde{g}_{38}, \tilde{g}_{40}, \tilde{g}_{42}, \tilde{g}_{43}, \tilde{g}_{44}, \tilde{g}_{46}, \\ \tilde{g}_{48}, \tilde{g}_{53}, \tilde{g}_{55}, \tilde{g}_{58}, \tilde{g}_{59}, \tilde{g}_{62}, \tilde{g}_{63}, \tilde{g}_{64}, \tilde{g}_{65}, \tilde{g}_{66}, \tilde{g}_{67}, \tilde{g}_{68}, \tilde{g}_{69}, \tilde{g}_{70}, \tilde{g}_{71}, \tilde{g}_{72}, \tilde{g}_{75}, \tilde{g}_{76}, \tilde{g}_{77}, \tilde{g}_{81}, \tilde{g}_{82}, \tilde{g}_{83} \}$

To distinguish among them we may perform an IBP reduction. Since we want to extract the basis elements for the massless three-loop ladder-box from the basis elements of the massive one, we first substitute each \tilde{b}_i with its corresponding g_i and we set x = 1 explicitly. We now have a set of 47 pure basis elements written in terms of certain FI. Via IBP reduction, we may reduce these FI to a set of MI for the massless three-loop ladder-box, and we can see that there are 26 linearly independent pure basis elements.

5.4.3 Pure basis for the massless three-loop ladder-box

The resulting pure basis for the massless three-loop ladder-box in terms of the ones from the massive three-loop ladder-box are

 $\{\tilde{g}_{1}, \tilde{g}_{2}, \tilde{g}_{4}, \tilde{g}_{5}, \tilde{g}_{6}, \tilde{g}_{7}, \tilde{g}_{17}, \tilde{g}_{18}, \tilde{g}_{19}, \tilde{g}_{30}, \tilde{g}_{31}, \tilde{g}_{35}, \tilde{g}_{36}, \tilde{g}_{37}, \tilde{g}_{44}, \tilde{g}_{53}, \tilde{g}_{55}, \tilde{g}_{62}, \tilde{g}_{63}, \tilde{g}_{64}, \tilde{g}_{65}, \tilde{g}_{68}, \tilde{g}_{69}, \tilde{g}_{81}, \tilde{g}_{82}, \tilde{g}_{83}\}$

which can be written in terms of 26 MI as follows

$$\begin{split} g_1^0 &= s_{12} \epsilon^3 G_{0,0,2,2,2,0,1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_2^0 &= s_{23} \epsilon^3 G_{0,0,0,2,2,1,0,0,0,2,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_3^0 &= s_{12}^2 \epsilon^3 G_{0,2,2,1,0,0,2,0,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \end{split}$$

⁴In the following we use the notation \tilde{g}_i to indicate the $x \to 1$ limit of the corresponding g_i .

$$\begin{split} g_{4}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{3}(2\epsilon+1)G_{0,1,0,1,1,0,2,0,2,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{5}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{4}G_{1,0,0,2,1,2,1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{6}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{4}G_{0,1,0,2,1,2,1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{7}^{0} &= s_{12}^{3}\epsilon^{3}G_{2,2,2,0,0,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{9}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{4}G_{2,1,0,0,1,2,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{9}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{4}G_{2,1,0,0,1,2,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^{4}G_{1,0,0,2,1,2,1,0,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^{4}G_{1,0,0,2,1,2,1,0,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^{4}G_{0,1,0,2,1,2,0,1,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^{4}G_{0,1,0,2,1,2,0,1,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}s_{23}\epsilon^{4}G_{0,1,0,2,1,2,0,1,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,0,1,1,2,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,2,1,1,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{10}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{20}^{0} &= s_{12}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{21}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}s_{23}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,1,2,1,1,0,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{22}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{22}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{22}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{22}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}\epsilon^{5}(2\epsilon-1)G_{1,0,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{22}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,1,2,1,1,0,1,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{23}^{0} &= s_{12}^{2}\epsilon^{5}G_{1,0,1,1,2,1,1,0,1,1,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{24}^{0} &= s_{12}^{3}s_{23}\epsilon^{6}G_{1,1,1,1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{26}^{0} &= -s_{12}^{3}\epsilon^{6}G_{1,1,1,1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0}, \\ g_{26}^{0} &= -$$

The chosen normalisation of the FI is

$$G_{a_1,\dots,a_{15}}(\{p_j\},\varepsilon) = (-s_{12})^{3\varepsilon} \int \left(\prod_{l=1}^3 \frac{d^d k_l}{i\pi^{d/2}}\right) \frac{e^{3\varepsilon\gamma_E}}{D_1^{a_1}\dots D_{15}^{a_{15}}} \quad \text{with} \quad d = 4 - 2\varepsilon \tag{5.46}$$

with the propagators being the $x \to 1$ limit of (5.1).

5.5 Results

5.5.1 Analytic continuation

As already mentioned, our results are expressed in terms of GPLs up to weight six and thus can be numerically computed at high precision using automated tools, like GinaC [71]. The weight W=1...6 is identified as the number of letters l_i in $\mathcal{G}(l_i,...;x)$. For the evaluations to be fast and efficient the GPLs should not contain letters l_i along the integration path connecting the origin and the argument x, i.e. $l_i \notin [0, x]$. Although this holds true in the Euclidean region, this is not the case in the physical regions anymore. One can get over this problem by using fibration-basis techniques [65], [66] for changing appropriately the arguments of GPLs at each physical region and making them real-valued. We followed this procedure using HyperInt [65], aiming to obtain results in terms of real-valued GPLs which can be efficiently evaluated numerically, thus making them well-suited for phenomenological applications.

Regions	Letters	Argument	Letters	Argument
Euclidean	$\{0, 1, -1/y, 1/(1+y)\}$	x	—	_
s-channel	$\{0, 1, -1/y, 1/(1+y)\}$	x	—	—
t-channel	$\{0, 1, 1+y, -y\}$	1/x	$\{0,1\}$	-1/y
u-channel	$\{0, 1, 1+y, -y\}$	1/x	$\{0, -1\}$	y

Table 5.1: Structure of GPLs appearing in each of the 4 kinematic regions.

In order to make more clear the form of our solutions, we present in table 5.1 the arguments and the letters of the GPLs in the Euclidean and each of the physical regions after using HyperInt. Note that prior to the use of fibration-basis techniques, no GPLs with arguments depending on y are present. However, casting each GPL in a fibration basis which contains real-valued GPLs and explicit imaginary terms, produces GPLs with y-dependent argument as well.

In table 5.2 we provide an analysis regarding the number of GPLs that appear in each transcendental weight, for each kinematic region. In the same table we quote also the total number of GPLs and the timing for their numerical evaluation using **GinaC**. The number of GPLs is the same for the Euclidean and the s-channel due to the fact that the GPLs of the Euclidean region are already real valued in the s-channel and thus their is no need of using fibration-basis techniques for them.

Regions	W = 1	W = 2	W = 3	W = 4	W = 5	W = 6	Total	Timings (sec)
Euclidean	4	14	50	124	367	692	1251	39.0225769
s-channel	4	14	50	124	367	692	1251	39.2172529
t-channel	6	18	58	155	419	603	1259	62.0567800
u-channel	5	16	54	147	403	572	1197	55.1049640

Table 5.2: Number of GPLs per transcendental weight and per kinematic region, and timings for the numerical evaluation of the total GPLs. The quoted timings are obtained using the Ginsh command of PolyLogTools, running 1-core in a personal laptop (i7 processor, 8-core, 16GB RAM).

5.5.2 Validation

For the validation of our results we have performed various numerical checks in the Euclidean and physical regions. More specifically, for the Euclidean region we compared numerically every MI of each family with pySecDec [57] and Fiesta [58] and the analytic results of mastrolia for the point

$$s_{12} \to -7, \ y \to 3/7, \ x \to 1/4$$
 (5.47)

finding perfect agreement within the numerical accuracy provided by these programs.

Regarding our results for physical regions, obtaining numerical results for all MI using pySecDec or Fiesta can be rather challenging, and in some cases even impossible. To that end, in order to check that the analytic continuation was correct, we determined a specific set of low-sector MI (with up to 7 propagators), which contained the total set of GPLs at each region and we numerically compared them with pySecDec and Fiesta for the points

s-channel:
$$s_{12} \to 2, y \to -1/2, x \to 1/4$$
 (5.48)

t-channel:
$$s_{12} \to -2, y \to -3/2, x \to 5/3$$
 (5.49)

u-channel:
$$s_{12} \to -2, y \to 3/2, x \to 5/3.$$
 (5.50)

After properly choosing the branch of the analytic continuation, i.e. fixing the values of the auxiliary functions $\{\delta(1/x), \delta(-1/y), \delta(y)\}$ either equal to 1 or -1 coming from HyperInt, perfect agreement was found for every MI that we checked.

Analytic checks were performed against [69] at the limit $x \to 1$ in the Euclidean regions. The variable $y = \frac{s_{23}}{s_{12}}$ introduced earlier is equal to the dimensionless variable $x = \frac{t}{s}$ used therein.

Chapter 6

Pentagon integrals to arbitrary order in the dimensional regulator

We analytically calculate one-loop five-point MI, pentagon integrals, with up to one off-shell leg to arbitrary order in the dimensional regulator in $d = 4-2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions. A pure basis of MI is constructed for the pentagon family with one off-shell leg, satisfying a single-variable canonical differential equation in the SDE approach. The relevant boundary terms are given in closed form, including a hypergeometric function which can be expanded to arbitrary order in the dimensional regulator using the Mathematica package HypExp [56]. Thus one can obtain solutions of the canonical differential equation in terms of GPLs of arbitrary transcendental weight. As a special limit of the one-mass pentagon family, we obtain a fully analytic result for the massless pentagon family in terms of pure and universally transcendental functions. For both families we provide explicit solutions in terms of GPLs up to weight four. This chapter is based on original research that first appeared in [72].

6.1 Introduction

The study of one-loop five-point Feynman diagrams, known as pentagon integrals, has a long history. Their calculation has been treated using various methods and techniques, with results presented in several different forms. In [73], analytic results for pentagon integrals with up to one massive leg were given in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions in terms of transcendental functions of up to weight two. In [74], the pentagon integral with fully massless legs was studied in $d = 6 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions in the multi-Regge limit and analytic expressions up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ were obtained. Analytic results in terms of Appell hypergeometric functions and Gauss hypergeometric functions were obtained in [75] for the pentagon with massless internal and external lines. First results in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions in terms of GPLs [44] of up to weight three (or $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$) were obtained in [38] for the pentagon with up to one off-shell leg. One-fold integral representations were obtained in [76] in arbitrary space-time dimensions for the massless pentagon and in [77] for the pentagon with one off-shell leg in $d = 6 - 2\epsilon$ spacetime dimensions. More recently the massless pentagon has been implemented as part of the so-called *pentagon functions* up to weight four in [78], [79] and numerical results up to weight four in terms of generalised power-series expansion for the pentagon with one off-shell leg were presented in [80] for various phase-space points.

In this chapter we analytically calculate pentagon integrals with up to one off-shell leg in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions and express them in terms of GPLs of higher weights. We start with the pentagon with one massive leg and employ the method of differential equations in its modern, canonical incarnation [42], in conjunction with the SDE approach (SDE) [38]. This is achieved by constructing a *pure basis* of MI [40] for the pentagon with one massive

leg family. We find that all relevant boundary terms required for the solution of the canonical differential equation are given in closed form. This allows us to straightforwardly express our results in terms of GPLs of arbitrary transcendental weight. Having the solution of the pentagon with one off-shell leg at hand, we can obtain in an algorithmic way a fully analytical solution for the massless pentagon by taking the $x \to 1$ limit of the former result, with x being a dimensionless parameter that is introduced in the SDE approach. This is a special feature of the SDE approach first described in [38], [81] and in more details in [60].

With a mind to phenomenological applications of our results, we present explicit solutions up to transcendental weight four. Our results are complementary to [82], where analytic expressions for all two-loop planar pentabox families with one massive leg were recently presented. The combination of these results provides a key ingredient for the calculation of two-loop planar amplitudes for W+2 jets production at the LHC [83], [84].

6.2Construction of a pure basis

We define the pentagon family with one off-shell leg as

$$G_{a_1 a_2 a_3 a_4 a_5} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_1}{i \pi^{(d/2)}} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\epsilon \gamma_E}}{\mathcal{D}_1^{a_1} \mathcal{D}_2^{a_2} \mathcal{D}_3^{a_3} \mathcal{D}_4^{a_4} \mathcal{D}_5^{a_5}}$$
(6.1)

with

$$\mathcal{D}_1 = -(k_1)^2, \ \mathcal{D}_2 = -(k_1 + q_1)^2, \ \mathcal{D}_3 = -(k_1 + q_1 + q_2)^2$$
$$\mathcal{D}_4 = -(k_1 + q_1 + q_2 + q_3)^2, \ \mathcal{D}_5 = -(k_1 + q_1 + q_2 + q_3 + q_4)^2.$$
(6.2)

The kinematics consist of the massive momentum $\{q_3, q_3^2 = m^2\}$ and four massless momenta $\{q_i, q_i^2 = 0, \text{ for } i = 1, 2, 4, 5\}$. In the SDE notation, we parametrise the external momenta by inserting a dimensionless variable x in the following way¹

$$q_1 = xp_1, \ q_2 = xp_2, \ q_3 = p_{123} - xp_{12}, \ q_4 = -p_{123}, \ q_5 = -p_{1234}$$
 (6.3)

where all p_i momenta are now massless. The kinematics of the two momentum configurations are connected as follows²

$$m^{2} = (x - 1) (S_{12}x - S_{45}), \ s_{12} = S_{12}x^{2}, \ s_{23} = S_{23}x - S_{45}x + S_{45}, s_{34} = x (S_{12}(x - 1) + S_{34}), \ s_{45} = S_{45}, \ s_{51} = S_{51}x.$$
(6.4)

For reasons that will become clear shortly, we also define the square root of the Gram determinant of the external momenta as

$$\Delta_5 = \sqrt{\det[q_i \cdot q_j]}.\tag{6.5}$$

Using FIRE6 [28] for the IBP reduction we find that we need 13 MI to completely describe the vector space which consists of all FI that are included in (6.1). For the construction of the pure basis, the only non-trivial basis element is that of the top sector. The remaining basis elements can be constructed through the knowledge of the leading singularities of the relevant one-loop integrals. For the construction of the top sector basis element we follow the consensus developed in [80], [85], expressed here in the language of the Baikov representation of FI [86], [87]. More specifically, we choose as a candidate top sector basis element the following

$$\epsilon^2 \frac{\mathcal{P}_{11111}}{\Delta_5} \tilde{G}_{11111}$$
 (6.6)

¹We use the abbreviations $p_{ij} = p_i + p_j$ and $p_{ijk} = p_i + p_j + p_k$ and similarly for q later. ²We use the abbreviations $s_{ij} = q_{ij}^2$, $S_{ij} = p_{ij}^2$.

where \mathcal{P}_{11111} is the Baikov polynomial of G_{11111} and G_{11111} is the integrand of G_{11111} . By studying the maximal cut of (6.6) in the Baikov representation [88], we can see that it has the desired properties of being pure and universally transcendental. This result is a strong indicator that the uncut (6.6) will satisfy a canonical differential equation. This is due to the fact that as shown in [40], since cut and uncut integrals satisfy the same system of IBP identities and hence the same system of differential equations, if one is looking for a system of canonical differential equations, then the same canonical differential equations have to be satisfied both by the cut and the uncut integrals. Therefore, a pure master integral of uniform weight that satisfies a canonical differential equation, has to preserve these properties on its maximal cut. Thus, when one has identified an integral, or a combination of integrals, which in its maximal cut is expressed in terms of pure functions of uniform weight, then this integral, or combination of integrals, is a strong candidate for an element of the desired pure basis.

In [80], a pure basis for the pentagon family with one off-shell leg is given in the ancillary files. The top sector basis element (6.6) is the same as the one given in [80], albeit in a different notation.

For convenience we choose to express our pure basis in terms of specific FI in the form

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G} \tag{6.7}$$

where \mathbf{g} is the pure basis, \mathbf{G} is our specific choice of FI and \mathbf{T} is the matrix that connects the two bases. The pure basis \mathbf{g} is

$$g_1 = x \epsilon S_{51} G_{0,2,0,0,1}$$
(6.8)
$$g_2 = x \epsilon ((x - 1) S_{2,0} + S_{2,0}) C_{2,0,0,1}$$
(6.9)

$$g_2 = x\epsilon ((x - 1)S_{12} + S_{34}) G_{0,0,2,0,1}$$

$$g_3 = x^2 \epsilon S_{12} G_{2,0,1,0,0}$$
(6.10)

$$g_4 = \epsilon S_{45} G_{2,0,0,1,0} \tag{6.11}$$

$$g_5 = \epsilon \left(xS_{23} - xS_{45} + S_{45} \right) G_{0,2,0,1,0}$$

$$(6.12)$$

$$g_5 = \left(xS_{23} - xS_{45} + S_{45} \right) G_{0,2,0,1,0}$$

$$(6.13)$$

$$g_6 = (x - 1)\epsilon (xS_{12} - S_{45}) G_{0,0,2,1,0}$$

$$q_7 = x^3 \epsilon^2 S_{10} S_{71} G_{1,1,1,0,1}$$
(6.13)

$$g_7 = x^3 \epsilon^2 S_{12} S_{51} G_{1,1,1,0,1}$$

$$g_8 = x \epsilon^2 S_{45} S_{51} G_{1,1,0,1,1}$$
(6.14)
(6.15)

$$g_9 = x\epsilon^2 \left((x-1)S_{12} + S_{34} \right) S_{45}G_{1,0,1,1,1} \tag{6.16}$$

$$g_{10} = x\epsilon^{2} \left(-xS_{23}S_{34} + (x-1)S_{45}S_{34} - (x-1)S_{45}S_{51} + (x-1)S_{12} \left(x \left(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51} \right) - S_{45} \right) \right) G_{0,1,1,1,1}$$

$$(6.17)$$

$$g_{11} = x\epsilon^2 \left(S_{12} - S_{45}\right) G_{1,0,1,1,0}$$
(6.18)

$$g_{12} = x^2 \epsilon^2 S_{12} \left(x S_{23} - x S_{45} + S_{45} \right) G_{1,1,1,1,0} \tag{6.19}$$

$$g_{13} = \frac{x\epsilon^2}{32\sqrt{\hat{\Delta}}} \left(A_1 G_{0,1,1,1,1} + A_2 G_{1,0,1,1,1} + A_3 G_{1,1,0,1,1} + A_4 G_{1,1,1,0,1} + A_5 G_{1,1,1,1,0} + A_6 G_{1,1,1,1,1} \right)$$
(6.20)

with

$$\hat{\Delta} = S_{12}^2 \left(S_{23} - S_{51} \right)^2 + \left(S_{23} S_{34} + S_{45} \left(S_{51} - S_{34} \right) \right)^2 + 2S_{12} \left(S_{34} S_{45} S_{23} + \left(S_{34} + S_{45} \right) S_{51} S_{23} - S_{23}^2 S_{34} + S_{45} \left(S_{34} - S_{51} \right) S_{51} \right)$$
(6.21)

and

$$A_{1} = (S_{12}S_{23} - S_{34}S_{23} + S_{34}S_{45} - (S_{12} + S_{45})S_{51}) \times (S_{34}(S_{23}x - S_{45}x + S_{45}) + S_{45}S_{51}(x - 1) - S_{12}(x - 1)((-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})x - S_{45}))$$

$$A_{2} = S_{45}(S_{34}(S_{23}S_{34} + S_{45}(S_{51} - S_{34})) - S_{12}^{2}(S_{23} - S_{51})(x - 1))$$

$$(6.22)$$

$$+S_{12}\left(S_{23}S_{34}(x-2)+S_{34}\left(-\left(S_{45}+2S_{51}\right)x+S_{45}+S_{51}\right)-S_{45}S_{51}(x-1)\right)\right)$$
(6.23)

$$A_{3} = -S_{45}S_{51}\left(S_{12}\left(S_{23}(2x-1)-2\left(S_{45}+S_{51}\right)x+2S_{45}+S_{51}\right)+S_{23}S_{34}+S_{45}\left(S_{51}-S_{34}\right)\right)$$
(6.24)

$$A_{4} = S_{12}S_{51}(-x)\left(S_{23}S_{34}x-S_{45}S_{34}(x-2)+2S_{12}S_{45}(x-1)+S_{45}S_{51}(x-2)+S_{12}\left(S_{51}-S_{23}\right)x\right)$$
(6.25)

$$A_{5} = S_{12}x \left(S_{34}S_{23}^{2}x + S_{45}^{2}\left(S_{34} - S_{51}\right)(x - 1) + S_{23}S_{45}\left(-2S_{34}x + S_{51}(x - 2) + S_{34}\right) + S_{12}\left(S_{23}^{2}(-x) + \left(S_{45} + S_{51}\right)S_{23}x + S_{45}S_{51}(x - 1) - S_{45}S_{23}\right)\right)$$

$$A_{6} = -2S_{12}S_{45}S_{51}x \left(S_{34}\left(S_{23}x - S_{45}x + S_{45}\right) + S_{45}S_{51}(x - 1) - S_{12}(x - 1)\left(\left(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51}\right)x - S_{45}\right)\right)$$

$$(6.26)$$

$$A_{6} = -2S_{12}S_{45}S_{51}x \left(S_{34}\left(S_{23}x - S_{45}x + S_{45}\right) + S_{45}S_{51}(x - 1) - S_{12}(x - 1)\left(\left(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51}\right)x - S_{45}\right)\right)$$

$$(6.27)$$

The particular choice of FI in terms of which the above pure basis is written is the following

$$\mathbf{G} = \{G_{0,2,0,0,1}, G_{0,0,2,0,1}, G_{2,0,1,0,0}, G_{2,0,0,1,0}, G_{0,2,0,1,0}, G_{0,0,2,1,0}, G_{1,1,1,0,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,0}, G_{1,1,1,1,0}, G_{1,1,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1}, G_{1,0,1,1}$$

6.3 Results

The ultimate check that a candidate pure basis of MI has the desired properties is the derivation of its differential equation [42]. In the SDE approach [38], we derive differential equations with respect to the dimensionless parameter x, regardless of the number of scales of the problem. In this particular case, the candidate pure basis which was constructed in the previous section leads to the following canonical differential equation

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{i=1}^{11} \frac{\mathbf{M}_i}{x - l_i} \right) \mathbf{g} \tag{6.29}$$

where **g** is the array of 13 pure MI, \mathbf{M}_i are the residue matrices which consist solely of rational numbers and l_i are the letters of the alphabet. The alphabet of the pentagon family with one off-shell leg has the following 11 letters,

$$l_{1} \to 0, l_{2} \to \frac{S_{12} - S_{34}}{S_{12}}, l_{3} \to \frac{S_{45}}{S_{45} - S_{23}}, l_{4} \to 1, l_{5} \to \frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}, l_{6} \to \frac{S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51}}{S_{12}}, l_{7} \to \frac{S_{45}}{-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51}}, l_{8} \to \frac{S_{45}}{S_{34} + S_{45}}, l_{9} \to \frac{S_{12} + S_{23}}{S_{12}}, l_{10} \to \frac{\sqrt{\Delta} + S_{12}S_{23} - S_{23}S_{34} - 2S_{12}S_{45} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{12}S_{51} - S_{45}S_{51}}{2S_{12}(S_{23} - S_{45} - S_{51})}, l_{11} \to \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta} + S_{12}S_{23} - S_{23}S_{34} - 2S_{12}S_{45} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{12}S_{51} - S_{45}S_{51}}{2S_{12}(S_{23} - S_{45} - S_{51})}$$

$$(6.30)$$

with Δ being

$$\Delta = (S_{23}S_{34} + S_{45}(S_{51} - S_{34}) + S_{12}(-S_{23} + 2S_{45} + S_{51}))^2 - 4S_{12}S_{45}(S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51})(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51}).$$
(6.31)

Notice that here we follow [60], [81], [82] for the definition of the letters of the alphabet, which is different from the standard notation [45]–[47]. Usually the so-called d log form of a system of canonical differential equations is given as $d\mathbf{g}(\vec{x},\epsilon) = \epsilon \left(\sum_{i} \mathbf{M}_{i} d \log W_{i}(\vec{x})\right) \mathbf{g}(\vec{x},\epsilon)$, where the alphabet $W_{i}(\vec{x})$ is in terms of rational or algebraic functions of the independent variables. The standard d log form is equivalent to (6.29) for $W_{i}(\vec{x}) = x - l_{i}$. This differential equation can be solved through recursive iterations up to the desired order in the dimensional regulator ϵ . The only further input that is required are the boundary terms. In the SDE approach, we choose as a lower integration boundary x = 0, so that the result can be expressed directly in terms of GPLs. Thus the necessary boundary terms are given by the limit $x \to 0$ of our chosen basis of MI.

Using the methods described in chapter 3, we define the *resummation matrix* \mathbf{R} as follows

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{S}e^{\epsilon \mathbf{D}\log(x)}\mathbf{S}^{-1} \tag{6.32}$$

where **D**, **S** are defined through the Jordan decomposition³ of the residue matrix corresponding to the letter $\{0\}$, **M**₁,

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = \mathbf{S}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{S}^{-1} \tag{6.33}$$

Furthermore, using the expansion-by-regions method [51] we obtain information for the $x \to 0$ limit of the FI in terms of which we express the pure basis of MI (6.7),

$$G_i \mathop{=}\limits_{x \to 0} \sum_j x^{b_j + a_j \epsilon} G_i^{(b_j + a_j \epsilon)}.$$

$$(6.34)$$

where a_j and b_j are integers and G_i are the individual members of the basis **G** of FI in (6.7), by making use of the publicly available FIESTA4 [58] code. As explained in chapter 3, we can construct the relation

$$\mathbf{Rb} = \lim_{x \to 0} \mathbf{TG} \Big|_{\mathcal{O}\left(x^{0+a_j\epsilon}\right)}$$
(6.35)

where $\mathbf{b} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \epsilon^i \mathbf{b}_0^{(i)}$ are the boundary terms that we need to compute. The right-handside of (6.35) implies that, apart from the terms $x^{a_i\epsilon}$ coming from (6.34), we expand around x = 0, keeping only terms of order x^0 . From (6.35) we can straightforwardly obtain all but one boundary terms without any further computation. This is due to the fact that all but one boundary terms are either given in terms of two-point functions or zero. The seventh basis element requires the computation of the leading region for G_{11101} which corresponds to $G_7^{-3-2\epsilon}$ in the notation of (6.34). Through its Feynman parametrization this region can be computed in terms of a hypergeometric function. All boundary terms in closed form are as follows

$$\mathbf{b}_1 = \frac{e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \left(-S_{51}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.36}$$

$$\mathbf{b}_2 = \frac{e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.37}$$

$$\mathbf{b}_3 = \frac{e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \left(-S_{12}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.38}$$

$$\mathbf{b}_4 = \frac{e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \left(-S_{45}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.39}$$

$$\mathbf{b}_5 = \frac{e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \left(-S_{45}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.40}$$

$$\mathbf{b}_{6} = \frac{e^{\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \left(-S_{45}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^{2} \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.41}$$

$$b_{7} = -\frac{e^{\gamma_{E}\epsilon}\epsilon(-S_{12})^{-\epsilon}\Gamma(-\epsilon)^{2}\Gamma(\epsilon+1){}_{2}F_{1}\left(1,-\epsilon;1-\epsilon;\frac{S_{12}-S_{34}+S_{51}}{S_{51}}\right)}{\Gamma(-2\epsilon)}$$
(6.42)

 $^{^{3}}$ For an earlier use of the Jordan decomposition method see also [67], [68]. We thank Prof. P. Mastrolia for bringing these references to our attention.

$$\mathbf{b}_8 = \frac{2e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} \left(-S_{51}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)} \tag{6.43}$$

$$b_{9} = \frac{e^{\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \left(-S_{12}\right)^{-\epsilon} \left(2 \left(-S_{12}\right)^{\epsilon} - \left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right)^{\epsilon}\right) \left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right)^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^{2} \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)}$$
(6.44)

$$b_{10} = \frac{2e^{\gamma_E\epsilon} (S_{12} - S_{34})^{-\epsilon} ((S_{12} - S_{34})^{\epsilon} - (-S_{51})^{\epsilon}) (-S_{51})^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1 - \epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon + 1)}{\Gamma(1 - 2\epsilon)}$$
(6.45)

$$\mathbf{b}_{11} = 0 \tag{6.46}$$

$$b_{12} = \frac{e^{\gamma_E \epsilon} (-S_{12})^{-\epsilon} \Gamma(1-\epsilon)^2 \Gamma(\epsilon+1)}{\Gamma(1-2\epsilon)}$$
(6.47)

$$\mathbf{b}_{13} = 0. \tag{6.48}$$

Using standard algorithms as implemented in e.g. Mathematica, and with the additional help of the public package HypExp [56] for the series expansion of the hypergeometric function, we can obtain exact expressions for all boundary terms up to arbitrary order in ϵ . Therefore we can trivially obtain solutions of (6.29) in terms of GPLs up to arbitrary weight.

In this particular work, we present explicit results up to weight four, which can be written in compact form as

$$\mathbf{g} = \epsilon^{0} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \epsilon \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{2} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{3} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{4} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abcd} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{M}_{d} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)}$$

$$+ \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(4)} \right)$$

$$(6.49)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{ab...} := \mathcal{G}(l_{a}, l_{b}, \dots; x)$$

with the generalisation to higher orders in ϵ being straightforward.

6.4 Massless pentagon family

Using the methods described in chapter 3, we can readily obtain a pure basis of 11 MI for the massless pentagon family from the $x \to 1$ limit of (6.49). The results are by construction in terms of GPLs up to weight four, however following the arguments of the last section, we can obtain results in terms of GPLs of arbitrary weight.

To be more specific, the $x \to 1$ limit of the solution for the pentagon with one off-shell leg can be given by the following formula

$$\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \mathbf{R}_0 \mathbf{g}_{trunc} \tag{6.50}$$

with $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ being a purely numerical matrix which is constructed from the resummation matrix

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = \tilde{\mathbf{S}} e^{\epsilon \tilde{\mathbf{D}} \log(1-x)} \tilde{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}$$
(6.51)

after setting all terms of $(1 - x)^{a_i \epsilon}$ in $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ equal to zero⁴. The matrices $\tilde{\mathbf{S}}, \tilde{\mathbf{D}}$ are constructed through the Jordan decomposition of the residue matrix corresponding to the letter {1}, which in this case is \mathbf{M}_4 , i.e. $\mathbf{M}_4 = \tilde{\mathbf{S}} \tilde{\mathbf{D}} \tilde{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}$.

⁴Here $a_i = \{-1, 0\}$ are the eigenvalues of \mathbf{M}_4 .

The second input in (6.50), \mathbf{g}_{trunc} , is just the regular part of the solution (6.49) at $x \to 1$ where we have set x = 1 explicitly [60].

6.5 Numerical checks

We have performed various numerical checks of our results. Firstly, for the pentagon family with one leg off-shell we compared our results with pySecDec [57] for the Euclidean point

$$S_{12} \to -2, \ S_{23} \to -3, \ S_{34} \to -5, \ S_{45} \to -7, \ S_{51} \to -11, \ x \to \frac{1}{4}$$
 (6.52)

For numerical results in physical regions, we refer to the detailed discussion in section 7.5 of chapter 7. Using the methods described therein, we managed to analytically continue our results for the pentagon family with one-off shell leg and compare with the numerical results of [80] for all the physical points that are provided there.

For the massless pentagon family, we have performed numerical checks against pySecDec [57] for the Euclidean point

$$S_{12} \to -2, \ S_{23} \to -3, \ S_{34} \to -5, \ S_{45} \to -7, \ S_{51} \to -11$$
 (6.53)

For the numerical evaluation of the relevant GPLs, we utilised Ginac [71], [89] through the Mathematica interface provided by PolyLogTools [66]. The latter package was also used extensively for the manipulation of the resulting GPLs. For all checks that were carried out we report excellent agreement.

6.6 Conclusions

In this chapter we have presented the analytic calculation of pentagon integrals with up to one off-shell leg in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ space-time dimensions in terms of GPLs of higher weights. We constructed a candidate pure basis of MI for the pentagon family with one off-shell leg following the ideas of [80], [85] and we verified that it satisfies a canonical differential equation [42] in the SDE approach [38].

We have demonstrated that all relevant boundary terms are either zero or given in closed form. This allows one to straightforwardly obtain analytic solutions of the canonical differential equation for the pentagon family with one off-shell leg in terms of GPLs [44] of arbitrary transcendental weight. As a by-product of this result, we were able to obtain analytic expressions for the massless pentagon family in terms of GPLs, as well as a pure basis of MI, after taking the $x \to 1$ limit of the former result in an algorithmic way [60].

Chapter 7

Two-loop planar Penta-Box master integrals with one massive leg

We present analytic expressions in terms of polylogarithmic functions for all three families of planar two-loop five-point Master Integrals with one off-shell leg. The calculation is based on the Simplified Differential Equations approach. The results are relevant to the study of many $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes of interest at the LHC, especially for the leading-color W + 2 jets production. This chapter is based on original research done in collaboration with D.D. Canko and C. G. Papadopoulos and appeared first in [82].

7.1 Introduction

As we advance on the third decade of the 21st century, the established Standard Model of Particle Physics faces serious and interesting challenges from the domains of Cosmology and Astrophysics. One of those challenges for example is the particle nature of Dark Matter, and whether its dynamics can be described through the introduction of one or several new particles, thus imposing the need to extend our understanding of Particle Physics. The major experiments of Particle Physics however, spearheaded by the LHC program at CERN, have yet to reveal any clear signs of New Physics that would require the extension of the established Standard Model.

To make progress in the current situation, a *precision* [6] program has been initiated, in part because it is clear by now that any New Physics at the LHC data will appear in the form of small deviations from theoretical predictions, but also due to the increased precision of the accumulated experimental data. Thus the need arises for equally precise theoretical predictions, in order to be able to exploit the full discovery potential of the LHC and its future High Luminosity upgrade.

From a theoretical standpoint, it is estimated that the LHC Run 3 and the High Luminosity Run scheduled to commence after it, will require at least Next-to-Next-to-Leading-Order (NNLO) corrections for the QCD dominated processes [90]–[92]. A major ingredient of these higher order perturbative corrections is the calculation of the relevant scattering amplitudes for specific scattering processes, and within these amplitudes, complicated two-loop Feynman Diagrams need to be computed. Through the Feynman rules of quantum field theory, we can relate these two-loop Feynman Diagrams to two-loop Feynman Integrals, which are the topic of this contribution.

The current frontier in two-loop calculations is in $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes. For massless external particles and massless internal propagators, all planar [81] and non-planar Feynman Integrals have been calculated [93]. First results for $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes involving one massive external particle for planar topologies were presented in [81] a few years ago, with the full list of all two-loop planar Feynman Integrals relevant to $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes with one off-shell leg appearing recently using a numerical approach [80]. Here, we will present analytic results for all planar two-loop Feynman Integrals with one off-shell leg in terms of polylogarithmic functions up to transcendental weight four [82].

7.2 Integral families and kinematics

There are three families of Master Integrals, labelled as P_1 , P_2 and P_3 , see Fig. 7.1, associated to planar two-loop five-point amplitudes with one off-shell leg. We adopt the definition of the scattering kinematics following [80], where external momenta q_i , i = 1...5 satisfy $\sum_{i=1}^{5} q_i = 0$, $q_1^2 \equiv p_{1s}$, $q_i^2 = 0$, i = 2...5, and the six independent invariants are given by $\{q_1^2, s_{12}, s_{23}, s_{34}, s_{45}, s_{15}\}$, with $s_{ij} := (q_i + q_j)^2$.

In the SDE approach [38] the momenta are re-parametrized by introducing a dimensionless variable x, as follows

$$q_1 \to p_{123} - xp_{12}, \ q_2 \to p_4, \ q_3 \to -p_{1234}, \ q_4 \to xp_1$$
 (7.1)

where the new momenta p_i , i = 1...5 satisfy now $\sum_{1}^{5} p_i = 0$, $p_i^2 = 0$, i = 1...5, whereas $p_{i...j} := p_i + ... + p_j$. The set of independent invariants is given by $\{S_{12}, S_{23}, S_{34}, S_{45}, S_{51}, x\}$, with $S_{ij} := (p_i + p_j)^2$. The explicit mapping between the two sets of invariants is given by

$$q_1^2 = (1-x)(S_{45} - S_{12}x), \ s_{12} = (S_{34} - S_{12}(1-x))x, \ s_{23} = S_{45}, \ s_{34} = S_{51}x, s_{45} = S_{12}x^2, \ s_{15} = S_{45} + (S_{23} - S_{45})x$$
(7.2)

and as usual the x = 1 limit corresponds to the on-shell kinematics.

The corresponding Feynman Integrals are defined through

$$G_{a_{1}\cdots a_{11}}^{P_{1}} := e^{2\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2a_{1}}(k_{1}+q_{1})^{2a_{2}}(k_{1}+q_{12})^{2a_{3}}(k_{1}+q_{123})^{2a_{4}}}{1} \\ \times \frac{1}{k_{2}^{2a_{5}}(k_{2}+q_{123})^{2a_{6}}(k_{2}+q_{1234})^{2a_{7}}(k_{1}-k_{2})^{2a_{8}}(k_{1}+q_{1234})^{2a_{9}}(k_{2}+q_{1})^{2a_{10}}(k_{2}+q_{12})^{2a_{11}}}, \quad (7.3)$$

$$G_{a_{1}\cdots a_{11}}^{P_{2}} := e^{2\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2a_{1}}(k_{1}-q_{1234})^{2a_{2}}(k_{1}-q_{234})^{2a_{3}}(k_{1}-q_{34})^{2a_{4}}}{1} \\ \times \frac{1}{k_{2}^{2a_{5}}(k_{2}-q_{34})^{2a_{6}}(k_{2}-q_{4})^{2a_{7}}(k_{1}-k_{2})^{2a_{8}}(k_{2}-q_{1234})^{2a_{9}}(k_{2}-q_{234})^{2a_{10}}(k_{1}-q_{4})^{2a_{11}}}, \quad (7.4)$$

$$G_{a_{1}\cdots a_{11}}^{P_{3}} := e^{2\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2a_{1}}(k_{1}+q_{2})^{2a_{2}}(k_{1}+q_{23})^{2a_{3}}(k_{1}+q_{234})^{2a_{4}}}{1} \times \frac{1}{k_{2}^{2a_{5}}(k_{2}+q_{234})^{2a_{6}}(k_{2}-q_{1})^{2a_{7}}(k_{1}-k_{2})^{2a_{8}}(k_{1}-q_{1})^{2a_{9}}(k_{2}+q_{2})^{2a_{10}}(k_{2}+q_{23})^{2a_{11}}},$$
(7.5)

where $q_{i...j} := q_i + ... + q_j$.

The P_1 family consists of 74 Master integrals. For P_2 and P_3 the corresponding numbers are 75 and 86. This can easily be verified using standard IBP reduction software, such as FIRE6 [28] and KIRA [29], [94]. The top-sector integrals are shown in Fig. 7.1.



Figure 7.1: The two-loop diagrams representing the top-sector of the planar pentabox family P_1 , P_2 and P_3 . All external momenta are incoming.

7.3 Canonical basis and Differential Equations

In order to express all integrals given by Eqs.(7.3-7.5), the easiest way is to define a basis that satisfy a canonical differential equation. By basis we mean a combination of Feynman Integrals with coefficients depending on the set of invariants and the dimensionality of spacetime $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$. Let us assume that such a basis is known, then the DE is written in general as

$$d\vec{g} = \epsilon \sum_{a} d\log\left(W_{a}\right) \tilde{M}_{a}\vec{g}$$
(7.6)

where \vec{g} represents a vector containing all elements of the canonical basis, W_a are functions of the kinematics and \tilde{M}_a are matrices independent of the kinematical invariants, whose matrix elements are pure rational numbers. Notice that Eq. (7.6) is a multi-variable equation and in the case under consideration the differentiation is understood with respect to the six-dimensional array of independent kinematical invariants, $\{q_1^2, s_{12}, s_{23}, s_{34}, s_{45}, s_{15}\}$. Since W_a are in general algebraic functions of the kinematical invariants a straightforward integration of Eq. (7.6) in terms of generalized poly-logarithms is not an easy task.

In the SDE approach though, Eq. 7.6 takes the much simpler form

$$\frac{d\vec{g}}{dx} = \epsilon \sum_{b} \frac{1}{x - l_b} M_b \vec{g} \tag{7.7}$$

where M_b are again rational matrices independent of the kinematics, and the so-called letters, l_b , are independent of x, depending only on the five invariants, $\{S_{12}, S_{23}, S_{34}, S_{45}, S_{51}\}$. Notice that the number of letters in x is generally smaller than the number of letters in Eq.(7.6). Since the Eq. (7.7) is a Fuchsian system of ordinary differential equations, it is straightforwardly integrated in terms of Goncharov poly-logarithms, $\mathcal{G}(l_{b_1}, l_{b_2}, \ldots; x)$.

Over the last years much effort has been devoted to construct the canonical basis, or at least an educated guess of it, and then verify the form of Eq. 7.6 through standard differentiation and IBP reduction. We refer to section 4 of reference [80] for a thorough discussion of relevant work in the literature. In principle the knowledge of the canonical basis is enough within the SDE approach to derive the form of the corresponding canonical differential equation, Eq. (7.7), by explicitly differentiating with respect to x and using IBP identities to express the resulting combinations of Feynman integrals in terms of basis elements. In fact, as we will show later, since the matrices entering in Eq. (7.7) are independent of the kinematics, one can use solutions of IBP identities derived by assigning integer values to the kinematics, except x. Using nowadays packages such as FIRE6 and KIRA the above-mentioned IBP-reduction becomes a computationally trivial exercise. Notice that there is no need to use rational reconstruction methods, as far as the derivation of Eq. (7.7) is concerned.

Knowing from reference [80], the explicit form of the matrices M_a and of the letters W_a in terms of the variables $p_{1s}, s_{12}, s_{23}, s_{34}, s_{45}, s_{15}$ $(p_{1s} \equiv q_1^2)$, in Eq. (7.6), we simply derive the data



Figure 7.2: The two-loop diagram representing the decoupling basis element.

needed in Eq. (7.7), based on the following identity,

$$\sum_{a} \frac{d \log \left(W_{a}\right)}{d x} \tilde{M}_{a} \equiv \sum_{b} \frac{1}{x - l_{b}} M_{b}$$

$$\tag{7.8}$$

making use of Eq. (7.2). For P_2 and P_3 families Eq. (7.8) is applicable after eliminating a special element basis whose leading singularity is proportional to a non-rationalizable square root in terms of x. The corresponding integral is shown in Fig. 7.2 and it is the same for the two families. It is already known from the double-box families with two off-shell legs [95], P_{23} . Since our task is to evaluate all basis elements up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$ and since the basis element expansion of the above integral starts at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$, it effectively decouples from the differential equation Eq. (7.7).

The alphabet for the three planar families considered in this chapter consists of 32 letters in total, namely

$$\begin{split} l_1 & \rightarrow 0, l_2 \rightarrow 1, l_3 \rightarrow \frac{S_{12} + S_{23}}{S_{12}}, l_4 \rightarrow 1 - \frac{S_{34}}{S_{12}}, l_5 \rightarrow \frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}, l_6 \rightarrow -\frac{S_{45}}{S_{23} - S_{45}}, \\ l_7 & \rightarrow \frac{S_{45} - S_{23}}{S_{12}}, l_8 \rightarrow \frac{S_{45}}{S_{34} + S_{45}}, l_9 \rightarrow -\frac{S_{51}}{S_{12}}, l_{10} \rightarrow \frac{S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51}}{S_{12}}, \\ l_{11} & \rightarrow \frac{S_{45}}{-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51}}, l_{12} \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_1} + S_{12}S_{23} - S_{23}S_{34} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{12}S_{51} - S_{45}S_{51}}{2S_{12}S_{23} + 2S_{12}S_{34} - 2S_{12}S_{51}}, \\ l_{13} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_1} + S_{12}S_{23} - S_{23}S_{34} - 2S_{12}S_{45} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{12}S_{51} - S_{45}S_{51}}{2S_{12}S_{23} - 2S_{12}S_{45} - S_{12}S_{51}}, \\ l_{14} & \rightarrow \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_1} - S_{23}S_{34} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{45}S_{51} - S_{12}(S_{51} - S_{23})}{2S_{12}(S_{23} - S_{45} - S_{51})}, \\ l_{15} & \rightarrow \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_1} - S_{23}S_{34} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{45}S_{51} - S_{12}(-S_{23} + 2S_{45} + S_{51})}{2S_{12}(S_{23} - S_{45} - S_{51})}, \\ l_{16} & \rightarrow \frac{S_{12}S_{45} - \sqrt{\Delta_2}}{S_{12}S_{34} + S_{12}S_{45}}, \\ l_{17} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_2} + S_{12}S_{45}}{S_{12}S_{34} + S_{12}S_{45}}, \\ l_{19} & \rightarrow \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_3} - S_{23}S_{34} + S_{34}S_{45} - S_{45}S_{51} - S_{12}(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})}{2S_{12}(S_{23} - 2S_{12}S_{45} - S_{51})}, \\ l_{20} & \rightarrow \frac{S_{45}}{S_{12} - S_{34}}, \\ l_{21} & \rightarrow -\frac{S_{45}}{S_{51}}, l_{22} \rightarrow \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_1} - S_{12}S_{23} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{12}S_{51} + S_{45}S_{51}}}{2S_{12}S_{51}}, \\ l_{24} & \rightarrow \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_4} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})}{2S_{12}S_{51}}}, \\ l_{25} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_4} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})}}{2S_{12}S_{51}}}, \\ l_{25} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_4} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})}}{2S_{12}S_{51}}}, \\ l_{25} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_4} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})}}{2S_{12}S_{51}}}, \\ l_{25} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_4} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51})}}{2S_{12}S_{51}}}, \\ l_{25} & \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_4} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{$$

$$l_{26} \rightarrow \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_1} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + 2S_{45} + S_{51})}{2S_{12}(S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51})},$$

$$l_{27} \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_1} + S_{23}S_{34} - S_{34}S_{45} + S_{45}S_{51} + S_{12}(-S_{23} + 2S_{45} + S_{51})}{2S_{12}(S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51})},$$

$$l_{28} \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_5} + S_{12}S_{45}}{S_{12}(S_{45} - S_{23})}, l_{29} \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_5} - S_{12}S_{45}}{S_{12}(S_{23} - S_{45})}, l_{30} \rightarrow \frac{(S_{23} - S_{45})S_{45}}{S_{12}S_{23} + (S_{23} - S_{45})S_{45}},$$

$$l_{31} \rightarrow \frac{-2S_{45}^3 + 2S_{23}S_{45}^2 - S_{34}S_{45}^2 - S_{51}S_{45}^2 + S_{23}S_{34}S_{45} - S_{12}(S_{51} - S_{23})S_{45} - \sqrt{\Delta_6}}{2(S_{12}S_{23}(S_{34} + S_{45}) + (S_{23} - S_{45})S_{45}(S_{34} + S_{45}) - S_{12}S_{45}S_{51})},$$

$$l_{32} \rightarrow \frac{-2S_{45}^3 + 2S_{23}S_{45}^2 - S_{34}S_{45}^2 - S_{51}S_{45}^2 + S_{23}S_{34}S_{45} + S_{12}(S_{23} - S_{51})S_{45} + \sqrt{\Delta_6}}{2(S_{12}S_{23}(S_{34} + S_{45}) + (S_{23} - S_{45})S_{45}(S_{34} + S_{45}) - S_{12}S_{45}S_{51})},$$

$$(7.9)$$

with

$$\Delta_{1} = S_{12}^{2} \left(S_{23} - S_{51} \right)^{2} + \left(S_{23} S_{34} + S_{45} \left(S_{51} - S_{34} \right) \right)^{2} + 2S_{12} \left(S_{45} S_{51} S_{23} + S_{34} \left(S_{45} + S_{51} \right) S_{23} - S_{23}^{2} S_{34} + S_{45} \left(S_{34} - S_{51} \right) S_{51} \right),$$

$$\Delta_{2} = S_{12} S_{24} S_{45} \left(-S_{12} + S_{24} + S_{45} \right)$$

$$(7.10)$$

$$\Delta_{3} = S_{12} S_{24} S_{45} \left(-S_{12} + S_{24} + S_{45} \right)$$

$$(7.11)$$

$$\Delta_{3} = S_{12}^{2} \left(-S_{23} + S_{45} + S_{51} \right)^{2} + \left(S_{23}S_{34} + S_{45} \left(S_{51} - S_{34} \right) \right)^{2}$$

$$(1.11)$$

$$-2S_{12}\left(S_{23} - S_{45} - S_{51}\right)\left(S_{23}S_{34} - S_{45}\left(S_{34} + S_{51}\right)\right), \tag{7.12}$$

$$\Delta_{4} = \left(S_{23}^{2} - 2\left(S_{45} + S_{51}\right)S_{23} + \left(S_{45} - S_{51}\right)^{2}\right)S_{12}^{2} + \left(S_{23}S_{34} + S_{45}\left(S_{51} - S_{34}\right)\right)^{2} - 2\left(S_{34}S_{23}^{2} + S_{45}S_{51}S_{23} - S_{34}\left(2S_{45} + S_{51}\right)S_{23} + S_{45}\left(S_{34} - S_{51}\right)\left(S_{45} - S_{51}\right)\right)S_{12}, \quad (7.13)$$

$$\Delta_{5} = S_{12}S_{23}\left(S_{12} + S_{23} - S_{45}\right)S_{45}, \quad (7.14)$$

$$\Delta_6 = S_{45}^2 \Delta_1. \tag{7.15}$$

Each family is characterised by a subset of the full set of letters. In P_1 the following 19 letters appear,

$$\{l_1, l_2, l_3, l_4, l_5, l_6, l_7, l_8, l_9, l_{10}, l_{11}, l_{12}, l_{13}, l_{14}, l_{15}, l_{16}, l_{17}, l_{18}, l_{19}\},$$

$$(7.16)$$

in P_2 the following 25 letters appear,

$$\{l_1, l_2, l_3, l_4, l_5, l_6, l_7, l_8, l_9, l_{10}, l_{11}, l_{12}, l_{13}, l_{14}, l_{15}, l_{18}, l_{19}, l_{20}, l_{21}, l_{22}, l_{23}, l_{24}, l_{25}, l_{26}, l_{27}\},$$
(7.17)

and finally in P_3 the following 25 letters appear,

 $\{l_1, l_2, l_3, l_4, l_5, l_6, l_7, l_8, l_{10}, l_{11}, l_{13}, l_{15}, l_{20}, l_{21}, l_{22}, l_{23}, l_{24}, l_{25}, l_{26}, l_{27}, l_{28}, l_{29}, l_{30}, l_{31}, l_{32}\}.$ (7.18)

7.4 Boundary conditions and analytic expressions

Obtaining boundary terms for the solution of the canonical SDE requires the computation of the $x \to 0$ limit for all basis elements. Following the computational framework as described in chapter 3, we define the resummation matrix **R** for each planar family. For families P_2 and P_3 , despite the fact that two basis elements effectively decouple and are already known in the literature, we calculate their boundary terms as well, since they contribute to other basis elements.

Through IBP reduction, we can express the pure basis \mathbf{g} in terms of a specific choice of MI \mathbf{G} ,

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G} \tag{7.19}$$

Using the method of expansion-by-regions, we can obtain information for the asymptotic behaviour of the Feynman integrals in terms of which we express the pure basis of Master integrals (7.19) in the limit $x \to 0$,

$$G_i \mathop{=}\limits_{x \to 0} \sum_j x^{b_j + a_j \epsilon} G_i^{(b_j + a_j \epsilon)}$$
(7.20)

where a_j and b_j are integers and G_i are the individual members of the basis **G** of Feynman integrals in (7.19). We thus arrive at

$$\mathbf{Rb} = \lim_{x \to 0} \mathbf{TG} \Big|_{\mathcal{O}\left(x^{0+a_j\epsilon}\right)}$$
(7.21)

where the right-hand side implies that, apart from the terms $x^{a_i\epsilon}$ coming from (7.20), we expand around x = 0, keeping only terms of order x^0 . Notice that since the left-hand side of the equation contains pure functions with rational coefficients that are independent of the underlying kinematics $\vec{S} := \{S_{12}, S_{23}, S_{34}, S_{45}, S_{51}\}$, the determination of the matrix **T**, as a function of x and d, is based on solutions of IBP identities, using integer values for \vec{S} . This results to a significant reduction in complexity and CPU time, taking into account that several basis elements are given in terms of Baikov polynomials, μ_{11} , μ_{22} , μ_{12} , and containing FI with up to fourth power of irreducible inverse propagators.

As indicated in chapter 3, Eq. (7.21) is a powerful framework allowing to determine all boundary constants **b**. First of all in the case the left-hand side contains a logarithmic term in x, a set of linear relations between elements of the array **b** are obtained by setting the coefficient of log (x) to zero. Secondly, powers of $x^{a\epsilon}$ that appear only in the left-hand side do also produce relations among elements of **b**. These two sets of relations account for the determination of a significant part of the components of the boundary array. The last set of equations requires the determination of some regions of Master Integrals, $G_i^{(j)}$, in the limit $x \to 0$. Expressions of these integral-regions in terms of Feynman parameters are obtained using SDExpandAsy in FIESTA4 [58]. Their calculation is straightforwardly achieved either by direct integration in Feynman-parameter space and then by using HypExp [55], [56] to expand the resulting $_2F_1$ hypergeometric functions, or in a very few cases, by Mellin-Barnes techniques using the MB [96], [97], MBSums [98] and XSummer [99] packages¹. All the boundary values are analytically expressed in terms of poly-logarithmic functions, namely logarithms and Goncharov poly-logarithms as functions of the reduced kinematical variables { $S_{12}, S_{23}, S_{34}, S_{45}, S_{51}$ }.

Although the above described method is general and straightforward, in practice many of the components of \mathbf{b} are obtained by exploiting the known representations of the elements of the canonical basis as given in the double-box families [95], [100].

After obtaining all boundary terms, the solution of the canonical SDE can be written in the following compact form up to order $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{g} &= \epsilon^{0} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \epsilon \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{2} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} \right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{3} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} \right) \\ &+ \epsilon^{4} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abcd} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{M}_{d} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right) \end{aligned}$$

¹The in-house Mathematica package Gsuite, that automatically process the MBSums output through XSummer, written by A. Kardos, is used.

$$+\sum \mathcal{G}_{ab}\mathbf{M}_{a}\mathbf{M}_{b}\mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a}\mathbf{M}_{a}\mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(4)}\right)$$
$$\mathcal{G}_{ab\dots} := \mathcal{G}(l_{a}, l_{b}, \dots; x).$$
(7.22)

In order to get an idea of the actual structure of the solutions, we give explicit results for the non-zero top-sector basis element for each family up to order $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^1)$,

$$g_{72}^{P1} = \frac{3}{2} + \epsilon \left[\mathcal{G}\left(\frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}; x\right) - \mathcal{G}\left(\frac{S_{12} - S_{34}}{S_{12}}; x\right) - 3\mathcal{G}(0; x) + \mathcal{G}(1; x) - \log\left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right) - 2\log\left(-S_{51}\right) \right],$$
(7.23)

$$g_{73}^{P2} = \epsilon \left[3\mathcal{G}\left(\frac{S_{12} + S_{23}}{S_{12}}; x\right) - 3\mathcal{G}\left(\frac{S_{12} - S_{34}}{S_{12}}; x\right) - 3\mathcal{G}\left(\frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}; x\right) + 3\mathcal{G}(1; x) - 3\log\left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right) + 3\log\left(-S_{51}\right) \right],$$
(7.24)

$$g_{84}^{P3} = \frac{1}{2} + \epsilon \left[\frac{5}{2} \mathcal{G} \left(\frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}; x \right) - \frac{3}{2} \mathcal{G} \left(\frac{S_{12} - S_{34}}{S_{12}}; x \right) - \frac{5}{2} \mathcal{G} \left(-\frac{S_{45}}{S_{23} - S_{45}}; x \right) - 2\mathcal{G}(0; x) + \frac{5}{2} \mathcal{G}(1; x) - \log\left(-S_{12} \right) - \frac{3}{2} \log\left(S_{12} - S_{34} \right) + \frac{3}{2} \log\left(-S_{51} \right) \right].$$
(7.25)

7.5 Numerical Results and Validation

In order to numerically evaluate the solution given in Eq. (7.22), Goncharov poly-logarithms up to weight 4 need to be computed. To understand the complexity of the expressions at hand, we present in Table 7.1, the number of poly-logarithmic functions entering in the solution. In parenthesis we give the corresponding number for the non-zero top-sector basis elements. The weight W=1...4 is identified as the number of letters l_a in GP $\mathcal{G}(l_a, \ldots; x)$.

Family	W=1	W=2	W=3	W=4
$P_1(g_{72})$	17 (14)	116 (95)	690(551)	2740(2066)
$P_2(g_{73})$	25(14)	170(140)	1330(1061)	4950(3734)
$P_3(g_{84})$	22(12)	132 (90)	1196 (692)	4566 (2488)

Table 7.1: Number of GPLs entering in the solution, as explained in the text.

The computation of GPLs is performed using their implementation in Ginac. This implementation is capable to evaluate the GPLs at an arbitrary precision. The computational cost to numerically evaluate a GPL function, depends of course on the number of significant digits required as well as on their weight and finally on their structure, namely how many of its letters, Eq. (7.7), satisfy $l_b \in [0, x]$. We refer to reference [71] for more details.

For the following Euclidean point

$$S_{12} \to -2, S_{23} \to -3, S_{34} \to -5, S_{45} \to -7, S_{51} \to -11, x \to \frac{1}{4}$$
 (7.26)

all GPL functions with real letters are real, namely no letter is in [0, x], and moreover the boundary terms are by construction all real. The result is given in Table 7.2 with timings, running the GiNaC Interactive Shell ginsh, given by 1.9, 3.3, and 2 seconds for P_1 , P_2 and P_3

<i>P</i> ₁	g_{72}	$\begin{array}{l} \epsilon^0:\ 3/2\\ \epsilon^1:\ -2.2514604753379400332169314784961\\ \epsilon^2:\ -17.910593443812320786572184851867\\ \epsilon^3:\ -26.429770706459534336624681550003\\ \epsilon^4:\ 21.437938934510558345847354772412 \end{array}$
P_2	g_{73}	$\begin{array}{l} \epsilon^1: \ 2.8124788185742741402751457351382\\ \epsilon^2: \ 5.4813042746593704203645729908938\\ \epsilon^3: \ 11.590234540689191439870956817546\\ \epsilon^4: \ -5.9962816226829136730734255754596 \end{array}$
P_3	g_{84}	$\begin{array}{l} \epsilon^0:\ 1/2\\ \epsilon^1:\ 3.2780415861887284967738281876762\\ \epsilon^2:\ 0.11455863130537720411162743574627\\ \epsilon^3:\ -16.979642659429606120982671925458\\ \epsilon^4:\ -48.101985355625914648042310964575 \end{array}$

Table 7.2: Numerical results for the non-zero top sector element of each family with 32 significant digits.

respectively and for a precision of 32 significant digits. As can be seen also from Table 7.1, the timing for the evaluation of all GPs in a family, is of the same order as its top-sector element.

In order to obtain results for scattering kinematics, we need to properly analytically continue the GPs and logarithms involved in our solution. In general, the kinematic variables p_{1s} and s_{ij} , acquire an infinitesimal imaginary part [101]. This means that S_{ij} as well as the parameter x, through Eq. (7.1), acquire also an infinitesimal imaginary part, i.e. $S_{ij} \rightarrow S_{ij} + i\delta_{ij}\eta$, $x \rightarrow x + i\delta_x \eta$, with $\eta \rightarrow 0$ [81], [95]. Notice that Eq. (7.1) implies that for a given assignment of the kinematic variables p_{1s} and s_{ij} , there are two solutions in S_{ij} and x. In general δ_{ij} and δ_x should also satisfy the analyticity constraints stemming from the one-scale integrals, known in closed form in ϵ . These integrals are proportional to $(-s_{ij})^{n\epsilon}$, $(-p_{1s})^{n\epsilon}$, n = -1, -2, and must be consistently expressed in terms of S_{ij} and x, through the following equations:

$$(-s_{34})^{-\epsilon} = (-S_{51})^{-\epsilon} x^{-\epsilon}$$

$$(-s_{45})^{-\epsilon} = (-S_{12})^{-\epsilon} x^{-4\epsilon}$$

$$(-s_{15})^{-\epsilon} = (-S_{45})^{-\epsilon} \left(1 - \frac{S_{45} - S_{23}}{S_{45}} x\right)^{-\epsilon}$$

$$(-p_{1s})^{-\epsilon} = (1 - x)^{-\epsilon} (-S_{45})^{-\epsilon} \left(1 - \frac{S_{12}}{S_{45}} x\right)^{-\epsilon}$$

$$(-s_{12})^{-\epsilon} = x^{-\epsilon} (S_{12} - S_{34})^{-\epsilon} \left(1 - \frac{S_{12}}{S_{12} - S_{34}} x\right)^{-\epsilon},$$
(7.27)

which constrain the values of δ_{ij} and δ_x .

In Table 7.3 we present results for all top-sector integrals at W = 4, for the first physical point provided in reference [80], namely

$$s_{12} \to -\frac{22}{5}, s_{15} \to \frac{249}{50}, s_{23} \to \frac{241}{25}, s_{34} \to -\frac{377}{100}, s_{45} \to \frac{13}{50}, p_{18} \to \frac{137}{50}.$$
 (7.28)

The timings, running the GiNaC Interactive Shell ginsh, are 5.95 (2.33), 11.98 (4.94) and 8.49 (3.32) seconds for P_1 , P_2 and P_3 respectively, for $N_{digits} = 32$ (16). We have also compared our results for all families, all basis elements and all physical points with those of reference [80] and found perfect agreement to the precision used, ($N_{digits} = 16, 32$). We also checked our

results, not only at the level of basis elements but also at the level of Master Integrals, against FIESTA4 [58] and found agreement within the numerical integration errors provided by it.

P_1	g_{72}	29.802763651793108812023893217593
		$\pm i$ 273 86627846266515113913295225572
mzz	I_3	29.802763651793108812023893217593
		$+i\ 273.86627846266515113913295225572$
P_2	g_{73}	44.162165744735300867233118554183
		$-i \ 46.218746133850339969944403077557$
zmz	I_3	44.162165744735300867233118554183
		$-i\ 46.218746133850339969944403077557$
P_3	g_{84}	11.908529680841593329567378444341
		$-i\ 143.83838235097336513553728991658$
ZZZ	I_3	11.908529680841593329567378444341
		$-i\ 143.83838235097336513553728991658$

Table 7.3: Numerical results for the non-zero top sector element of each family at weight 4 with 32 significant digits. The notation I_i is used in accordance with Table 2 of [80].

For the other physical points, beyond the first one, the number of letters in [0, x] is not anymore zero. As a consequence the running time is increasing, up to two orders of magnitude, with the last physical point being the worst case, as for this point the number of letters in [0, x]amounts to 19 out of a total of 24 letters involved in the non-zero top-sector basis elements. It is therefore worthwhile to thoroughly investigate the structure of the analytic result, with the aim to provide alternative representations in terms of Goncharov poly-logarithmic functions that are manifestly real-valued and thus much faster to compute. Notice that, from the structure of the analytic representation studied in this chapter (see for instance Table 7.1), the computational time is entirely determined by the W = 4 functions. Therefore, as experience shows [70], [78], [79], [102], the use of one-dimensional integral representations at W = 4, may lead to a significant reduction in CPU time.

7.6 Conclusions and outlook

In this chapter we have presented analytic expressions in terms of poly-logarithmic functions, Goncharov Polylogarithms, of all planar two-loop five-point integrals with a massive external leg. This has been achieved by using the Simplified Differential Equations approach and the data for the canonical basis provided in reference [80]. Moreover, the necessary boundary values of all basis elements have been computed, based mainly on the form of the canonical differential equation, Eq. (7.7) and, in few cases, on the expansion by regions approach. The ability to straightforwardly compute the boundary values at x = 0 and to even more straightforwardly express the solution in terms of Goncharov Polylogarithms, is based on the unique property of the SDE approach that the scattering kinematics is effectively simplified and rationalized with respect to x, in noticeable contradistinction with the standard differential equation approach, where such an analytic realisation of the solution is prohibitively difficult.

Obviously, the next step, is to extend the work of this chapter in the case of the remaining five non-planar families, shown in Fig. 8.1. Since on top of the planar penta-box families presented in this chapter, we have already computed the pure-function solutions in SDE approach, for all double-box families, planar and non-planar, with up to two external massive legs, we expect that the construction of the canonical basis of the few remaining non-planar Master Integrals will be plausible in the near future. Having the corresponding equation, Eq. (7.7), for the non-planar families, it should be straightforward to extend the work of this chapter and to complete the full list of two-loop five-point Feynman Integrals with one massive external leg. We remind that within the SDE approach, having the analytic representations of two-loop fivepoint Master Integrals with one massive external leg in terms of Goncharov poly-logarithmic functions, allows also to straightforwardly obtain the result for massless external legs in terms of Goncharov poly-logarithmic functions, by taking the limit x = 1 [70], [81] and making use of the resummed matrix corresponding to $l_b = 1$ term in Eq. (7.7). In summary, when this next step is completed, a library of all two-loop Master Integrals with internal massless particles and up to five (four) external legs, among which one (two) massive legs will be provided: this will constitute a significant milestone towards the knowledge of the full basis of two-loop Feynman Integrals.

We have also shown how to obtain numerical results for all kinematic configurations, including Euclidean and physical regions. With regard to the expected progress in the calculation of $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering process [83], [102], [103], it would be desirable to adapt our results in different kinematic regions, using for instance fibration-basis techniques [65], [66].

Chapter 8

Two-loop non-planar Hexa-Box master integrals with one massive leg

Based on the Simplified Differential Equations approach, we present results for the two-loop non-planar hexa-box families of master integrals. We introduce a new approach to obtain the boundary terms and establish a one-dimensional integral representation of the master integrals in terms of Generalised Polylogarithms, when the alphabet contains non-factorisable square roots. The results are relevant to the study of NNLO QCD corrections for W, Z and Higgs-boson production in association with two hadronic jets. This chapter is based on original research which appeared first in [104], done in collaboration with A. Kardos, C.G. Papadopoulos, A.V. Smirnov and C. Wever.

8.1 Introduction

The computation of higher order corrections to Standard Model (SM) scattering processes and their comparison against data coming from collider experiments remains one of the best approaches for the study of Nature at its most fundamental level. The discovery of the Higgs boson at the LHC [4], [5] solidified the mathematical consistency of the SM of Particle Physics as our best fundamental description of Nature. In the absence of any clear signals for physics beyond the SM, a detailed study of the properties of the Higgs boson along with a scrutinization of key SM processes have spearheaded the endeavour to advance our understanding of Particle Physics [6].

The upcoming High Luminosity upgrade of the LHC will provide us with experimental data of unprecedented precision. Making sense of the data and exploiting the machine's full potential will require theoretical predictions of equally high precision. In recent years, the theoretical community has made tremendous effort to meet the challenge of performing notoriously difficult perturbative calculations in Quantum Field Theory. The current precision frontier for the QCD dominated processes studied at the LHC lies at the Next-to-Next-to-Leading-Order (NNLO) for massless $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering with one off-shell external particle [90], [105].

A typical NNLO calculation involves, among other things, the computation of two-loop Feynman diagrams [106]. The established method for performing such calculations is by solving first-order differential equations (DE) satisfied by the relevant Feynman integrals (FI) [34]–[37]. Working within dimensional regularisation in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions, allows the derivation of linear relations in the form of Integration-By-Parts (IBP) identities satisfied by these integrals [26], which allows one to obtain a minimal and finite set of FI for a specific scattering process, known as master integrals (MI).

It has been conjectured that FI with constant leading singularities in d dimensions satisfy a simpler class of DE [40], known as canonical DE [42]. A basis of MI satisfying canonical DE
Figure 8.1: The five non-planar families with one external massive leg. The first row corresponds to the so-called hexabox topologies, whereas the diagrams of the second row are known as double-pentagons. We label them as follows: N_1 (top left), N_2 (top middle), N_3 (top right), N_4 (bottom left), N_5 (bottom right). All diagrams have been drawn using Jaxodraw [115].

is known as a pure basis. The study of the special functions which appear in the solutions of such DE has provided a deeper understanding of their mathematical properties. These special functions often admit a representation in the form of Chen iterated integrals [107]. For a large class of FI, their result can be written in terms of a well studied class of special functions, known as Multiple of Goncharov polylogarithms (GPLs) [44]–[47]. Several computational tools have been developed for their algebraic manipulation [66] and numerical evaluation [71], [108].

For the case of two-loop five-point MI with one massive leg, pure bases of MI have been recently presented in [80] for the planar topologies, which we will call one-mass pentaboxes, and more recently in [109] for some of the non-planar topologies, which we will call one-mass hexaboxes. All one-mass pentaboxes have been computed both numerically [80], using generalised power-series expansions [110], [111], as well as analytically in terms of GPLs [82], by employing the Simplified Differential Equations (SDE) approach [38]. Recently, analytic results were also obtained in the form of Chen iterated integrals and have been implemented into the so-called one-mass pentagon functions [112], similar to the two-loop five-point massless results [78], [79]. These results, along with fully analytic solutions for the relevant one-loop integral family [72], have lead to the production of the first phenomenological studies at the leading-colour approximation for $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes involving one massive particle at the LHC [84], [113], [114]. For the one-mass hexabox topologies, numerical results were first presented in [70], using a method which emulates the Feynman parameter technique, for one of the non-planar integral families. All three integral families were treated numerically in [109] using the same methods as in [80].

In this chapter, we employ the SDE approach and obtain semi-analytic results for all onemass hexaboxes, using the pure bases presented in [109]. More specifically, we obtain fully analytic expressions in terms of GPLs of up to weight 4 for the first non-planar family, denoted as N_1 in figure 8.1. For families N_2 and N_3 , we obtain analytic results for the unknown nonplanar integrals up to weight 2, whereas for weights 3 and 4 we introduce a one-fold integral representation in terms of GPLs allowing for a straightforward numerical evaluation of our expressions.

8.2 Hexabox integral families

There are three non-planar families of MI that correspond to the one-mass hexabox topologies, labelled as N_1 , N_2 and N_3 , see figure 8.1. We adopt the definition of the scattering kinematics

following [109], where external momenta q_i , i = 1...5 satisfy $\sum_{1}^{5} q_i = 0$, $q_1^2 \equiv p_{1s}$, $q_i^2 = 0$, i = 2...5, and the six independent invariants are given by $\{q_1^2, s_{12}, s_{23}, s_{34}, s_{45}, s_{15}\}$, with $s_{ij} := (q_i + q_j)^2$.

In the SDE approach [38] the momenta are parametrized by introducing a dimensionless variable x, as follows

$$q_1 \to p_{123} - xp_{12}, \ q_2 \to p_4, \ q_3 \to -p_{1234}, \ q_4 \to xp_1$$

$$(8.1)$$

where the new momenta p_i , i = 1...5 satisfy now $\sum_{1}^{5} p_i = 0$, $p_i^2 = 0$, i = 1...5, whereas $p_{i...j} := p_i + ... + p_j$. The set of independent invariants is given by $\{S_{12}, S_{23}, S_{34}, S_{45}, S_{51}, x\}$, with $S_{ij} := (p_i + p_j)^2$. The explicit mapping between the two sets of invariants is given by

$$q_1^2 = (1-x)(S_{45} - S_{12}x), \ s_{12} = (S_{34} - S_{12}(1-x))x, \ s_{23} = S_{45}, \ s_{34} = S_{51}x, s_{45} = S_{12}x^2, \ s_{15} = S_{45} + (S_{23} - S_{45})x$$
(8.2)

and as usual the x = 1 limit corresponds to the on-shell kinematics.

The corresponding Feynman Integrals are defined through

$$F_{a_1\cdots a_{11}}^{N_1} := e^{2\gamma_E \epsilon} \int \frac{d^d k_1}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^d k_2}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_1^{2a_1}(k_1+q_1)^{2a_2}(k_1+q_{12})^{2a_3}(k_1+q_{123})^{2a_4}}}{1} \times \frac{1}{(k_1+k_2+q_{1234})^{2a_5}(k_1+k_2)^{2a_6}k_2^{2a_7}(k_2+q_4)^{2a_8}(k_2+q_1)^{2a_9}(k_1+q_4)^{2a_{10}}(k_2+q_{12})^{2a_{11}}}, \quad (8.3)$$

$$F_{a_{1}\cdots a_{11}}^{N_{2}} := e^{2\gamma_{E}\epsilon} \int \frac{d^{d}k_{1}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^{d}k_{2}}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_{1}^{2a_{1}}(k_{1}-q_{1234})^{2a_{2}}(k_{1}-q_{234})^{2a_{3}}(k_{1}-q_{34})^{2a_{4}}}{1} \times \frac{1}{(k_{1}+k_{2}-q_{4})^{2a_{5}}(k_{1}+k_{2})^{2a_{6}}k_{2}^{2a_{7}}(k_{2}+q_{3})^{2a_{8}}(k_{2}-q_{1234})^{2a_{9}}(k_{1}+q_{3})^{2a_{10}}(k_{2}-q_{234})^{2a_{11}}}, \quad (8.4)$$

$$F_{a_1\cdots a_{11}}^{N_3} := e^{2\gamma_E\epsilon} \int \frac{d^d k_1}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^d k_2}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{1}{k_1^{2a_1}(k_1+q_2)^{2a_2}(k_1+q_{23})^{2a_3}(k_1+q_{234})^{2a_4}}}{1} \times \frac{1}{(k_1+k_2+q_{1234})^{2a_5}(k_1+k_2)^{2a_6}k_2^{2a_7}(k_2+q_1)^{2a_8}(k_2+q_2)^{2a_9}(k_1+q_1)^{2a_{10}}(k_2+q_{23})^{2a_{11}}}}, \quad (8.5)$$

where $q_{i...j} := q_i + ... + q_j$.

Using FIRE6 [28] we found that the N_1 family consists of 86 MI out of which 10 MI are genuinely new, the rest being known from the one-mass planar pentabox [82] or the non-planar double-box families [95]. For N_2 and N_3 the corresponding numbers are 86, 13 and 135, 21.

8.2.1 Pure bases and simplified canonical differential equations

We adopt the pure bases presented in [109]. As was the case for the pure bases of the planar families presented in [80], a d log form of the relevant differential equations was achieved, whose alphabet involves several square roots of the kinematic invariants $\{q_1^2, s_{12}, s_{23}, s_{34}, s_{45}, s_{15}\}$. More specifically, the following six square roots that appear in the alphabets of the one-mass hexabox integral families are

$$r_1 = \sqrt{\lambda(p_{1s}, s_{23}, s_{45})} \tag{8.6}$$

$$r_2 = \sqrt{\lambda(p_{1s}, s_{24}, s_{35})} \tag{8.7}$$

$$r_3 = \sqrt{\lambda(p_{1s}, s_{25}, s_{34})} \tag{8.8}$$

$$r_4 = \sqrt{\det \mathbb{G}(q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4)}$$
(8.9)

$$r_5 = \sqrt{\Sigma_5^{(1)}} \tag{8.10}$$

$$r_6 = \sqrt{\Sigma_5^{(2)}}$$
(8.11)

with $\lambda(x, y, z) = x^2 - 2xy - 2xz + y^2 - 2yz + z^2$ representing the Källen function, $\mathbb{G}(q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) = \{2q_i \cdot q_j\}$ being the the Gram matrix of the external momenta, and $\Sigma_5^{(1)}$, $\Sigma_5^{(2)}$ are the polynomials

$$\Sigma_{5}^{(1)} = s_{12}^{2} (s_{15} - s_{23})^{2} + (s_{23}s_{34} + (s_{15} - s_{34})s_{45})^{2} + 2s_{12} (-s_{45}s_{15}^{2} + s_{23}s_{34}s_{15} + (s_{23} + s_{34})s_{45}s_{15} + s_{23}s_{34} (s_{45} - s_{23}))$$

$$\Sigma_{5}^{(2)} = (s_{12} (p_{1s} - s_{15} + s_{23}) - s_{23}s_{34})^{2} + s_{45}^{2} (p_{1s} - s_{15} + s_{34})^{2} - 2s_{45} (s_{34} ((s_{12} + s_{23}) p_{1s} - s_{15}s_{23} - s_{12} (s_{15} + s_{23})) + s_{12} (p_{1s} - s_{15}) (p_{1s} - s_{15} + s_{23}) + s_{23}s_{34}^{2}).$$

$$(8.12)$$

$$(8.12)$$

$$(8.12)$$

$$(8.12)$$

$$(8.13)$$

For topology N_1 , the square roots r_1 and r_4 appear in its alphabet given in [109]. Introducing the dimensionless variable x rationalises these two roots through the mapping of (8.2). This allows us to derive a SDE in canonical form for N_1 ,

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{i=1}^{l_{max}} \frac{\mathbf{M}_i}{x - l_i} \right) \mathbf{g}$$
(8.14)

where **g** is the pure basis of N_1 , \mathbf{M}_i are the residue matrices corresponding to each letter l_i and l_{max} is the length of the alphabet, which for N_1 is $l_{max} = 21$. It is interesting to note here the significant reduction in the number of letters in comparison with the alphabet of N_1 given in [109], where the relevant length of the alphabet is 39. The form of (8.14) allows for a direct iterative solution order-by-order in ϵ in terms of GPLs, assuming that the relevant boundary terms are obtained.

For topologies N_2 and N_3 , the square roots appearing in their respective alphabets [109] are $\{r_1, r_2, r_4, r_5\}$ and $\{r_1, r_3, r_4, r_6\}$. In general all the square roots with the exception of $\{r_5, r_6\}$ can be rationalised using either the mapping given in (8.2) or a variant of it [38], [82]. Nevertheless, in order to write an equation in the form of (8.14) a *simultaneous* rationalisation of all square roots is necessary. In fact, the mapping (8.2) allows for the rationalisation of r_1 and r_4 in terms of x, but this is not the case for $\{r_2, r_3, r_5, r_6\}$. It is thus not possible to achieve a canonical SDE in the form of (8.14) for families N_2 and N_3 using the parametrisation (8.1). This does not mean that the basis elements cannot be cast in the form of GPLs, but just that such a representation is not straightforwardly obtained based on the simple equation (8.14). The more general form of the SDE takes the form:

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{a=1}^{l_{max}} \frac{dL_a}{dx} \mathbf{M}_a \right) \mathbf{g}$$
(8.15)

where most of the L_a are simple rational functions of x, as in (8.14), whereas the rest are algebraic functions of x involving the non-rationalisable square roots.

A detailed analysis of (8.15) reveals that these non-rationalisable square roots start appearing at weight two. In practise this means that we can use the mapping (8.2) and solve the respective canonical DE for N_2 and N_3 by integrating with respect to x up to weight one in terms of ordinary logarithms. For weight two, analytic expressions in terms of GPLs can

be achieved due to the fact that the non-rationalisable square roots $\{r_2, r_3, r_5, r_6\}$ appear decoupled in the DE. In fact, most of the basis elements are straightforwardly expressed in terms of GPLs by integrating the corresponding DE. For the rest, an educated ansatz can be constructed involving only specific weight-two GPLs, which are identified by inspecting the DE in each case where square roots $\{r_2, r_3, r_5, r_6\}$ appear, modulo the boundary terms that one needs to compute. Thus analytic expressions in terms of GPLs up to weight two are obtained for all elements belonging in these families.

To further elaborate on this point let us analyse a rather simple case of a 3-point integral sector with three off-shell legs, that appears in both N_2 and N_3 families. This sector comprises two basis elements and the DE satisfied by those elements includes also two-point MI that are known in closed form. For instance, in N_2 , the 3-point integrals appear as basis elements number 10 and 11 (see the ancillary file). The element 10 at weight 2, $g_{10}^{(2)}$, can straightforwardly be obtained by integrating the (8.15) and it is expressible in terms of GPLs in the form $\mathcal{G}(a, b; x)$ where a, b are independent of x. On the contrary the element 11 at weight 2, $g_{11}^{(2)}$, is obtained by construction of an ansatz. Let us mention that all elements in question, except those involving the square roots $\{r_5, r_6\}$, namely element 73 in N_2 and 114 in N_3 , are known in terms of GPLs up to weight 4 [82], [95], based though on different variants of the parametrization (8.1). For instance element 11 of N_2 is given as

$$g_{11}^{(2)} = 8 \left(2\mathcal{G}(0, -y) \left(\mathcal{G}(1, y) - \mathcal{G}\left(\frac{\tilde{S}_{45}}{\tilde{S}_{12}}, y\right) \right) + 2\mathcal{G}\left(0, \frac{\tilde{S}_{45}}{\tilde{S}_{12}}, y\right) - \mathcal{G}(1, y) \log\left(\frac{\tilde{S}_{45}}{\tilde{S}_{12}}\right) + \log\left(\frac{\tilde{S}_{45}}{\tilde{S}_{12}}\right) \mathcal{G}\left(\frac{\tilde{S}_{45}}{\tilde{S}_{12}}, y\right) - 2\mathcal{G}(0, 1, y) \right)$$

$$(8.16)$$

where the new parametrization of the external momenta is given by

$$q_1 \to \tilde{p}_{123} - y\tilde{p}_{12}, \ q_2 \to y\tilde{p}_2, \ q_3 \to -\tilde{p}_{1234}, \ q_4 \to y\tilde{p}_1$$
 (8.17)

with the new momenta \tilde{p}_i , i = 1...5 satisfying as usual, $\sum_{1}^{5} \tilde{p}_i = 0$, $\tilde{p}_i^2 = 0$, i = 1...5, with $\tilde{p}_{i...j} := \tilde{p}_i + \ldots + \tilde{p}_j$. The set of independent invariants is given by $\{\tilde{S}_{12}, \tilde{S}_{23}, \tilde{S}_{34}, \tilde{S}_{45}, \tilde{S}_{51}, y\}$, with $\tilde{S}_{ij} := (\tilde{p}_i + \tilde{p}_j)^2$. The explicit mapping between the two sets of invariants is given by

$$q_{1}^{2} = (1 - y)(\tilde{S}_{45} - \tilde{S}_{12}y), \ s_{12} = \tilde{S}_{45}(1 - y) + \tilde{S}_{23}y, \ s_{23} = -y\left(\tilde{S}_{12} - \tilde{S}_{34} + \tilde{S}_{51}\right),$$
$$s_{34} = \tilde{S}_{51}y, \ s_{45} = y\left(\tilde{S}_{23} - \tilde{S}_{45} - \tilde{S}_{51}\right), \ s_{15} = y\left(\tilde{S}_{34} - \tilde{S}_{12}(1 - y)\right).$$
(8.18)

Notice that the result of (8.16) is obtained through SDE approach in the parametrization of (8.17). By identifying $f_{-} = y$ and $f_{+} = y \frac{\tilde{S}_{12}}{\tilde{S}_{45}}$, which in terms of (8.2) are given as

$$f_{\pm} = \frac{S_{45} + x \left(-S_{23} - S_{34} + 2S_{51} + S_{12}x\right) \pm r_2}{2 \left(S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51}\right) x}$$

we can write the DE for this element in the simple and compact form

$$\frac{d}{dx}g_{11}^{(2)} = -8\left(\operatorname{dlog}\left(\frac{f_{+}-1}{f_{-}-1}\right)\log\left(f_{-}-f_{+}\right) - \operatorname{dlog}\left(\frac{f_{+}}{f_{-}}\right)\log\left(\left(f_{-}-1\right)\left(f_{+}-1\right)\right)\right).$$

The form of the DE makes the determination of the ansatz rather straightforward, with the result

$$g_{11}^{(2)} = -8\bigg(-\log(f_-f_+)\Big(\mathcal{G}(1,f_-) - \mathcal{G}(1,f_+)\Big) + 2\mathcal{G}(0,1,f_-) - 2\mathcal{G}(0,1,f_+)\bigg).$$
(8.19)

Concerning the other non-rationalisable square root in the family N_2 , r_5 , it also appears for the first time at weight 2 in the basis element 73 only (see the ancillary file), which is one of the new integrals to be calculated. Following the same procedure as for the element 11, namely writing the corresponding DE in a similar form, we find that the expression at weight 2 is similar to that of (8.19),

$$g_{73}^{(2)} = 16\log\left(f_{-}f_{+}\right)\left(\mathcal{G}(1,f_{-}) - \mathcal{G}(1,f_{+})\right) - 32\left(\mathcal{G}(0,1,f_{-}) - \mathcal{G}(0,1,f_{+})\right)$$
(8.20)

with

$$f_{\pm} = \frac{S_{45} \left(2S_{12} x - S_{34} x + S_{51}\right) + x \left(S_{23} S_{34} - S_{12} S_{23} + x S_{12} S_{51}\right) \pm r_5}{2S_{45} \left(S_{12} - S_{34} + S_{51}\right)}$$

Regarding family N_3 , there are two 3-point integral sectors with three off-shell legs that involve square root r_4 , which is not rationalised in terms of x by (8.1), and consist of elements 12, 13 and 16, 17. Similarly to element 11 of family N_2 , elements 12 and 16 cannot be expressed in terms of GPLs through a straightforward integration of their respective DE. However, we can achieve a GPL representation for them at weight 2 similar to (8.19), where now the f_-, f_+ functions involve the square root r_4 instead of r_2 . Square root r_6 appears for the first time at weight 2 in element 114 similarly to the way square root r_5 appears in element 73 in the N_2 family, allowing us to obtain an expression at weight 2 as in (8.20), with the f_-, f_+ functions involving r_6 instead of r_5 .

Studying basis elements that are known in terms of GPLs up to weight 4, proved useful in constructing an educated ansatz for the unknown integrals at weight 2. It would be very interesting to further pursue this direction, with the aim to establish a systematic way to construct representations in terms of GPLs for weights higher than 2. This will allow to extend the SDE approach to cases where the letters L_a in (8.15) assume a general algebraic form. Constructing analytic expressions in terms of GPLs beyond weight 2 by applying a more general procedure following the ideas of [116], [117] is also possible, but it requires a significant amount of resources and it might well result to a proliferation of GPLs. A more practical and direct approach, introducing a one-dimensional integral representation will be presented in detail in section 8.4.

8.3 Boundary terms

In this section we will describe the analytic computation of all necessary boundary terms in terms of GPLs with rational functions of the underline kinematic invariants S_{ij} up to weight 4. We perform this task for all three non-planar families.

Our main approach is the one introduced in [82] and elaborated in detail in [60]. In general we need to calculate the $x \to 0$ limit of each pure basis element. At first we exploit the canonical SDE at the limit $x \to 0$ and define through it the resummation matrix

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{S} \mathrm{e}^{\epsilon \mathbf{D} \log(x)} \mathbf{S}^{-1} \tag{8.21}$$

where the matrices **S**, **D** are obtained through the Jordan decomposition of the residue matrix for the letter $l_1 = 0$, \mathbf{M}_1 ,

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = \mathbf{S}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{S}^{-1}.\tag{8.22}$$

Secondly, we can relate the elements of the pure basis to a set of MI G through IBP reduction,

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G}.\tag{8.23}$$

Using the expansion by regions method [51] as implemented in the **asy** code which is shipped along with FIESTA4 [58], we can obtain the $x \to 0$ limit of the MI in terms of which we express the pure basis (8.23),

$$G_i \mathop{=}\limits_{x \to 0} \sum_j x^{b_j + a_j \epsilon} G_i^{(b_j + a_j \epsilon)}$$

$$\tag{8.24}$$

where a_j and b_j are integers and G_i are the individual members of the basis **G** of MI in (8.23). This analysis allows us to construct the following relation

$$\mathbf{Rb} = \lim_{x \to 0} \mathbf{TG} \Big|_{\mathcal{O}\left(x^{0+a_j\epsilon}\right)}$$
(8.25)

where the right-hand side implies that, apart from the terms $x^{a_i\epsilon}$ coming from (8.24), we expand around x = 0, keeping only terms of order x^0 . Equation (8.25) allows us in principle to determine all boundary constants $\mathbf{b} = \sum_{i=0}^{6} \epsilon^i \mathbf{b}_0^{(i)}$. More specifically, in the case where \mathbf{D} in (8.22) is non-diagonal, we will get logarithmic

More specifically, in the case where **D** in (8.22) is non-diagonal, we will get logarithmic terms in x on the left-hand side of (8.25), in the form $x^{a_j\epsilon} \log(x)$. Since no such terms appear on the right-hand side of (8.25), a set of linear relations between elements of the array **b** are obtained by setting the coefficient of $x^{a_j\epsilon} \log(x)$ terms to zero. Furthermore, powers of $x^{a_j\epsilon}$ that appear only on the left-hand side can also yield linear relations among elements of **b**, by setting their coefficients to zero. We shall call these two sets of relations *pure*, since they are linear relations among elements of **b** with rational numbers as coefficients. These pure relations account for the determination of a significant part of the two components of the boundary array. Finally for the undetermined elements of **b**, several region-integrals $G_i^{(b_j+a_j\epsilon)}$ usually need to be calculated coming from (8.24). Their calculation is straightforwardly achieved either by direct integration in Feynman-parameter space and then by using HypExp [55], [56] to expand the resulting $_2F_1$ hypergeometric functions, or in a very few cases, by Mellin-Barnes techniques using the MB [96], [97], MBSums [98] and XSummer [99] packages¹. The $\mathbf{b}_0^{(i)}$ terms, with *i* indicating the corresponding weight, consist of Zeta functions $\zeta(i)$, logarithms and GPLs of weight *i* which have as arguments rational functions of the underline kinematic variables $\{S_{12}, S_{23}, S_{34}, S_{45}, S_{51}\}$.

This approach was efficient enough for the determination of all boundary terms for families N_1 and N_2 . Specifically for family N_1 , where a canonical SDE can be achieved (8.14), we can write a solution in terms of GPLs up to weight 4 in the following compact form

$$\mathbf{g} = \epsilon^{0} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \epsilon \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{2} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{3} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{4} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abcd} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{M}_{d} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)}$$

$$+ \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(4)} \right)$$

$$(8.26)$$

were $\mathcal{G}_{ab...} := \mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \ldots; x)$ represent the GPLs. These results are presented in such a way that each coefficient of ϵ^i has transcendental weight *i*. If we assign weight -1 to ϵ , then (8.26) has uniform weight zero.

 $^{^1{\}rm The}$ in-house Mathematica package Gsuite, that automatically process the MBSums output through XSummer is used.

For family N_3 , eq. (8.25) resulted in a proliferation of region-integrals, more than 200, that one would have to calculate in order to obtain boundary terms for several higher-sector basis elements. More specifically, in order to obtain the following boundary terms

$$\{b_{101}, b_{103}, b_{104}, b_{106}, b_{113}, b_{117}, b_{118}, b_{124}, b_{125}, b_{126}, b_{130}, b_{131}, b_{132}, b_{133}\}$$
(8.27)

one would have to calculate 208 region-integrals, with 17 of them having seven Feynman parameters to be integrated, making their direct integration highly non-trivial. For all basis elements apart from (8.27) we were able to obtain boundary terms through (8.25).

To reduce the number of region-integrals for the computation of (8.27) we have investigated a different approach. The idea is rather simple and straightforward. The pure basis elements can be written in general as follows:

$$g = C \int \frac{d^d k_1}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{d^d k_2}{i\pi^{d/2}} \frac{P\left(\{D_i\}, \{S_{ij}, x\}\right)}{\prod_{i \in \tilde{S}} D_i^{a_i}}$$
(8.28)

where D_i , i = 1...11, represent the inverse scalar propagators, \tilde{S} the set of indices corresponding to a given sector, S_{ij} , x the kinematic invariants, P is a polynomial, a_i are positive integers and C a factor depending on S_{ij} , x. This form is usually decomposed in terms of FI, F_i ,

$$g = C \sum c_i \left(\{S_{ij}, x\} \right) F_i$$

with c_i being polynomials in S_{ij} , x. The limit x = 0, is then obtained, after IBP reduction, through Feynman parameter representation of the individual MI, as described in the previous paragraphs. An alternative approach, would be to build-up the Feynman parameter representation for the whole basis element, by considering the integral in (8.28) as a tensor integral and making use of the formulae from the references [118], [119], to bring it in its Feynman parameter representation. Then, by using the expansion by regions approach [51], [58], we determine the regions² in the limit x = 0. Rescaling the Feynman parameters by appropriate powers of x, keeping the leading power in x, we then obtain the final result that can be written as follows:

$$b = \sum_{I} N_{I} \int \prod_{i \in S_{I}} dx_{i} U_{I}^{a_{I}} F_{I}^{b_{i}} \Pi_{I}$$

where I runs over the set of contributing regions, U_I and F_I are the limits of the usual Symanzik polynomials, Π_I is a polynomial in the Feynman parameters, x_i , and the kinematic invariants S_{ij} , and S_I the subset of surviving Feynman parameters in the limit. In this way a significant reduction of the number of regions to be calculated is achieved. Notice that in contrast to the approach described in the previous paragraphs, only the regions $x^{-2\epsilon}$ and $x^{-4\epsilon}$ contribute to the final result. Moreover, this approach overpasses the need for an IBP reduction of the basis elements in terms of MI.

8.4 Integral representation

After obtaining all boundary terms in section 8.3 and constructing analytic expressions for families N_2 and N_3 up to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$ in terms of GPLs up to weight two, we will now introduce an one-fold integral representation for $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$ and $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$. This representation will allow us to obtain numerical results through direct numerical integration [78], [120].

 $^{^{2}}$ Only the corresponding scalar integral of (8.28) determines the regions.

Weight 3: The differential equation (8.15) can be written in the form:

$$\partial_x g_I^{(3)} = \sum_a \left(\partial_x \log L_a \right) \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_J^{(2)} \tag{8.29}$$

where a runs over the set of contributing letters, I, J run over the set of basis elements, c_{IJ}^a are \mathbb{Q} -number coefficients read off from the matrices \mathbf{M}_a and $g_J^{(2)}$ are the basis elements at weight 2, known in terms of GPLs. Since the lower limit of integration corresponds to x = 0, we need to subtract the appropriate term so that the integral is explicitly finite. This is achieved as follows:

$$\partial_x g_I^{(3)} = \sum_a \frac{l_a}{x} \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_{J,0}^{(2)} + \left(\sum_a \left(\partial_x \log L_a\right) \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_J^{(2)} - \sum_a \frac{l_a}{x} \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_{J,0}^{(2)}\right)$$
(8.30)

where $g_{I,0}^{(2)}$ are obtained by expanding $g_I^{(2)}$ around x = 0 and keeping terms up to order $\mathcal{O}(\log(x)^2)$, and $l_a \in \mathbb{Q}$ are defined through

$$\partial_x \log L_a = \frac{l_a}{x} + \mathcal{O}(x^0). \tag{8.31}$$

The DE (8.30) can now be integrated from x = 0 to $x = \bar{x}$, and the result is given by

$$g_{I}^{(3)} = g_{I,\mathcal{G}}^{(3)} + b_{I}^{(3)} + \int_{0}^{\bar{x}} \mathrm{d}x \, \left(\sum_{a} \left(\partial_{x} \log L_{a} \right) \sum_{J} c_{IJ}^{a} g_{J}^{(2)} - \sum_{a} \frac{l_{a}}{x} \sum_{J} c_{IJ}^{a} g_{J,0}^{(2)} \right) \tag{8.32}$$

with $b_I^{(3)}$ being the boundary terms at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$ and

$$g_{I,\mathcal{G}}^{(3)} = \int_0^{\bar{x}} \mathrm{d}x \sum_a \frac{l_a}{x} \sum_J c_{LJ}^a g_{J,0}^{(2)} \bigg|_{\mathcal{G}}$$
(8.33)

with the subscript \mathcal{G} , indicating that the integral is represented in terms of GPLs (see ancillary file), following the convention

$$\int_{0}^{\bar{x}} dx \frac{1}{x} \mathcal{G}\left(\underbrace{0, \dots 0}_{n}; x\right) = \mathcal{G}\left(\underbrace{0, \dots 0}_{n+1}; \bar{x}\right).$$
(8.34)

Weight 4: At weight 4, the differential equation (8.15) can be written in the form:

$$\partial_x g_I^{(4)} = \sum_a \left(\partial_x \log L_a \right) \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_J^{(3)} \tag{8.35}$$

which after doubly-subtracting, in order to obtain integrals that are explicitly finite as in (8.30), is written as

$$\partial_x g_I^{(4)} = \sum_a \partial_x (\log L_a - LL_a) \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_J^{(3)} + \sum_a \partial_x (LL_a) \sum_J c_{IJ}^a (g_J^{(3)} - g_{J,0}^{(3)}) + \sum_a \frac{l_a}{x} \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_{J,0}^{(3)}$$
(8.36)

where LL_a are obtained by expanding $\log(L_a)$ around x = 0 and keeping terms up to order $\mathcal{O}(\log(x))$, and

$$g_{I,0}^{(3)} = g_{I,\mathcal{G}}^{(3)} + b_I^{(3)}.$$
(8.37)

Now, by integrating by parts and using (8.30) we can write the final result as follows:

$$g_{I}^{(4)} = g_{I,\mathcal{G}}^{(4)} + b_{I}^{(4)} + \left(\sum_{a} \log L_{a} \sum_{J} c_{IJ}^{a} g_{J}^{(3)}\right) - \left(\sum_{a} LL_{a} \sum_{J} c_{IJ}^{a} g_{J,0}^{(3)}\right) - \int_{0}^{\bar{x}} dx \sum_{a} \left(\log L_{a} - LL_{a}\right) \sum_{J} c_{IJ}^{a} \sum_{b} \frac{l_{b}}{x} \sum_{K} c_{JK}^{b} g_{K,0}^{(2)} - \int_{0}^{\bar{x}} dx \sum_{a} \log L_{a} \sum_{J} c_{IJ}^{a} \left(\sum_{b} \left(\partial_{x} \log L_{b}\right) \sum_{K} c_{JK}^{b} g_{K}^{(2)} - \sum_{b} \frac{l_{b}}{x} \sum_{K} c_{JK}^{b} g_{K,0}^{(2)}\right)$$
(8.38)

with a, b running over the set of contributing letters, I, J, K running over the set of basis elements, $b_I^{(4)}$ being the boundary terms at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$ and

$$g_{I,\mathcal{G}}^{(4)} = \int_0^{\bar{x}} \mathrm{d}x \left(\sum_a \frac{l_a}{x} \sum_J c_{IJ}^a g_{J,0}^{(3)} \right) \bigg|_{\mathcal{G}}$$
(8.39)

where the subscript \mathcal{G} indicates that the integral is represented in terms of GPLs (see ancillary file), following (8.34).

Implementation: We have implemented the final formulae (8.32) and (8.38) in a Mathematica notebook included in the ancillary file. We use NIntegrate to perform the onedimensional integrals appearing in the (8.32) and (8.38), after expressing all weight-2 functions in terms of classical polylogarithms following reference [121]. For the evaluation of the terms expressed as GPLs, (8.33) and (8.39), we use GiNaC [71], [89] as implemented in PolyLogTools [66]. We have checked against basis elements known in terms of GPLs up to weight 4, that with this setup, we can obtain numerical results with 32 digit-precision. For kinematic configurations where there are no singularities in the domain of integration $(0, \bar{x})$, we have checked the new basis elements against numerical results provided by the authors of reference [109] and found full agreement. For kinematic configurations with singularities in the domain of integration, we use the standard $i\epsilon$ -prescription and obtain again full agreement. The performance of this simple implementation is quite encouraging: in all cases a few hundreds of evaluations of the integrand are enough to achieve the 32 digit-precision. Notice that the integrand expressions involve logarithms and classical polylogarithms Li₂, that are evaluated using very little CPU time, even within our simple Mathematica setup without any optimisation. We plan to address an optimised implementation, in line with references [79], [112], in a forthcoming publication.

8.5 Conclusions

The frontier of precision calculations at NNLO currently concerns $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering process involving massless propagators and one massive external particle. At the level of FI, all planar two-loop MI have been recently computed through the solution of canonical DE both numerically [80], via generalised power series expansions, and analytically in terms of GPLs up to weight 4 [82], using the SDE approach [38]. More recently, results in terms of Chen iterated integrals were presented and implemented in the so-called pentagon functions [112].

Concerning the two-loop non-planar topologies, these can be classified into the three socalled hexabox topologies and two so-called double-pentagons, see figure 8.1. One of the hexabox topologies, denoted as N_1 in figure 8.1, was calculated numerically a few years ago using an approach which introduces a Feynman parameter and uses analytic results for the subtopologies that are involved [70]. More recently, pure bases for the three hexabox topologies satisfying DE in d log form were presented in reference [109] and solved numerically using the same methods as in [80].

In this chapter we addressed the calculation of the three two-loop hexabox topologies, N_1 , N_2 , N_3 in figure 8.1, using the SDE approach. For the N_1 family results up to weight 4 in terms of GPLs are obtained. For the N_2 and N_3 families we have established an onedimensional integral representation involving up to weight-2 GPLs. This allows to extend the scope of the SDE approach when non-factorisable square roots appear in the alphabet. We have also introduced a new approach to compute the boundary terms directly for the basis elements, that significantly reduces the complexity of the problem. With these new developments, we hope to complete the full set of five-point one-mass two-loop MI families in the near future and provide a solid implementation for their numerical evaluation.

Chapter 9

Multiscale pentagon integrals involving internal masses

We study several multiscale one-loop five-point families of Feynman integrals. More specifically, we employ the SDE approach to obtain results in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four for families with two and three massive external legs and massless propagators, as well as with one massive internal line and up to two massive external legs. This is the first time this computational approach is applied to cases involving internal masses. This chapter is based on original research which first appeared in [122].

9.1 Introduction

In recent years the field of precision calculations in collider physics has emerged as a vibrant and fruitful line of research in our attempt to understand Nature at its most fundamental level [6]. The basic principle of this research endeavour is to have very precise experimental measurements of cross sections for Standard Model scattering processes compared against theoretical predictions of equally high precision and search for any deviations between them. Should any such deviations be established, their analysis and physical explanation would require New Physics, giving us an idea of what lies beyond the Standard Model.

The ever increasing demand for highly precise theoretical predictions for scattering processes relevant to LHC searches poses a challenge in our ability to perform higher order calculations in perturbative Quantum Field Theory [90]. Multiloop scattering amplitudes play a fundamental role in such calculations, encoding within their mathematical structure key information concerning the nature of particle interactions. One major aspect of the calculation of multiloop scattering amplitudes is the calculation of the relevant Feynman diagrams that are involved, which can be associated through the corresponding Feynman rules to the so-called Feynman integrals. In the following we will use the notion of *diagrams* and *integrals* interchangeably.

The standard approach for the calculation of these integrals involves obtaining a complete set of MI through the use of Integration-By-Part identities [26], constructing a pure basis of MI [40] and then deriving and solving differential equations in canonical form [42]. This approach has yielded numerous results [123], in part due to the fact that we have a solid understanding of the special class of functions, known as multiple or GPLs [44]–[47], in terms of which many Feynman integrals can be expressed. In more complicated cases however, this class of functions is not enough and important steps have been made in getting a better understanding of a more general class of functions, Elliptic integrals [124]–[130], which appear in solutions of multiloop Feynman integrals with many scales, especially when several internal masses are introduced.

When considering multiloop Feynman integrals involving many external particles, the current frontier lies at two-loop five-point integrals with up to one off-shell leg and massless internal lines. For the fully massless case, all MI are by now known up to transcendental weight four [78], [81], [85], [93], [131]–[133] and their solutions have been implemented in a fast C++ library known as *pentagon functions* [79]. When one of the external particles is considered off-shell, the planar topologies have been recently solved using two different computational approaches for the solution of canonical differential equations, numerically [80] and analytically [82]. The numerical calculation was performed using a generalised power-series method [110], [111], while the analytical solution was achieved through the use of the SDE approach [38], with the results given in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four. These results are relevant to many $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes studied experimentally at the LHC, e.g. W + 2 jets production. For the computation of the relevant scattering amplitudes, one-loop five-point Feynman integrals with one off-shell leg also have to be known up to transcendental weight four [72]. These results were recently used for the calculation of two-loop QCD corrections to $Wb\bar{b}$ production [84]. First results for one of the non-planar topologies have also appeared using a numerical approach [70]. More recently the three *hexabox* topologies were calculated in [109] using the same approach as in [80].

While staying at the level of five-point Feynman integrals, at some point we will have to introduce internal masses and consider more than one massive external particle. Judging from the level of complexity of the so far accumulated results, these Feynman integrals are expected to be highly non-trivial to be solved using current approaches, especially the genuine two-loop ones. To that end, we believe that it is instructive to consider first the relevant one-loop five-point Feynman integrals with more than one off-shell leg and/or with internal masses. The interest of these Feynman integrals is twofold. From a more formal point of view, it is interesting to see what kind of functions appear as solutions of the relevant canonical differential equations and study their structure. This will give us a glimpse of the minimum mathematical complexities and difficulties we should expect when we consider their two-loop counterparts. From a phenomenological standpoint, these one-loop integrals will be required for the computation of two-loop corrections for $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes involving more than one massive external particle and/or internal massive particles.

In line with the arguments presented above, we consider in this chapter the analytical calculation of several multiscale one-loop five-point Feynman integrals. More specifically, we present analytical results in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four for families with two and three off-shell legs and massless internal lines, as well as for families with one massive propagator and up to two external massive particles. Our calculation is based on the SDE approach [38] which introduces an external dimensionless parameter x in such a way that captures the off-shellness of one massive leg. The system of canonical differential equations is constructed by differentiating a pure basis of MI in terms of x, regardless of the number of scales involved in the problem. One special feature of this approach is that by taking the limit of $x \to 1$ [81] for a family with n massive legs, we can obtain the result for a family with n-1 massive legs in an algorithmic way [60]. In Figure 9.1 we present the families of Feynman integrals computed through the solution of SDE in canonical form, while in Figure 9.2 we present the families of integrals computed through the $x \to 1$ limit.

The rest of our chapter is structured as follows: in section 9.2 we introduce basic notation and the kinematic configuration for each of the studied families of Feynman integrals, in section 9.3 we construct pure bases and derive and solve SDE in canonical form for all integral families depicted in Figure 9.1, we present some of the resulting alphabets in x and study their structure, and solve all integral families depicted in Figure 9.2 through the $x \to 1$ limit in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four. In section 9.4 we provide an analysis of our results, as well as numerical checks for Euclidean points and in section 9.6 we summarise our findings and discuss their key features. To the best of our knowledge these families have never before been considered in the literature, thus their solution constitutes an original contribution. This is



Figure 9.1: Top-sector diagrams for families computed with the SDE approach. All external particles are incoming. Bold external (internal) lines represent massive particles.



Figure 9.2: Top-sector diagrams for families computed through the $x \to 1$ limit. All external particles are incoming. Bold external (internal) lines represent massive particles.

also the first time that a calculation with the SDE approach involving MI with internal masses is reported. Along with this chapter we provide all of our results in ancillary files. Explicit weight-three expressions for the top-sector basis elements of families C and H are given in appendix 9.5.

9.2 Notation and kinematics

The integral families are defined through the following parametrization,

$$G_{a_1 a_2 a_3 a_4 a_5} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k_1}{i \pi^{(d/2)}} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\epsilon \gamma_E}}{\mathcal{D}_1^{a_1} \mathcal{D}_2^{a_2} \mathcal{D}_3^{a_3} \mathcal{D}_4^{a_4} \mathcal{D}_5^{a_5}}, \quad d = 4 - 2\epsilon \tag{9.1}$$

with

$$\mathcal{D}_1 = (k_1)^2 - n_1 \ m^2, \ \mathcal{D}_2 = (k_1 + q_1)^2, \ \mathcal{D}_3 = (k_1 + q_1 + q_2)^2$$
$$\mathcal{D}_4 = (k_1 + q_1 + q_2 + q_3)^2 - n_4 \ m^2, \ \mathcal{D}_5 = (k_1 + q_1 + q_2 + q_3 + q_4)^2.$$
(9.2)

For the families C, D and E we have $n_1 = n_4 = 0$, for the families F and $G n_1 = 0, n_4 = 1$ and finally for the family $H n_1 = 1, n_4 = 0$. The kinematics for the families depicted in Figure 9.1 is as follows,

- $C\&H: \sum_{i=1}^{5} q_i = 0, q_i^2 = 0, i = 1, 2, 4, q_3^2 = m_3^2, q_5^2 = m_5^2$
- E: $\sum_{i=1}^{5} q_i = 0, q_i^2 = 0, i = 2, 4, q_1^2 = \bar{m}_1^2, q_3^2 = m_3^2, q_5^2 = m_5^2$
- G: $\sum_{i=1}^{5} q_i = 0, q_i^2 = 0, i = 1, 2, 4, 5, q_3^2 = m_3^2$.

We introduce the following x-parametrization¹

$$q_1 = xp_1, \ q_2 = xp_2, \ q_3 = p_{123} - xp_{12}, \ q_4 = p_4, \ q_5 = -p_{1234}.$$
 (9.3)

The kinematics in this underline momentum parametrization is

- $C\&H: \sum_{i=1}^{5} p_i = 0, p_i^2 = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, 4, p_5^2 = m_5^2$
- E: $\sum_{i=1}^{5} p_i = 0, p_i^2 = 0, i = 2, 3, 4, p_1^2 = m_1^2, p_5^2 = m_5^2$
- G: $\sum_{i=1}^{5} p_i = 0, p_i^2 = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.$

Introducing (9.3) results in a mapping between the kinematic invariants in the original momentum parametrization, q_i , and the underline momentum parametrization $\{x, p_i\}$ for each of the families C, E, G, H^2

$$C\&H: m_3^2 = (x-1) (S_{12}x - S_{45}), s_{12} = S_{12}x^2, s_{23} = S_{23}x - S_{45}x + S_{45}$$

$$s_{34} = m_5^2(-x) + m_5^2 + x (S_{12}(x-1) + S_{34}), s_{45} = S_{45}, s_{15} = m_5^2(-x) + m_5^2 + S_{15}x$$

$$E: s_{12} = S_{12}x^2, s_{23} = x (m_1^2(x-1) + S_{23}) - S_{45}x + S_{45},$$

$$s_{34} = m_5^2(-x) + m_5^2 + x (S_{12}(x-1) + S_{34}), s_{45} = S_{45},$$

$$s_{15} = x (m_1^2(x-1) + S_{15}) + m_5^2(-x) + m_5^2, \bar{m}_1^2 = m_1^2x^2, m_3^2 = (x-1) (S_{12}x - S_{45})$$

$$G: s_{12} = S_{12}x^2, s_{23} = S_{23}x - S_{45}x + S_{45}, s_{34} = x (S_{12}(x-1) + S_{34}), s_{45} = S_{45},$$

$$s_{15} = S_{15}x, m_3^2 = (x-1) (S_{12}x - S_{45}).$$
(9.4)

For the families depicted in Figure 9.2 their definition through (9.1)&(9.2) is obtained by taking (9.3) and setting x = 1, and their kinematic configuration is effectively the one produced by the underline momentum parametrization of the families through which we will calculate them with the $x \to 1$ limit, therefore we have

• $D(x \to 1 \text{ of } E)$: $\sum_{i=1}^{5} p_i = 0, p_i^2 = 0, i = 2, 3, 4, p_1^2 = m_1^2, p_5^2 = m_5^2$ • $F(x \to 1 \text{ of } G)$: $\sum_{i=1}^{5} p_i = 0, p_i^2 = 0, i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.$

Differential equations and pure solutions 9.3

In this section we will describe the analytical calculation of the integral families considered in this chapter. We will construct pure bases for the families C, E, G, H and use the SDE approach [38] to compute them in terms of GPLs. We will show how to obtain boundary terms [60], [82] for these canonical differential equations and present explicit results up to transcendental weight four. A discussion on the structure of the alphabets in x for families C and H is also provided, along with their explicit expressions.

We will also show how by taking the $x \to 1$ limit of the analytic solution of families E and G, one can obtain in an algorithmic way analytic results in terms of GPLs for the families D and F respectively. Additionally, this procedure will allow us to obtain pure bases for the

¹We use the abbreviations $p_{ij} = p_i + p_j$ and $p_{ijk} = p_i + p_j + p_k$ and similarly for q later. ²We use the abbreviations $s_{ij} = q_{ij}^2$, $S_{ij} = p_{ij}^2$.

families D and F in a straightforward manner [60]. The results presented here for these last two families are up to transcendental weight four as well.

It is important to note that introducing one internal mass does not appear to have any effect on the efficiency of the methods that have been developed for the determination of boundary terms, as well as taking the $x \to 1$ limit within the SDE approach.

9.3.1 Families C, E, G, H

Constructing pure bases for the families C, E, G, H is by now a trivial exercise. Following the reasoning of [80], [85], the top sector basis element at the *integrand* level is of the form

$$\epsilon^2 \frac{\mathcal{P}_{11111}}{\sqrt{\Delta_5}} \tilde{G}_{11111} \tag{9.5}$$

where \mathcal{P}_{11111} is the Baikov polynomial corresponding to the top sector *integral* G_{11111} for each family, \tilde{G}_{11111} is the top sector *integrand* of each family and $\Delta_5 = \det[q_i \cdot q_j]$ is the Gram determinant of the external momenta. The remaining pure basis elements can be constructed through the study of the leading singularities of their corresponding diagrams [40]. Using Azurite [30] and KIRA2 [29] we identify 15, 18, 16 and 18 MI for the families C, E, G, H respectively.

When considering five-point scattering, a number of square roots of the kinematic invariants enter the differential equations of the corresponding pure bases. These square roots originate from leading singularities of triangles with three massive legs³ which are represented by square roots of the Källen function $\lambda(x, y, z) = x^2 - 2xy - 2xz + y^2 - 2yz + z^2$ and from square roots of the Gram determinants of the five-point external momenta. The existence of these square roots poses a challenge if one wishes to solve the differential equations analytically in terms of GPLs.

For the families considered in this subsection the following square roots appear:

$$r_1 = \sqrt{\lambda(s_{12}, m_3^2, s_{45})} \tag{9.6}$$

$$r_2 = \sqrt{\lambda(s_{12}, s_{34}, m_5^2)} \tag{9.7}$$

$$r_3 = \sqrt{\lambda(\bar{m}_1^2, s_{23}, s_{45})} \tag{9.8}$$

$$r_4 = \sqrt{\lambda(\bar{m}_1^2, m_5^2, s_{15})} \tag{9.9}$$

$$r_5 = \sqrt{\Delta_5^C} = \sqrt{\Delta_5^H} \tag{9.10}$$

$$r_6 = \sqrt{\Delta_5^E} \tag{9.11}$$

$$r_7 = \sqrt{\Delta_5^G}.\tag{9.12}$$

We should note at this point that not all square roots appear in every family at the same time. More specifically, in families C and H we encounter r_1, r_2, r_5 , in family $E r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4, r_6$ and in family $G r_1, r_7$.

If one tries to compute these families using the standard differential equations approach, i.e. by differentiating with respect to all kinematic invariants, then the algebraic structure of the alphabet (i.e. the square roots appearing as letters) of the canonical differential equation for each family prohibits a straightforward solution in terms of GPLs. In order to achieve a result

³For all integral families considered in this chapter the most complicated triangle Feynman integrals are the ones with fully massive legs and one massive propagator. This one internal mass however has no effect in the calculation of the leading singularity of the corresponding integral.

in such a form we need to find a way to deal with these square roots. Several ideas have been put forward recently that are able to circumvent this problem and provide solutions in terms of GPLs [116], [134]–[136] for specific cases, however a universal method to treat the problem of square roots appearing in the alphabet of canonical differential equations for multiscale families of Feynman integrals is still missing.

It turns out that for the families C, E, G, H the x-parametrization introduced in (9.3) and the resulting mapping of the kinematic invariants (9.4) rationalises all square roots with respect to x. This allows us to obtain a canonical differential equation in x for each of the four families considered in this subsection,

$$\partial_x \mathbf{g} = \epsilon \left(\sum_{i=1}^{l_{max}} \frac{\mathbf{M}_i}{x - l_i} \right) \mathbf{g}$$
(9.13)

where **g** is the pure basis for each family, \mathbf{M}_i are the residue matrices corresponding to each letter l_i and l_{max} is the length of the alphabet⁴. The kinematic dependence is entirely contained within the letters l_i , leaving the residue matrices \mathbf{M}_i to be solely constructed by rational numbers. The length of the alphabet for each of the four families considered in this subsection is $l_{max}^C = 14$, $l_{max}^E = 19$, $l_{max}^G = 22$, $l_{max}^H = 30$. The explicit form of the alphabet for each of the four families is provided in the ancillary files that accompany this chapter. In the next subsection we will study more closely some of these alphabets.

In order to solve (9.13) we need to provide boundary terms. We will follow closely the computational framework developed in [60], [82] for the determination of the relevant boundary terms. We start with the residue matrix corresponding to the letter $\{0\}$, \mathbf{M}_1 and through its Jordan Decomposition we rewrite it as follows,

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = \mathbf{S}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{S}^{-1}.\tag{9.14}$$

Then we define the *resummation matrix* \mathbf{R} as follows

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{S}e^{\epsilon \mathbf{D}\log(x)}\mathbf{S}^{-1}.$$
(9.15)

The next step is to use IBP identities to write the pure basis \mathbf{g} in the following form

$$\mathbf{g} = \mathbf{T}\mathbf{G}.\tag{9.16}$$

The list of Feynman integrals **G** is also provided in electronic form. Furthermore, using the expansion-by-regions method [51] implemented in the **asy** code which is shipped along with **FIESTA4** [58], we can obtain information for the asymptotic behaviour of the Feynman integrals in terms of which we express the pure basis of MI (9.16) in the limit $x \to 0$,

$$G_i \mathop{=}\limits_{x \to 0} \sum_j x^{b_j + a_j \epsilon} G_i^{(b_j + a_j \epsilon)}$$
(9.17)

where a_j and b_j are integers and G_i are the individual members of the basis **G** of Feynman integrals in (9.16). As explained in [82], we can construct the relation

$$\mathbf{Rb} = \lim_{x \to 0} \mathbf{TG} \Big|_{\mathcal{O}\left(x^{0+a_j\epsilon}\right)}$$
(9.18)

where $\mathbf{b} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \epsilon^{i} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(i)}$ are the boundary terms that we need to compute. The right-hand-side of (9.18) implies that, apart from the terms $x^{a_{i}\epsilon}$ coming from (9.17), we expand around x = 0, keeping only terms of order x^{0} .

⁴Note here that we are following the notation of [60], [72], [82] when talking about the *letters* of the *alphabet*.

Equation (9.18) allows us to fix all the necessary boundary terms without the need of any further computation for the families C, E, H while for family G a few regions had to be computed. Similarly to [72], the resulting boundary terms for all of the four families considered in this subsection are in closed form, including some $_2F_1$ Hypergeometric functions which can be easily expanded to arbitrary powers of the dimensional regulator using HypExp [56]. Therefore we are able to trivially obtain solutions of (9.13) for the families C, E, G, H in terms of GPLs of arbitrary weight.

In this chapter we present explicit results for the families C, E, G, H in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four, which can be written in the following compact form,

$$\mathbf{g} = \epsilon^{0} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \epsilon \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{2} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{3} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} \right)$$

$$+ \epsilon^{4} \left(\sum \mathcal{G}_{abcd} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{M}_{d} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(0)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{abc} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{M}_{c} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(1)}$$

$$+ \sum \mathcal{G}_{ab} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{b} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(2)} + \sum \mathcal{G}_{a} \mathbf{M}_{a} \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(3)} + \mathbf{b}_{0}^{(4)} \right)$$

$$(9.19)$$

were $\mathcal{G}_{ab...} := \mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \ldots; x)$ represent the GPLs. The $b_0^{(i)}$ terms, with *i* indicating the corresponding weight, consist of Zeta functions $\zeta(i)$, logarithms and GPLs of weight *i* which have as arguments rational functions of the underline kinematic variables S_{ij} .

Our results are presented in such a way that each coefficient of ϵ^k has transcendental weight k. If we assign weight -1 to ϵ , then (9.19) has uniform weight zero. The closed-form expressions of the boundary terms trivialise the extension of (9.19) to higher transcendental weights (or higher orders in ϵ).

9.3.2 The alphabet in x

It is instructive to have a closer look at the alphabets for some of these families and see what lessons can be learned. We will study the alphabets of families C and H. We choose these families because they have the same external kinematics but differ on the fact that family H has one internal mass. Thus it is interesting to see how the introduction of an internal mass effects the alphabet. The conclusions drawn from the study of these families' alphabets are similar to what can be learned from the alphabets of the rest of the families considered in this chapter.

Family C

The alphabet for this family is

$$\begin{split} l_1 &\to 0, l_2 \to 1, l_3 \to \frac{m_5^2}{m_5^2 - S_{15}}, l_4 \to \frac{S_{12} + S_{23}}{S_{12}}, l_5 \to \frac{S_{12} + S_{15} - S_{34}}{S_{12}}, \\ l_6 &\to \frac{-\sqrt{\Delta_1} + m_5^2 + S_{12} - S_{34}}{2S_{12}}, l_7 \to \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_1} + m_5^2 + S_{12} - S_{34}}{2S_{12}}, l_8 \to \frac{m_5^2 - S_{45}}{m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45}}, \\ l_9 &\to \frac{m_5^2 - S_{45}}{m_5^2 - S_{34} - S_{45}}, l_{10} \to \frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}, l_{11} \to \frac{S_{45}}{S_{45} - S_{23}}, l_{12} \to \frac{m_5^2 S_{12} - S_{45} S_{12} + S_{34} S_{45}}{m_5^2 S_{12} - S_{12} S_{45}}, \end{split}$$

$$l_{13} \rightarrow -\frac{\sqrt{\Delta_2} - 2m_5^2 S_{12} - m_5^2 S_{23} + S_{15} S_{12} - S_{23} S_{12} + 2S_{45} S_{12} + S_{23} S_{34} + S_{15} S_{45} - S_{34} S_{45}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45})},$$

$$l_{14} \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{\Delta_2} + 2m_5^2 S_{12} + m_5^2 S_{23} - S_{15} S_{12} + S_{23} S_{12} - 2S_{45} S_{12} - S_{23} S_{34} - S_{15} S_{45} + S_{34} S_{45}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45})}.$$

$$(9.20)$$

We notice that two square roots appear, $\sqrt{\Delta_1}$, $\sqrt{\Delta_2}$, where Δ_1 , Δ_2 are given by the following expressions

$$\Delta_{1} = -2m_{5}^{2} (S_{12} + S_{34}) + (m_{5}^{2})^{2} + (S_{12} - S_{34})^{2}, \qquad (9.21)$$

$$\Delta_{2} = (m_{5}^{2}S_{23} - S_{34}S_{23} + (S_{34} - S_{15})S_{45})^{2} + S_{12}^{2} (S_{15} - S_{23})^{2} + 2S_{12} (m_{5}^{2}S_{23} (S_{15} - S_{23} - 2S_{34}) - S_{45}S_{15}^{2} + S_{23}S_{34}S_{15} + (S_{23} + S_{34})S_{45}S_{15} + S_{23}S_{34} (S_{45} - S_{23})). \qquad (9.22)$$

These square roots are directly associated with r_2 and r_5 respectively. We would expect a third square root to appear, namely r_1 , as mentioned in the previous subsection. However, after introducing the *x*-parametrization (9.3), r_1 is rational in all variables. More specifically, if we express these square roots using the first set of relations from (9.4), we get

$$r_1 = (S_{12} - S_{45}) x \tag{9.23}$$

$$r_2 = \sqrt{\Delta_1} x \tag{9.24}$$

$$r_5 = \sqrt{\Delta_2} x^2. \tag{9.25}$$

The structure of this alphabet is similar in terms of its complexity with the alphabet for the one-mass pentagon studied in [72]. The difference of course is the presence of an additional square root of the *underline kinematic variables* S_{ij} in the present case.

Family H

The alphabet for this family is

$$\begin{split} l_1 &\rightarrow 0, l_2 \rightarrow 1, l_3 \rightarrow \frac{m^2}{S_{12}}, l_4 \rightarrow -\frac{\sqrt{m^2}}{\sqrt{S_{12}}}, l_5 \rightarrow \frac{\sqrt{m^2}}{\sqrt{S_{12}}}, l_6 \rightarrow \frac{S_{12} + S_{23}}{S_{12}}, \\ l_7 \rightarrow \frac{m_5^2 + S_{12} - S_{34} - \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_1}}{2S_{12}}, l_8 \rightarrow \frac{m_5^2 + S_{12} - S_{34} + \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_1}}{2S_{12}}, l_9 \rightarrow \frac{m^2 \left(m_5^2 + S_{12} - S_{34} - \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_1}\right)}{2m_5^2S_{12}}, \\ l_{10} \rightarrow \frac{m^2 \left(m_5^2 + S_{12} - S_{34} + \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_1}\right)}{2m_5^2S_{12}}, l_{11} \rightarrow -\frac{m^2}{S_{23} - S_{45}}, l_{12} \rightarrow \frac{m_5^2 - S_{45}}{m_5^2 - S_{34} - S_{45}}, l_{13} \rightarrow \frac{m^2}{S_{45}}, \\ l_{14} \rightarrow \frac{S_{45}}{S_{12}}, l_{15} \rightarrow -\frac{S_{45}}{S_{23} - S_{45}}, l_{16} \rightarrow \frac{-S_{12}m^2 - S_{12}S_{45} + \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_2}}{2S_{12} \left(S_{23} - S_{45}\right)}, l_{17} \rightarrow -\frac{S_{12}m^2 + S_{12}S_{45} + \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_2}}{2S_{12} \left(m_5^2 - S_{45}\right)}, \\ l_{18} \rightarrow -\frac{-m_5^2m^2 + S_{34}m^2 + S_{45}m^2 - m_5^2S_{12} + S_{12}S_{45} - S_{34}S_{45} + \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_3}}{2S_{12} \left(m_5^2 - S_{45}\right)}, \\ l_{19} \rightarrow \frac{m_5^2m^2 - S_{34}m^2 - S_{45}m^2 + m_5^2S_{12} - S_{12}S_{45} + S_{34}S_{45} + \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_3}}{2S_{12} \left(m_5^2 - S_{45}\right)}, \\ l_{20} \rightarrow \frac{m^2}{m_5^2 - S_{15}}, l_{21} \rightarrow \frac{m_5^2}{m_5^2 - S_{15}}, l_{22} \rightarrow \frac{m_5^2 - S_{45}}{m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45}}, l_{23} \rightarrow \frac{S_{12} + S_{15} - S_{34}}{S_{12}}, \\ l_{24} \rightarrow \frac{m^2 \left(m_5^2 - S_{15}\right)}{\left(m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45}\right)m^2 - m_5^2S_{23} + S_{15}S_{45}}, l_{25} \rightarrow \frac{S_{12}m^2 + m_5^2S_{12} - \sqrt{\tilde{\Delta}_4}}{2S_{12} \left(m_5^2 - S_{15}\right)}, \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{split} l_{26} &\rightarrow \frac{S_{12}m^2 + m_5^2 S_{12} + \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_4}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 - S_{15})}, \\ l_{27} &\rightarrow \frac{-S_{12} S_{15}m^2 + m_5^2 S_{23}m^2 + S_{12} S_{23}m^2 - S_{23} S_{34}m^2 - S_{15} S_{45}m^2 + S_{34} S_{45}m^2 + \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_5}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 S_{23} - S_{15} S_{45})}, \\ l_{28} &\rightarrow -\frac{S_{12} S_{15}m^2 - m_5^2 S_{23}m^2 - S_{12} S_{23}m^2 + S_{23} S_{34}m^2 + S_{15} S_{45}m^2 - S_{34} S_{45}m^2 + \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_5}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 S_{23} - S_{15} S_{45})}, \\ l_{29} &\rightarrow \frac{2m_5^2 S_{12} - S_{15} S_{12} + S_{23} S_{12} - 2S_{45} S_{12} + m_5^2 S_{23} - S_{23} S_{34} - S_{15} S_{45} + S_{34} S_{45} + \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_6}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45})}, \\ l_{30} &\rightarrow -\frac{-2m_5^2 S_{12} + S_{15} S_{12} - S_{23} S_{12} + 2S_{45} S_{12} - m_5^2 S_{23} + S_{23} S_{34} + S_{15} S_{45} - S_{34} S_{45} + \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_6}}{2S_{12} (m_5^2 - S_{15} + S_{23} - S_{45})}. \end{split}$$

$$(9.26)$$

The first remark that we can make for this alphabet is that we have six square roots in the *underline kinematic variables* S_{ij} , namely $\sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_i}$, i = 1, ...6. The explicit expressions for the arguments of these square roots are as follows,

$$\hat{\Delta}_1 = -2m_5^2 \left(S_{12} + S_{34}\right) + m_5^4 + \left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right)^2, \tag{9.27}$$

$$\Delta_2 = S_{12} \left(m^4 S_{12} + 4m^2 S_{23} \left(S_{12} + S_{23} \right) - 2m^2 \left(S_{12} + 2S_{23} \right) S_{45} + S_{12} S_{45}^2 \right),$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_3 = m^4 \left(-m_5^2 + S_{34} + S_{45} \right)^2 + \left(m_5^2 S_{12} + \left(S_{34} - S_{12} \right) S_{45} \right)^2$$

$$(9.28)$$

$$+ 2m^{2} \left(m_{5}^{2} \left(-S_{12}\right) \left(m_{5}^{2} + S_{34}\right) + m_{5}^{2} \left(2S_{12} + S_{34}\right) S_{45} - \left(S_{12} + S_{34}\right) S_{45}^{2} + \left(S_{12} - S_{34}\right) S_{34} S_{45}\right), \qquad (9.29)$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_4 = S_{12} \left(m^4 S_{12} - 2m_5^2 m^2 \left(S_{12} + 2S_{15} - 2S_{34} \right) + 4m^2 S_{15} \left(S_{12} + S_{15} - S_{34} \right) + m_5^4 S_{12} \right), \quad (9.30)$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_7 = m^4 \hat{\Delta}_c \qquad (9.31)$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_{5} = m \ \Delta_{6}, \tag{5.51}$$

$$\hat{\Delta}_{6} = \left(m_{5}^{2}S_{23} - S_{23}S_{34} + (S_{34} - S_{15})S_{45}\right)^{2} + S_{12}^{2}\left(S_{15} - S_{23}\right)^{2} + 2S_{12}\left(m_{5}^{2}S_{23}\left(S_{15} - S_{23} - 2S_{34}\right) + S_{15}S_{23}S_{34} - S_{15}^{2}S_{45} + S_{15}\left(S_{23} + S_{34}\right)S_{45} + S_{23}S_{34}\left(S_{45} - S_{23}\right)\right). \tag{9.32}$$

In comparison with (9.20), we see the same two square roots associated with the leading singularities of the massive three-point functions, r_2 and with the Gram determinant of the external momenta, r_5 , namely

$$r_2 = \sqrt{\Delta_1} x = \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_1} x \tag{9.33}$$

$$r_5 = \sqrt{\Delta_2} x^2 = \sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_6} x^2.$$
 (9.34)

We have however four more square roots, $\sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_2}$, $\sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_3}$, $\sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_4}$, $\sqrt{\hat{\Delta}_5}$, which involve the internal mass m^2 , and are not directly associated with any leading singularities of any diagram from this family. We see therefore that the introduction of an internal mass has a major impact on the complexity of the resulting alphabet.

Final remarks and comparison with other methods

We have seen that introducing an internal mass can significantly increase the complexity of the algebraic structure of an alphabet. It would be interesting to find an explanation for the appearance of the additional square roots in (9.26) which are not directly associated with a leading singularity. Normally, one would expect that the square roots that appear in the alphabet also appear in the definition of the pure basis elements, although in the case of family H the extra square roots do not appear in the pure basis definition.

On a more general note, whenever the SDE approach has been applied in conjunction with a pure basis [60], [72], [82], we have observed a *reduction* in the number of letters that appear when compared with the alphabets that arise through the usual method of differential equations, i.e. when one differentiates with respect to all kinematic invariants. It would be interesting to see the structure of the alphabets for the families studied here when one uses the usual method of differential equations and whether this feature of alphabets in x with fewer letters still holds.

9.3.3 Families D, F

For these families we will obtain analytic expressions through the results of the families E and G. We will follow the procedure of taking the $x \to 1$ limit of our solution for a family with n massive legs to obtain a pure basis and analytic solution of a family with n-1 massive legs, as described in detail in [60].

For families E and G we exploit the shuffle properties of GPLs to write their solution (9.19) as an expansion in terms of $\log(1-x)$ as follows

$$\mathbf{g} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \epsilon^n \sum_{i=0}^n \frac{1}{i!} \mathbf{c}_i^{(n)} \log^i (1-x)$$
(9.35)

with all $\mathbf{c}_i^{(n)}$ being finite in the limit $x \to 1$. The next step is to define the regular part of (9.35) at x = 1

$$\mathbf{g}_{reg} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \epsilon^n \mathbf{c}_0^{(n)} \tag{9.36}$$

and after setting x = 1 explicitly in (9.36) we may define the truncated part of (9.35),

$$\mathbf{g}_{trunc} = \mathbf{g}_{req}(x=1). \tag{9.37}$$

Having done that, we utilise the residue matrix that corresponds to the letter $\{1\}$, \mathbf{M}_2 , and define the *resummation matrix* $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ as follows

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}} = \tilde{\mathbf{S}} e^{\epsilon \tilde{\mathbf{D}} \log(1-x)} \tilde{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}$$
(9.38)

were $\tilde{\mathbf{S}}, \tilde{\mathbf{D}}$ are constructed through the Jordan decomposition of \mathbf{M}_2 , i.e. $\mathbf{M}_2 = \tilde{\mathbf{S}}\tilde{\mathbf{D}}\tilde{\mathbf{S}}^{-1}$. The resummation matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}$ has terms of $(1-x)^{a_i\epsilon}$, with a_i being the eigenvalues of \mathbf{M}_2 . After setting all terms $(1-x)^{a_i\epsilon}$ equal to zero, we define the purely numerical matrix $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$. Obtaining the $x \to 1$ limit of (9.19) amounts to acting with $\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0$ on (9.37)

$$\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \mathbf{R}_0 \mathbf{g}_{trunc}. \tag{9.39}$$

Up to now we have calculated the $x \to 1$ limit for families E and G. This operation not only yields the result for a given family of MI with n massive legs at a special limit, but also allows us to obtain results for an independent family of MI with n-1 massive legs. In the case of family E for example, taking the $x \to 1$ limit makes q_3 to become massless through (9.3), thus yielding the kinematics for family D. However, having the $x \to 1$ limit of E means that we have explicit solutions for the 18 pure basis elements of that family, whereas family D has 16 basis elements. This means that out of the 18 basis elements of family E at this limit, we need to find the 16 of them that form the pure basis and result for family D, i.e. at $x \to 1$ only 16 of the 18 basis elements of family E should remain linearly independent. The same reasoning holds for family G which has 16 basis elements while family F has 15. In order to find the pure bases for families D and F we can either use Integration-By-Part identities to do the reduction or follow the approach described in [60]. We shall use the latter method in the following.

In all cases that we have considered so far, \mathbf{R}_0 is always an *idempotent* matrix which means that, among others, it has the following very useful property

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0^2 = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_0. \tag{9.40}$$

Acting with \mathbf{R}_0 on (9.39) and using (9.40) yields the following relation

$$\tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}\mathbf{g}_{x \to 1} = \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}^{2}\mathbf{g}_{trunc}$$

$$= \tilde{\mathbf{R}}_{0}\mathbf{g}_{trunc}$$

$$= \mathbf{g}_{x \to 1}.$$
(9.41)

This relation, solved as an equation for each row, produces relations that allow us to determine the linearly independent basis elements for families D and F. Therefore, applying (9.41) to the pure basis of E and G yields in an algorithmic way the pure bases for families D and F.

9.3.4 On the choice of integral families

The basic rule for choosing which five-point family to consider is to have the one-mass result [72] as a starting point and add masses, with the condition that their SDE in canonical form have alphabets rational in x, when one uses parametrization (9.3). If the resulting alphabet is not rational in x, then calculating the integral family through the $x \to 1$ limit of another is considered. The exception to the above rule is the five-point family with one internal mass and massless external legs, which in the framework of the SDE can only be calculated through the $x \to 1$ limit of its corresponding one-mass family.

More specifically, if one tries to calculate family D using (9.3) and deriving differential equations in x, then the resulting alphabet is not rational in x. Nevertheless, family D can be expressed in terms of GPLs through the $x \to 1$ limit of family E. Apart from family E there is another family with massless propagators and three massive legs, the one which all three masses are adjacent. However, the alphabet of this family is not rational in x, if one uses (9.3) to parametrize it.

Introducing an internal mass allows for many more families to be considered. Apart from the ones presented in this chapter, a family with one internal mass and three massive legs (i.e. take family H and regard q_1 as massive) was considered, however its alphabet in x is not rational using (9.3).

If the families with non-rational alphabets in x can be rationalised using a parametrization other than (9.3) remains an open question.

9.4 Validation

For all families computed in this chapter we have made heavy use of the Mathematica package PolyLogTools [66] for the manipulation of the resulting GPLs. As shown in (9.19), we provide explicit results up to order $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$. In Table 9.1 we provide an analysis of our results for each family, regarding the number of GPLs that appear in each transcendental weight, where the weight is counted as the number of l_i indices of $\mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \ldots; x)$. These numbers are obtained by gathering all GPLs that appear up to order $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$ in each integral family, and distinguishing them according to their corresponding weight. For comparison, we perform the same task for the top-sector basis element of each family. A common feature of our results is that our solutions are dominated by the number of weight-four polylogarithmic functions. Due to the universally transcendental feature of our solutions, the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^4)$ part is expected to be the most cumbersome to calculate numerically, since weight-four GPLs take longer to calculate than lower-weight ones. To avoid any misconceptions, it should be noted that each top-sector basis element starts from $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$, despite containing lower-weight polylogarithms.

In section 9.5 we present explicit formulas for the weight-three part of the pure top-sector basis elements of families C and H in order to give an idea of the structure and length of the resulting expressions, as well as the way the letters of the alphabets studied in subsection 9.3.2 are introduced in the relevant solutions.

Family	W=1	W=2	W=3	W=4	Total
C	9(0)	54(16)	204 (106)	605 (272)	872 (394)
E	13 (0)	87(24)	349(172)	1033 (432)	1482 (628)
G	21(4)	163(50)	878 (329)	2160(884)	3222(1267)
Н	19 (0)	195(42)	1527 (616)	5914(2732)	7655 (3390)
D	11(0)	83(24)	393(192)	1445 (656)	1932 (872)
F	19 (4)	151(50)	872 (349)	2356(1042)	3398(1445)

Table 9.1: Number of GPLs entering the solution. Results for the respective top-sector basis elements are in parenthesis.

Regarding the validation of our results, we have performed numerical checks of our solution for each family against pySecDec [57] for Euclidean points. All GPLs have been computed numerically using the Ginsh command of PolyLogTools [66], as well as handyG [108], which is a Fortran implementation of the algorithms developed in [71]. For all checks that we have performed we have found perfect agreement. In Table 9.2 we also provide numerical results and timing for the top-sector basis element for each corresponding family. We include timings using handyG since we found that it is in general faster, although it is restrictive in its precision compared to PolyLogTools.

Top-Sector	Time (sec)	Result
C	0.146897	$-0.314547\epsilon^4 - 0.120811\epsilon^3$
E	0.248436	$-0.0332408\epsilon^4 - 0.0215131\epsilon^3$
G	0.475048	$-0.439003\epsilon^4 - 0.130267\epsilon^3$
Н	1.89365	$-0.0165223\epsilon^4 - 0.0192393\epsilon^3$
D	2.15734	$-0.127286\epsilon^4 - 0.162439\epsilon^3$
F	0.730996	$-0.528266\epsilon^4 - 0.33331\epsilon^3$

Table 9.2: Numerical computation of GPLs using handyG with double precision. The computations were performed on a 1,6 GHz Intel Core i5 laptop using a single CPU core.

9.5 Explicit results at weight three

In this appendix we provide explicit results for families C and H for the weight-three part of each top-sector pure basis element. Assuming that each top-sector basis element is expressed in the following manner,

$$g_i^{\text{family}} = \sum_{w=3}^{4} \epsilon^w \, \tilde{g}_{i,w}^{\text{family}} \tag{9.42}$$

we give the explicit expression for the $\tilde{g}_{i,3}^{\text{family}}$ part. We introduce the following shorthand notations for brevity,

$$\mathcal{G}_{a,b,\dots} = \mathcal{G}(l_a, l_b, \dots; x) \tag{9.43}$$

$$L_1 = \log\left(-S_{12}\right), L_2 = \log\left(-S_{45}\right), L_3 = \log\left(-m_5^2\right), \qquad (9.44)$$

$$L_4 = \log\left(m^2\right), L_5 = \log\left(\frac{m^2 - S_{45}}{m^2}\right), L_6 = \log\left(\frac{m^2 - m_5^2}{m^2}\right)$$
(9.45)

9.5.1 Top sector of family C

In the following formula note that letters l_i , $i = \{6, 7, 13, 14\}$ contain square roots in the *underline kinematic variables* S_{ij} , as shown explicitly in (9.20).

$$\begin{split} \tilde{g}_{15,3}^{C} &= \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{13,2} - \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{13,2} + \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{13,3} - \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{13,3} - \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{13,6} + \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{13,6} - \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{13,7} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{13,7} - \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{13,8} + \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{13,8} + \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{13,9} - \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{13,9} + \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{13,10} - \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{13,10} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{13,11} + \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{13,11} - \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{14,2} + \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{14,2} - \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{14,3} + \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{14,3} + \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{14,6} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{14,6} + \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{14,7} - \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{14,7} + \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{14,8} - \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{14,8} - \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{14,9} + \frac{1}{4} L_3 \mathcal{G}_{14,9} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{14,10} + \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{14,10} + \frac{1}{4} L_1 \mathcal{G}_{14,11} - \frac{1}{4} L_2 \mathcal{G}_{14,11} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{13,2,1} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{13,3,1} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,3,3} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,3,6} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,3,7} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,4,2} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,4,10} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,8,11} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,5,3} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,9,6} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,5,7} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{13,6,1} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{13,7,1} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,8,3} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,8,11} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,1,10} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,9,6} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,9,7} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,9,0} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{13,10,1} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{13,11,11} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,11,2} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,11,10} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{13,3,3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,3,6} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,3,7} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,4,2} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,4,10} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,2,1} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{14,3,1} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,3,3} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,5,7} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{14,6,1} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{14,7,1} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,8,3} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,9,2} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,9,6} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,9,7} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,9,10} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{14,11,1} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,12,7} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,12,10} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,1,1,1} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,12,2} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,12,6} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,12,7} + \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{G}_{14,2,10} \\$$

9.5.2 Top sector of family H

In the following formula note that letters l_i , $i = \{7, 8, 9, 10, 16, 17, 18, 19, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30\}$ contain square roots in the *underline kinematic variables* S_{ij} , as shown explicitly in (9.26).

$$g_{18,3}^{H} = \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,3} - \frac{1}{4}L_{4}\mathcal{G}_{27,3} - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,3} - \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,9} + \frac{1}{4}L_{4}\mathcal{G}_{27,9} + \frac{1}{4}L_{6}\mathcal{G}_{27,9} - \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,10} \\ + \frac{1}{4}L_{4}\mathcal{G}_{27,10} + \frac{1}{4}L_{6}\mathcal{G}_{27,10} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,11} + \frac{1}{4}L_{4}\mathcal{G}_{27,11} + \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,11} + \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,13} - \frac{1}{4}L_{4}\mathcal{G}_{27,13} \\ - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,13} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} + \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} + \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{6}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} + \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} \\ - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,13} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} + \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} + \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{6}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} + \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} \\ - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} + \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{6}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} + \frac{1}{4}L_{3}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} \\ - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} - \frac{1}{4}L_{2}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,18} - \frac{1}{4}L_{5}\mathcal{G}_{27,19} -$$

$$\begin{split} &+\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,19}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{27,19}+\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{27,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{9}G_{27,20}+\frac{1}{4}L_{2}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{27,24}-\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{28,3}+\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{28,3}+\frac{1}{4}L_{3}G_{28,3}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,3}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,3}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,3}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,3}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,3}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,10}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,10}-\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,10}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,11}-\frac{1}{4}L_{4}G_{28,11}-\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,11}-\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,12}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,12}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,12}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,20}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,20}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{28,20}+\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}+\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{29,12}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{29,12}+\frac{1}{4}L_{5}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,12}-\frac{1}{4}L_{6}G_{29,20}-\frac{$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,25,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,25,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,25,8} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,25,21} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,26,4} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,26,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,20,7} \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,26,8} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,26,21} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,29,2} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,29,7} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,29,8} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,29,14} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,29,15} \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,29,21} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,30,2} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,30,7} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,30,8} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,30,14} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,30,15} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{28,30,21} \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,4} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,5} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,6,2} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,12,7} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,16,5} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,17,4} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,7,5} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,14,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,12,2} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,16,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,16,8} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,16,15} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,17,2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,14,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,17,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,17,14} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,17,5} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,18,14} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,18,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,18,8} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,18,14} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,19,2} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,1} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,15} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,2,1} \\ &- \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,8} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,1} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,1} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,5} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,8} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,2,1} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,6,4} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,6,5} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,6,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,5} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,6,7} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{29,2,2,8} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,12,2} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,12,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,12,8} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,12,14} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,14,4} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,15,2} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,12,2} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,12,7} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,15} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,15} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,14,4} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,2} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,4} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,5} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,15} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,14,4} + \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,2} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,4} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,5} - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,16,7} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{G}_{30,1$$

9.6 Conclusions

The current frontier in the calculation of multiscale multiloop Feynman integrals for $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes relevant to LHC searches lies at two-loop five-point Feynman integrals with one off-shell leg and massless internal lines. As of this writing, results for all planar twoloop five-point MI have been obtained using a numerical [80], as well as an analytical approach [82]. Regarding the analytical results, all planar MI were expressed in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four. These results, along with analytic results for the relevant one-loop five-point MI with one off-shell leg [72], were recently used to perform the first fully analytic calculation of a two-loop scattering amplitude for $Wb\bar{b}$ production [84]. Furthermore, using a new method for calculating MI, the authors of [70] have computed numerically one of the non-planar two-loop five-point families. More recently, some of the authors of [80] presented the three *hexabox* topologies in [109] using the same techniques as in [80].

Looking ahead, at some point we will have to consider more complicated Feynman integrals,

involving more massive external particles and/or massive propagators. One of the expected challenges when considering such integrals is the introduction of many square roots in the alphabet of the resulting canonical differential equations. It remains a non-trivial exercise to find a universal way to handle these roots and achieve a result in terms of GPLs, however several ideas have been put forward in recent times [116], [134]–[136]. One should also keep in mind that even if a so-called *dlog* form of the differential equations is achieved, it does not guarantee that its solution will be in terms of GPLs [137].

In order to get a glimpse of the complexities that lie beyond the frontier of five-point scattering involving one off-shell leg and massless internal lines, in this chapter we studied families of one-loop five-point Feynman integrals with two and three massive external legs and massless propagators, as well as one-loop five-point families with one massive internal line and up to two massive external legs.

We used the SDE approach for the construction of canonical differential equations for pure bases of the families of Figure 9.1 and as a special limit we obtained results for the families of Figure 9.2. As it turned out, the parametrization (9.3) was enough to rationalise all square roots introduced in the alphabet of families C, E, G, H of Figure 9.1. For these families we were also able to obtain boundary terms for the canonical differential equations in closed form, allowing us to trivially derive solutions for these families in terms of GPLs of arbitrary transcendental weight.

For families D, F of Figure 9.2 we obtained analytic results through a special limit of our solutions for families E and G respectively. For all families studied in this chapter we provide explicit results in terms of GPLs of up to transcendental weight four.

Regarding the structure of the resulting alphabets in x, we saw that when one internal mass is introduced, square roots involving this mass arise, which are not present in the definition of the pure basis. Further study of these alphabets is required to pin-point the origin of these additional square roots, which we leave for future work. It is also interesting to explore in the future the structure of these alphabets when one employs the standard method of differential equations, i.e. differentiating with respect to all kinematic variables. A comparison between the two approaches might further elucidate the effectiveness of the SDE approach in providing solutions to multiscale Feynman integrals in terms of GPLs, as well as provide an idea of whether the representation of these integrals in terms of polylogarithmic functions is the best one for phenomenological applications.

Epilogue

In this thesis we have presented analytic results for multiloop multiscale Feynman integrals regarding mostly NNLO virtual corrections to various $2 \rightarrow 3$ scattering processes which are the subject of experimental studies at the LHC. We also presented a 3-loop calculation for one the planar families that are relevant to $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering processes with up to one external massive particle.

The frontier of precision calculations in perturbative QCD is rapidly expanding. Particularly in the subject of Feynman integrals, more and more analytical as well as numerical results are becoming available. Still, there are open problems to consider, such as the calculation of the two remaining 2-loop 5-point non-planar topologies with one off-shell leg, as well as the calculation of the as of yet unknown 3-loop 4-point non-planar topologies with one off-shell leg. These are important problems that need to be addressed in order to increase the precision of the theoretical predictions for key QCD scattering processes. It is the intent of the author to contribute to these outstanding problems in the near future.

The mathematical complexity of these problems poses a great challenge in our ability to provide solutions that are suited for fast and efficient evaluation at the level that is needed for phenomenological studies. The success of the past years gives us confidence that new methods and ideas will be developed, allowing us to overcome all issues that may currently seem insurmountable.

Acknowledgements

It is a strange thing to write something personal after presenting tens of pages filled with mathematical statements, calculations and results, written in a language that is unreasonably effective in its ability to encode the laws of physics, yet it is devoid of any expression of human emotion. And yet it is us, humans, who do science, and behind every calculation, every scientific publication, there are real people leading real lives.

There are many people that I would like to acknowledge and thank for their contribution, scientific or otherwise, to the completion of my PhD studies.

On the scientific front, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Costas Papadopoulos for giving me the opportunity to work on challenging problems at the frontier of particle physics phenomenology, and make contact with a vibrant international scientific community. Furthermore, I would like to thank my colleague Dhimiter Canko for his professional collaboration on many projects and his personal friendship, which made my day to day PhD experience far more enjoyable than it would have been otherwise. I would also like to thank Prof. Lorenzo Tancredi for giving me the opportunity to continue my research endeavours in his group, and my new colleagues in Munich, Max Delto, Cesare Mella and Philipp Kreer, for making the final months of my PhD journey and the first months as a Postdoctoral Fellow a very enjoyable experience.

On a more personal level, even scattered around the world, $\Sigma o \varphi (\alpha \text{ and } \Delta \eta \mu \eta \tau \rho \eta \varsigma)$ were always there for me, to remind me of past adventures and when we were able to meet in person, to make me realise that friendship is a gift that cannot be diminished by any amount of long distance. Sharing a workplace with $\chi \rho_{10} \tau (\lambda \alpha)$ meant that I always had a dear friend close by, to share my troubles of doing a PhD, a few laughs when we both had enough of our daily research struggles and a drink to wash some of our worries away. I am grateful to $N \varepsilon \varphi \delta \lambda \eta$ for our long discussions on pursuing a PhD in Greece and all the hardships that we both had to navigate through to finally reach a meaningful end to our doctoral studies.

The family Dungeons and Dragons group, comprised by my cousins Βάιος, Κώστας and Κώστας, was a great and much needed place to escape into fantasy lands amongst a merry band of fellow adventurers.

Last, but certainly not least, my brother $N\tau$ (voc and parents 'Avva and H λ (ac have been the bedrock of my development as a person and without their unwavering support nothing would have been possible. This thesis is dedicated to them.

Bibliography

- D. Hanneke, S. Fogwell, and G. Gabrielse, "New measurement of the electron magnetic moment and the fine structure constant", *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 100, no. 12, Mar. 2008, ISSN: 1079-7114. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.100.120801. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.100.120801 (cit. on p. 6).
- T. Aoyama, M. Hayakawa, T. Kinoshita, and M. Nio, "Tenth-Order QED Contribution to the Electron g-2 and an Improved Value of the Fine Structure Constant", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 109, p. 111807, 2012. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.109.111807. arXiv: 1205.5368 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 6).
- T. Aoyama, T. Kinoshita, and M. Nio, "Revised and Improved Value of the QED Tenth-Order Electron Anomalous Magnetic Moment", *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 97, no. 3, p. 036 001, 2018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.97.036001. arXiv: 1712.06060 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 6).
- G. Aad *et al.*, "Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 716, pp. 1–29, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.physletb.2012.08.020. arXiv: 1207.7214 [hep-ex] (cit. on pp. 6, 70).
- S. Chatrchyan *et al.*, "Observation of a New Boson at a Mass of 125 GeV with the CMS Experiment at the LHC", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 716, pp. 30–61, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j. physletb.2012.08.021. arXiv: 1207.7235 [hep-ex] (cit. on pp. 6, 70).
- [6] G. Heinrich, "Collider Physics at the Precision Frontier", *Phys. Rept.*, vol. 922, pp. 1–69, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.physrep.2021.03.006. arXiv: 2009.00516 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 6, 13, 60, 70, 81).
- M. E. Peskin and D. V. Schroeder, An Introduction to quantum field theory. Reading, USA: Addison-Wesley, 1995, ISBN: 978-0-201-50397-5 (cit. on p. 8).
- [8] S. Weinberg, *The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations.* Cambridge University Press, Jun. 2005, ISBN: 978-0-521-67053-1, 978-0-511-25204-4 (cit. on p. 8).
- M. Srednicki, *Quantum field theory*. Cambridge University Press, Jan. 2007, ISBN: 978-0-521-86449-7, 978-0-511-26720-8 (cit. on p. 8).
- [10] M. D. Schwartz, Quantum Field Theory and the Standard Model. Cambridge University Press, Mar. 2014, ISBN: 978-1-107-03473-0, 978-1-107-03473-0 (cit. on p. 8).
- [11] R. K. Ellis, W. J. Stirling, and B. R. Webber, *QCD and collider physics*. Cambridge University Press, Feb. 2011, vol. 8, ISBN: 978-0-511-82328-2, 978-0-521-54589-1. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511628788 (cit. on p. 9).
- [12] J. Campbell, J. Huston, and F. Krauss, *The Black Book of Quantum Chromodynamics:* A Primer for the LHC Era. Oxford University Press, Dec. 2017, ISBN: 978-0-19-965274-7 (cit. on p. 9).
- G. 't Hooft and M. J. G. Veltman, "Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 44, pp. 189–213, 1972. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(72)90279-9 (cit. on p. 11).

- [14] G. M. Cicuta and E. Montaldi, "Analytic renormalization via continuous space dimension", Lett. Nuovo Cim., vol. 4, pp. 329–332, 1972. DOI: 10.1007/BF02756527 (cit. on p. 11).
- C. G. Bollini and J. J. Giambiagi, "Dimensional Renormalization: The Number of Dimensions as a Regularizing Parameter", *Nuovo Cim. B*, vol. 12, pp. 20–26, 1972. DOI: 10.1007/BF02895558 (cit. on p. 11).
- D. J. Gross and F. Wilczek, "Ultraviolet Behavior of Nonabelian Gauge Theories", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 30, J. C. Taylor, Ed., pp. 1343–1346, 1973. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 30.1343 (cit. on p. 11).
- [17] D. J. Gross and F. Wilczek, "Asymptotically Free Gauge Theories I", Phys. Rev. D, vol. 8, pp. 3633–3652, 1973. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.8.3633 (cit. on p. 11).
- [18] D. J. Gross and F. Wilczek, "ASYMPTOTICALLY FREE GAUGE THEORIES. 2.", *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 9, pp. 980–993, 1974. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.9.980 (cit. on p. 11).
- H. D. Politzer, "Reliable Perturbative Results for Strong Interactions?", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 30, J. C. Taylor, Ed., pp. 1346–1349, 1973. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.30.1346 (cit. on p. 11).
- [20] H. D. Politzer, "Asymptotic Freedom: An Approach to Strong Interactions", *Phys. Rept.*, vol. 14, pp. 129–180, 1974. DOI: 10.1016/0370-1573(74)90014-3 (cit. on p. 11).
- [21] J. C. Collins, D. E. Soper, and G. F. Sterman, "Factorization of Hard Processes in QCD", Adv. Ser. Direct. High Energy Phys., vol. 5, pp. 1–91, 1989. DOI: 10.1142/ 9789814503266_0001. arXiv: hep-ph/0409313 (cit. on p. 11).
- [22] Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, and D. A. Kosower, "On-Shell Methods in Perturbative QCD", *Annals Phys.*, vol. 322, pp. 1587–1634, 2007. DOI: 10.1016/j.aop.2007.04.014. arXiv: 0704.2798 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 12).
- [23] R. K. Ellis, Z. Kunszt, K. Melnikov, and G. Zanderighi, "One-loop calculations in quantum field theory: from Feynman diagrams to unitarity cuts", *Phys. Rept.*, vol. 518, pp. 141–250, 2012. DOI: 10.1016/j.physrep.2012.01.008. arXiv: 1105.4319 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 12).
- [24] V. A. Smirnov, Analytic tools for Feynman integrals. 2012, vol. 250. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-34886-0 (cit. on p. 13).
- [25] S. Weinzierl, "Feynman Integrals", Jan. 2022. arXiv: 2201.03593 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 13).
- [26] K. G. Chetyrkin and F. V. Tkachov, "Integration by Parts: The Algorithm to Calculate beta Functions in 4 Loops", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 192, pp. 159–204, 1981. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(81)90199-1 (cit. on pp. 14, 42, 70, 81).
- S. Laporta, "High precision calculation of multiloop Feynman integrals by difference equations", Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, vol. 15, pp. 5087–5159, 2000. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X00002159. arXiv: hep-ph/0102033 (cit. on pp. 15, 42).
- [28] A. V. Smirnov and F. S. Chuharev, "FIRE6: Feynman Integral REduction with Modular Arithmetic", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 247, p. 106877, 2020. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc. 2019.106877. arXiv: 1901.07808 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 15, 39, 44, 54, 61, 72).
- [29] J. Klappert, F. Lange, P. Maierhöfer, and J. Usovitsch, "Integral reduction with Kira 2.0 and finite field methods", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 266, p. 108024, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2021.108024. arXiv: 2008.06494 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 15, 39, 44, 61, 85).

- [30] A. Georgoudis, K. J. Larsen, and Y. Zhang, "Azurite: An algebraic geometry based package for finding bases of loop integrals", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 221, pp. 203– 215, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2017.08.013. arXiv: 1612.04252 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 15, 85).
- [31] A. von Manteuffel and C. Studerus, "Reduze 2 Distributed Feynman Integral Reduction", Jan. 2012. arXiv: 1201.4330 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 15).
- [32] H. Cheng and T. T. Wu, EXPANDING PROTONS: SCATTERING AT HIGH-ENERGIES. 1987 (cit. on p. 16).
- J. Bosma, K. J. Larsen, and Y. Zhang, "Differential equations for loop integrals in Baikov representation", *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 97, no. 10, p. 105014, 2018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD. 97.105014. arXiv: 1712.03760 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 16).
- [34] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential equations method: New technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 254, pp. 158–164, 1991. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(91)90413-K (cit. on pp. 20, 70).
- [35] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential equations method: The Calculation of vertex type Feynman diagrams", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 259, pp. 314–322, 1991. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(91) 90834-D (cit. on pp. 20, 70).
- [36] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential equation method: The Calculation of N point Feynman diagrams", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 267, pp. 123–127, 1991, [Erratum: Phys.Lett.B 295, 409–409 (1992)]. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(91)90536-Y (cit. on pp. 20, 70).
- [37] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, "Differential equations for two loop four point functions", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 580, pp. 485–518, 2000. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(00)00223-6. arXiv: hep-ph/9912329 (cit. on pp. 20, 70).
- [38] C. G. Papadopoulos, "Simplified differential equations approach for Master Integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 07, p. 088, 2014. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2014)088. arXiv: 1401.6057 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 20, 24, 42, 43, 53, 54, 56, 59, 61, 71–73, 79, 82, 84).
- [39] M. Argeri and P. Mastrolia, "Feynman Diagrams and Differential Equations", Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, vol. 22, pp. 4375–4436, 2007. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X07037147. arXiv: 0707.4037 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 20).
- [40] J. M. Henn, "Lectures on differential equations for Feynman integrals", J. Phys. A, vol. 48, p. 153 001, 2015. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/48/15/153001. arXiv: 1412.2296
 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 20, 53, 55, 70, 81, 85).
- [41] R. N. Lee, "Modern techniques of multiloop calculations", in 49th Rencontres de Moriond on QCD and High Energy Interactions, 2014, pp. 297–300. arXiv: 1405.5616 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 20).
- [42] J. M. Henn, "Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 110, p. 251601, 2013. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.251601. arXiv: 1304.1806 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 20, 21, 38, 42, 53, 56, 59, 70, 81).
- [43] N. Arkani-Hamed, J. L. Bourjaily, F. Cachazo, and J. Trnka, "Local Integrals for Planar Scattering Amplitudes", *JHEP*, vol. 06, p. 125, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2012)125. arXiv: 1012.6032 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 21, 42).
- [44] A. B. Goncharov, "Multiple polylogarithms, cyclotomy and modular complexes", *Math. Res. Lett.*, vol. 5, pp. 497–516, 1998. DOI: 10.4310/MRL.1998.v5.n4.a7. arXiv: 1105.2076 [math.AG] (cit. on pp. 22, 53, 59, 71, 81).

- [45] C. Duhr, H. Gangl, and J. R. Rhodes, "From polygons and symbols to polylogarithmic functions", *JHEP*, vol. 10, p. 075, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2012)075. arXiv: 1110.0458 [math-ph] (cit. on pp. 22, 56, 71, 81).
- [46] C. Duhr, "Hopf algebras, coproducts and symbols: an application to Higgs boson amplitudes", *JHEP*, vol. 08, p. 043, 2012. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2012)043. arXiv: 1203.0454 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 22, 56, 71, 81).
- [47] C. Duhr, "Mathematical aspects of scattering amplitudes", in *Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Journeys Through the Precision Frontier: Amplitudes for Colliders*, 2015, pp. 419–476. DOI: 10.1142/9789814678766_0010. arXiv: 1411.7538 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 22, 56, 71, 81).
- [48] M. Beneke and V. A. Smirnov, "Asymptotic expansion of Feynman integrals near threshold", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 522, pp. 321–344, 1998. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(98)00138-2. arXiv: hep-ph/9711391 (cit. on p. 26).
- [49] V. A. Smirnov, "Problems of the strategy of regions", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 465, pp. 226–234, 1999. DOI: 10.1016/S0370-2693(99)01061-8. arXiv: hep-ph/9907471 (cit. on p. 26).
- [50] V. A. Smirnov, "Applied asymptotic expansions in momenta and masses", Springer Tracts Mod. Phys., vol. 177, pp. 1–262, 2002 (cit. on p. 26).
- [51] B. Jantzen, A. V. Smirnov, and V. A. Smirnov, "Expansion by regions: revealing potential and Glauber regions automatically", *Eur. Phys. J. C*, vol. 72, p. 2139, 2012. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-012-2139-2. arXiv: 1206.0546 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 26, 27, 45, 57, 76, 77, 86).
- [52] A. Pak and A. Smirnov, "Geometric approach to asymptotic expansion of Feynman integrals", *Eur. Phys. J. C*, vol. 71, p. 1626, 2011. DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-011-1626-1. arXiv: 1011.4863 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 27).
- [53] G. Heinrich, S. Jahn, S. P. Jones, M. Kerner, F. Langer, V. Magerya, A. Pöldaru, J. Schlenk, and E. Villa, "Expansion by regions with pySecDec", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 273, p. 108267, 2022. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2021.108267. arXiv: 2108.10807 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 27).
- [54] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, "Two loop master integrals for gamma* —> 3 jets: The Planar topologies", Nucl. Phys. B, vol. 601, pp. 248–286, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00057-8. arXiv: hep-ph/0008287 (cit. on pp. 31, 42).
- [55] T. Huber and D. Maitre, "HypExp: A Mathematica package for expanding hypergeometric functions around integer-valued parameters", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 175, pp. 122–144, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2006.01.007. arXiv: hep-ph/0507094 (cit. on pp. 37, 65, 76).
- [56] T. Huber and D. Maitre, "HypExp 2, Expanding Hypergeometric Functions about Half-Integer Parameters", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 178, pp. 755–776, 2008. DOI: 10. 1016/j.cpc.2007.12.008. arXiv: 0708.2443 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 37, 53, 58, 65, 76, 87).
- [57] S. Borowka, G. Heinrich, S. Jahn, S. P. Jones, M. Kerner, J. Schlenk, and T. Zirke, "pySecDec: a toolbox for the numerical evaluation of multi-scale integrals", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 222, pp. 313–326, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2017.09.015. arXiv: 1703.09692 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 40, 51, 59, 92).
- [58] A. V. Smirnov, "FIESTA4: Optimized Feynman integral calculations with GPU support", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 204, pp. 189–199, 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2016.03.
 013. arXiv: 1511.03614 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 40, 45, 51, 57, 65, 68, 76, 77, 86).

- [59] S. Di Vita, P. Mastrolia, U. Schubert, and V. Yundin, "Three-loop master integrals for ladder-box diagrams with one massive leg", *JHEP*, vol. 09, p. 148, 2014. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP09(2014)148. arXiv: 1408.3107 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 40, 42, 44).
- [60] D. D. Canko and N. Syrrakos, "Resummation methods for Master Integrals", JHEP, vol. 02, p. 080, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2021)080. arXiv: 2010.06947 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 42, 45, 47, 54, 56, 59, 75, 82, 84–86, 90, 91).
- [61] D. D. Canko and N. Syrrakos, "Planar three-loop master integrals for $2 \rightarrow 2$ processes with one external massive particle", Dec. 2021. arXiv: 2112.14275 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 42).
- [62] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, "Two loop master integrals for gamma* -> 3 jets: The Nonplanar topologies", Nucl. Phys. B, vol. 601, pp. 287–317, 2001. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(01)00074-8. arXiv: hep-ph/0101124 (cit. on p. 42).
- [63] M. Argeri, S. Di Vita, P. Mastrolia, E. Mirabella, J. Schlenk, U. Schubert, and L. Tancredi, "Magnus and Dyson Series for Master Integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 03, p. 082, 2014. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2014)082. arXiv: 1401.2979 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 42).
- [64] C. Bogner and S. Weinzierl, "Feynman graph polynomials", Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, vol. 25, pp. 2585–2618, 2010. DOI: 10.1142/S0217751X10049438. arXiv: 1002.3458 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 43).
- [65] E. Panzer, "Algorithms for the symbolic integration of hyperlogarithms with applications to Feynman integrals", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 188, pp. 148–166, 2015. DOI: 10. 1016/j.cpc.2014.10.019. arXiv: 1403.3385 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 44, 50, 69).
- [66] C. Duhr and F. Dulat, "PolyLogTools polylogs for the masses", *JHEP*, vol. 08, p. 135, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2019)135. arXiv: 1904.07279 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 44, 50, 59, 69, 71, 79, 91, 92).
- [67] F. Dulat and B. Mistlberger, "Real-Virtual-Virtual contributions to the inclusive Higgs cross section at N3LO", Nov. 2014. arXiv: 1411.3586 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 45, 57).
- [68] P. Mastrolia, M. Passera, A. Primo, and U. Schubert, "Master integrals for the NNLO virtual corrections to μe scattering in QED: the planar graphs", JHEP, vol. 11, p. 198, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2017)198. arXiv: 1709.07435 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 45, 57).
- [69] J. M. Henn, A. V. Smirnov, and V. A. Smirnov, "Analytic results for planar three-loop four-point integrals from a Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov equation", *JHEP*, vol. 07, p. 128, 2013. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP07(2013)128. arXiv: 1306.2799 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 46, 52).
- [70] C. G. Papadopoulos and C. Wever, "Internal Reduction method for computing Feynman Integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 02, p. 112, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2020)112. arXiv: 1910.
 06275 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 47, 68, 69, 71, 79, 82, 95).
- J. Vollinga and S. Weinzierl, "Numerical evaluation of multiple polylogarithms", Comput. Phys. Commun., vol. 167, p. 177, 2005. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2004.12.009. arXiv: hep-ph/0410259 (cit. on pp. 50, 59, 66, 71, 79, 92).
- [72] N. Syrrakos, "Pentagon integrals to arbitrary order in the dimensional regulator", JHEP, vol. 06, p. 037, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2021)037. arXiv: 2012.10635 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 53, 71, 82, 86–88, 90, 91, 95).
- Z. Bern, L. J. Dixon, and D. A. Kosower, "Dimensionally regulated pentagon integrals", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 412, pp. 751–816, 1994. DOI: 10.1016/0550-3213(94)90398-0. arXiv: hep-ph/9306240 (cit. on p. 53).

- [74] V. Del Duca, C. Duhr, E. W. Nigel Glover, and V. A. Smirnov, "The One-loop pentagon to higher orders in epsilon", *JHEP*, vol. 01, p. 042, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2010) 042. arXiv: 0905.0097 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 53).
- B. A. Kniehl and O. V. Tarasov, "Analytic result for the one-loop scalar pentagon integral with massless propagators", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 833, pp. 298–319, 2010. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2010.03.006. arXiv: 1001.3848 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 53).
- [76] M. G. Kozlov and R. N. Lee, "One-loop pentagon integral in d dimensions from differential equations in ε-form", JHEP, vol. 02, p. 021, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2016)021. arXiv: 1512.01165 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 53).
- [77] M. G. Kozlov, "One-loop pentagon integral with one off-shell leg in 6-2ε dimensions", *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 95, no. 3, p. 036008, 2017. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.95.036008. arXiv: 1612.03565 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 53).
- T. Gehrmann, J. M. Henn, and N. A. Lo Presti, "Pentagon functions for massless planar scattering amplitudes", *JHEP*, vol. 10, p. 103, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2018)103. arXiv: 1807.09812 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 53, 68, 71, 77, 82).
- [79] D. Chicherin and V. Sotnikov, "Pentagon Functions for Scattering of Five Massless Particles", *JHEP*, vol. 20, p. 167, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP12(2020)167. arXiv: 2009. 07803 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 53, 68, 71, 79, 82).
- [80] S. Abreu, H. Ita, F. Moriello, B. Page, W. Tschernow, and M. Zeng, "Two-Loop Integrals for Planar Five-Point One-Mass Processes", *JHEP*, vol. 11, p. 117, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2020)117. arXiv: 2005.04195 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 53–55, 59, 61, 62, 67, 68, 71, 72, 79, 80, 82, 85, 95).
- [81] C. G. Papadopoulos, D. Tommasini, and C. Wever, "The Pentabox Master Integrals with the Simplified Differential Equations approach", *JHEP*, vol. 04, p. 078, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP04(2016)078. arXiv: 1511.09404 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 54, 56, 60, 67, 69, 82).
- [82] D. D. Canko, C. G. Papadopoulos, and N. Syrrakos, "Analytic representation of all planar two-loop five-point Master Integrals with one off-shell leg", *JHEP*, vol. 01, p. 199, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2021)199. arXiv: 2009.13917 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 54, 56, 60, 61, 71–75, 79, 82, 84, 86, 90, 95).
- [83] H. B. Hartanto, S. Badger, C. Brønnum-Hansen, and T. Peraro, "A numerical evaluation of planar two-loop helicity amplitudes for a W-boson plus four partons", *JHEP*, vol. 09, p. 119, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2019)119. arXiv: 1906.11862 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 54, 69).
- [84] S. Badger, H. B. Hartanto, and S. Zoia, "Two-Loop QCD Corrections to Wbb⁻ Production at Hadron Colliders", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 127, no. 1, p. 012001, 2021. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.012001. arXiv: 2102.02516 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 54, 71, 82, 95).
- [85] S. Abreu, B. Page, and M. Zeng, "Differential equations from unitarity cuts: nonplanar hexa-box integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 01, p. 006, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2019)006. arXiv: 1807.11522 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 54, 59, 82, 85).
- [86] P. A. Baikov, "Explicit solutions of the multiloop integral recurrence relations and its application", Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A, vol. 389, M. Werlen and D. Perret-Gallix, Eds., pp. 347–349, 1997. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-9002(97)00126-5. arXiv: hep-ph/9611449 (cit. on p. 54).

- [87] P. A. Baikov, "Explicit solutions of the three loop vacuum integral recurrence relations", *Phys. Lett. B*, vol. 385, pp. 404–410, 1996. DOI: 10.1016/0370-2693(96)00835-0. arXiv: hep-ph/9603267 (cit. on p. 54).
- [88] H. Frellesvig and C. G. Papadopoulos, "Cuts of Feynman Integrals in Baikov representation", *JHEP*, vol. 04, p. 083, 2017. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP04(2017)083. arXiv: 1701.07356
 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 55).
- [89] J. Vollinga, "GiNaC: Symbolic computation with C++", Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A, vol. 559,
 J. Blumlein, W. Friebel, T. Naumann, T. Riemann, P. Wegner, and D. Perret-Gallix,
 Eds., pp. 282–284, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.nima.2005.11.155. arXiv: hep-ph/0510057
 (cit. on pp. 59, 79).
- [90] S. Amoroso et al., "Les Houches 2019: Physics at TeV Colliders: Standard Model Working Group Report", in 11th Les Houches Workshop on Physics at TeV Colliders: PhysTeV Les Houches, Mar. 2020. arXiv: 2003.01700 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 60, 70, 81).
- [91] G. Heinrich, "QCD calculations for the LHC: status and prospects", in 5th Large Hadron Collider Physics Conference, Oct. 2017. arXiv: 1710.04998 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 60).
- [92] P. Azzi et al., "Report from Working Group 1: Standard Model Physics at the HL-LHC and HE-LHC", CERN Yellow Rep. Monogr., vol. 7, A. Dainese, M. Mangano, A. B. Meyer, A. Nisati, G. Salam, and M. A. Vesterinen, Eds., pp. 1–220, 2019. DOI: 10.23731/CYRM-2019-007.1. arXiv: 1902.04070 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 60).
- [93] D. Chicherin, T. Gehrmann, J. M. Henn, P. Wasser, Y. Zhang, and S. Zoia, "All Master Integrals for Three-Jet Production at Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 123, no. 4, p. 041603, 2019. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.041603. arXiv: 1812.11160 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 60, 82).
- [94] P. Maierhöfer, J. Usovitsch, and P. Uwer, "Kira—A Feynman integral reduction program", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 230, pp. 99–112, 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc. 2018.04.012. arXiv: 1705.05610 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 61).
- [95] C. G. Papadopoulos, D. Tommasini, and C. Wever, "Two-loop Master Integrals with the Simplified Differential Equations approach", *JHEP*, vol. 01, p. 072, 2015. DOI: 10.1007/ JHEP01(2015)072. arXiv: 1409.6114 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 63, 65, 67, 72, 74).
- [96] M. Czakon, "Automatized analytic continuation of Mellin-Barnes integrals", Comput. Phys. Commun., vol. 175, pp. 559–571, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2006.07.002. arXiv: hep-ph/0511200 (cit. on pp. 65, 76).
- [97] https://mbtools.hepforge.org (cit. on pp. 65, 76).
- [98] M. Ochman and T. Riemann, "MBsums a Mathematica package for the representation of Mellin-Barnes integrals by multiple sums", *Acta Phys. Polon. B*, vol. 46, no. 11, p. 2117, 2015. DOI: 10.5506/APhysPolB.46.2117. arXiv: 1511.01323 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 65, 76).
- S. Moch and P. Uwer, "XSummer: Transcendental functions and symbolic summation in form", Comput. Phys. Commun., vol. 174, pp. 759–770, 2006. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc. 2005.12.014. arXiv: math-ph/0508008 (cit. on pp. 65, 76).
- J. M. Henn, K. Melnikov, and V. A. Smirnov, "Two-loop planar master integrals for the production of off-shell vector bosons in hadron collisions", *JHEP*, vol. 05, p. 090, 2014. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2014)090. arXiv: 1402.7078 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 65).
- T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, "Analytic continuation of massless two loop four point functions", *Nucl. Phys. B*, vol. 640, pp. 379–411, 2002. DOI: 10.1016/S0550-3213(02) 00569-2. arXiv: hep-ph/0207020 (cit. on p. 67).

- [102] S. Abreu, J. Dormans, F. Febres Cordero, H. Ita, M. Kraus, B. Page, E. Pascual, M. S. Ruf, and V. Sotnikov, "Caravel: A C++ framework for the computation of multi-loop amplitudes with numerical unitarity", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 267, p. 108069, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2021.108069. arXiv: 2009.11957 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 68, 69).
- [103] S. Abreu, F. Febres Cordero, H. Ita, B. Page, and V. Sotnikov, "Planar Two-Loop Five-Parton Amplitudes from Numerical Unitarity", *JHEP*, vol. 11, p. 116, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2018)116. arXiv: 1809.09067 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 69).
- [104] A. Kardos, C. G. Papadopoulos, A. V. Smirnov, N. Syrrakos, and C. Wever, "Two-loop non-planar hexa-box integrals with one massive leg", Jan. 2022. arXiv: 2201.07509 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 70).
- [105] T. Gehrmann and B. Malaescu, "Precision QCD Physics at the LHC", Nov. 2021. arXiv: 2111.02319 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 70).
- [106] L. Tancredi, "Calculational Techniques in Particle Theory", in European Physical Society Conference on High Energy Physics 2021, Oct. 2021. arXiv: 2111.00205 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 70).
- [107] K.-T. Chen, "Iterated path integrals", Bull. Am. Math. Soc., vol. 83, pp. 831–879, 1977.
 DOI: 10.1090/S0002-9904-1977-14320-6 (cit. on p. 71).
- [108] L. Naterop, A. Signer, and Y. Ulrich, "handyG —Rapid numerical evaluation of generalised polylogarithms in Fortran", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 253, p. 107165, 2020.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2020.107165. arXiv: 1909.01656 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 71, 92).
- [109] S. Abreu, H. Ita, B. Page, and W. Tschernow, "Two-Loop Hexa-Box Integrals for Non-Planar Five-Point One-Mass Processes", Jul. 2021. arXiv: 2107.14180 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 71–73, 79, 80, 82, 95).
- [110] F. Moriello, "Generalised power series expansions for the elliptic planar families of Higgs + jet production at two loops", *JHEP*, vol. 01, p. 150, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2020) 150. arXiv: 1907.13234 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 71, 82).
- M. Hidding, "DiffExp, a Mathematica package for computing Feynman integrals in terms of one-dimensional series expansions", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 269, p. 108125, 2021. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2021.108125. arXiv: 2006.05510 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 71, 82).
- [112] D. Chicherin, V. Sotnikov, and S. Zoia, "Pentagon Functions for One-Mass Planar Scattering Amplitudes", Oct. 2021. arXiv: 2110.10111 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 71, 79).
- [113] S. Badger, H. B. Hartanto, J. Kryś, and S. Zoia, "Two-loop leading-colour QCD helicity amplitudes for Higgs boson production in association with a bottom-quark pair at the LHC", JHEP, vol. 11, p. 012, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2021)012. arXiv: 2107.14733 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 71).
- [114] S. Abreu, F. F. Cordero, H. Ita, M. Klinkert, B. Page, and V. Sotnikov, "Leading-Color Two-Loop Amplitudes for Four Partons and a W Boson in QCD", Oct. 2021. arXiv: 2110.07541 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 71).
- [115] D. Binosi, J. Collins, C. Kaufhold, and L. Theussl, "JaxoDraw: A Graphical user interface for drawing Feynman diagrams. Version 2.0 release notes", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 180, pp. 1709–1715, 2009. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2009.02.020. arXiv: 0811.4113
 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 71).
- [116] M. Heller, A. von Manteuffel, and R. M. Schabinger, "Multiple polylogarithms with algebraic arguments and the two-loop EW-QCD Drell-Yan master integrals", *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 102, no. 1, p. 016025, 2020. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.102.016025. arXiv: 1907.00491 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 75, 86, 96).
- [117] M. Heller, "Planar two-loop integrals for μe scattering in QED with finite lepton masses", May 2021. arXiv: 2105.08046 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 75).
- J. Gluza, K. Kajda, T. Riemann, and V. Yundin, "Numerical Evaluation of Tensor Feynman Integrals in Euclidean Kinematics", *Eur. Phys. J. C*, vol. 71, p. 1516, 2011.
 DOI: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-010-1516-y. arXiv: 1010.1667 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 77).
- [119] S. C. Borowka, "Evaluation of multi-loop multi-scale integrals and phenomenological two-loop applications", PhD thesis, Munich, Tech. U., 2014. arXiv: 1410.7939 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 77).
- [120] S. Caron-Huot and J. M. Henn, "Iterative structure of finite loop integrals", JHEP, vol. 06, p. 114, 2014. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP06(2014)114. arXiv: 1404.2922 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 77).
- [121] H. Frellesvig, D. Tommasini, and C. Wever, "On the reduction of generalized polylogarithms to Li_n and $\text{Li}_{2,2}$ and on the evaluation thereof", *JHEP*, vol. 03, p. 189, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2016)189. arXiv: 1601.02649 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 79).
- [122] N. Syrrakos, "One-loop Feynman integrals for 2 → 3 scattering involving many scales including internal masses", JHEP, vol. 10, p. 041, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP10(2021)041. arXiv: 2107.02106 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 81).
- [123] A. V. Kotikov, "Differential Equations and Feynman Integrals", in Antidifferentiation and the Calculation of Feynman Amplitudes, Feb. 2021. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-80219-6_10. arXiv: 2102.07424 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 81).
- E. Remiddi and L. Tancredi, "An Elliptic Generalization of Multiple Polylogarithms", Nucl. Phys. B, vol. 925, pp. 212–251, 2017. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2017.10.007. arXiv: 1709.03622 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 81).
- [125] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, and L. Tancredi, "Elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals on elliptic curves. Part I: general formalism", *JHEP*, vol. 05, p. 093, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2018)093. arXiv: 1712.07089 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 81).
- [126] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, and L. Tancredi, "Elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals on elliptic curves II: an application to the sunrise integral", *Phys. Rev. D*, vol. 97, no. 11, p. 116 009, 2018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.97.116009. arXiv: 1712.07095 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 81).
- J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante, and L. Tancredi, "Elliptic symbol calculus: from elliptic polylogarithms to iterated integrals of Eisenstein series", *JHEP*, vol. 08, p. 014, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP08(2018)014. arXiv: 1803.10256 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 81).
- [128] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante, and L. Tancredi, "Elliptic Feynman integrals and pure functions", JHEP, vol. 01, p. 023, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP01(2019)023. arXiv: 1809.10698 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 81).
- J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, B. Penante, and L. Tancredi, "Elliptic polylogarithms and Feynman parameter integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 05, p. 120, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2019)
 120. arXiv: 1902.09971 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 81).

- [130] C. Duhr and L. Tancredi, "Algorithms and tools for iterated Eisenstein integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 02, p. 105, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP02(2020)105. arXiv: 1912.00077 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 81).
- T. Gehrmann, J. M. Henn, and N. A. Lo Presti, "Analytic form of the two-loop planar five-gluon all-plus-helicity amplitude in QCD", *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 116, no. 6, p. 062 001, 2016, [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 116, 189903 (2016)]. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 116.062001. arXiv: 1511.05409 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 82).
- [132] D. Chicherin, J. Henn, and V. Mitev, "Bootstrapping pentagon functions", *JHEP*, vol. 05, p. 164, 2018. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP05(2018)164. arXiv: 1712.09610 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 82).
- [133] D. Chicherin, T. Gehrmann, J. M. Henn, N. A. Lo Presti, V. Mitev, and P. Wasser, "Analytic result for the nonplanar hexa-box integrals", *JHEP*, vol. 03, p. 042, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP03(2019)042. arXiv: 1809.06240 [hep-ph] (cit. on p. 82).
- M. Besier, D. Van Straten, and S. Weinzierl, "Rationalizing roots: an algorithmic approach", *Commun. Num. Theor. Phys.*, vol. 13, pp. 253-297, 2019. DOI: 10.4310/CNTP. 2019.v13.n2.a1. arXiv: 1809.10983 [hep-th] (cit. on pp. 86, 96).
- M. Besier, P. Wasser, and S. Weinzierl, "RationalizeRoots: Software Package for the Rationalization of Square Roots", *Comput. Phys. Commun.*, vol. 253, p. 107 197, 2020.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.cpc.2020.107197. arXiv: 1910.13251 [cs.MS] (cit. on pp. 86, 96).
- [136] M. Bonetti, E. Panzer, V. A. Smirnov, and L. Tancredi, "Two-loop mixed QCD-EW corrections to $gg \rightarrow Hg$ ", *JHEP*, vol. 11, p. 045, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/JHEP11(2020)045. arXiv: 2007.09813 [hep-ph] (cit. on pp. 86, 96).
- [137] F. Brown and C. Duhr, "A double integral of dlog forms which is not polylogarithmic", Jun. 2020. arXiv: 2006.09413 [hep-th] (cit. on p. 96).